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EXPLANATORY NOTE
Currency and Exchange Rate Information
Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Annual Report to “$” or “dollars” are expressed in U.S. dollars (US$). References in this Annual
Report to Canadian dollars are noted as “C$.”
Our consolidated financial statements that are included in this Annual Report are presented in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise stated, all figures
presented in Canadian dollars and translated into U.S. dollars were calculated using the daily average exchange rate as reported by the H.10 statistical
release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System on January 29, 2020 of C$1.3201 = US$1.00.
Market and Industry Data
Certain market and industry data contained in this Annual Report, including Item 1. “Business” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” are based upon information from government or other third-party publications, reports and
websites or based on estimates derived from such publications, reports and websites. Government and other third-party publications, reports and
websites do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of their information. While management believes this data to be reliable, market and industry
data are subject to variations and cannot be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary
nature of the data-gathering process, and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements contained in this Annual Report are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of “safe harbor” provisions of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and “forwardlooking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. All statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this
Annual Report, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and
objectives of management are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “estimate,”
“intend,” “plan,” “project,” “outlook,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “can,” the negatives thereof, variations thereon and other similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words. In
particular and without limitation, this Annual Report contains forward-looking information pertaining to the effect of our strategic priorities on
increasing value creation; the availability of additional or substitute manufacturing space and the Company’s expectations regarding the building of a
new combined tile and millwork facility in Rock Hill, South Carolina; the effect that complying with applicable law and regulations, current claims
against the Company and expiring patents will have on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operation; and the effect the rating
systems established by the U.S. Green Building Council will have on demand for products, systems and services in the U.S. market. Forward-looking
statements are based on certain estimates, beliefs, expectations and assumptions made in light of management’s experience and perception of historical
trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that may be appropriate.
Forward-looking statements necessarily involve unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially
from those expressed or implied in such statements. Due to the risks, uncertainties and assumptions inherent in forward-looking information, you should
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects can be found in Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:
•

competition in the interior construction industry;

•

global economic, political and social conditions and financial markets;

•

our reliance on our network of Distribution Partners (as defined herein) for sales, marketing and installation of our solutions;

•

our ability to maintain and manage growth effectively;

•

our ability to implement our strategic plan;

•

our ability to introduce new designs, solutions and technology and gain client and market acceptance;

•

our periodic fluctuations in results of operations and financial conditions;

•

loss of our key executives and difficulties in recruiting or retaining key employees;

•

labor shortages and disruptions in our manufacturing facilities;

•

product liability, product defects and warranty claims brought against us;

•

claims arising from the conduct of general contractors and their sub-contractors;

•

defects in our designing and manufacturing software;

•

our former co-founders’ competitive behavior against us;

•

infringement on our patents and other intellectual property;

•

cyber-attacks and other security breaches of our information and technology systems;
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•

damage to our information technology and software systems;

•

material fluctuations of commodity prices, including raw materials;

•

shortages of supplies of certain key components and materials or disruption in supplies due to global events;

•

our ability to achieve requisite capacity from our existing manufacturing facilities;

•

our requirements to comply with applicable environmental, health and safety laws;

•

our exposure to currency exchange rates, tax rates and other fluctuations, including those resulting from changes in laws;

•

legal and regulatory proceedings brought against us;

•

our exposure to increased counterparty credit risk, including from Distribution Partners and clients;

•

the availability of capital or financing on acceptable terms, which may impair our ability to make investments in the business;

•

our requirements to comply with the agreements that govern our indebtedness;

•

our ability to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and sustain profitability;

•

our ability to maintain adequate insurance to protect us from claims that may arise in connection with our business and operations;

•

future mergers and acquisitions we may engage in;

•

volatility of our share price;

•

our requirements to maintain a dual listing in the United States and Canada;

•

the effect of reduced disclosure requirements on our common shares;

•

our history of not paying dividends;

•

the effect of being governed by the corporate laws of a foreign country, including the difficulty of enforcing civil liabilities against
directors and officers residing in a foreign country;

•

the effect of analyst reports on our common shares;

•

our potential treatment as a “passive foreign investment company”;

•

the potential that our common shares could be delisted from the Nasdaq or TSX; and

•

other factors and risks described under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. of this Annual Report.

These risks are not exhaustive. Because of these risks and other uncertainties, our actual results, performance or achievement, or industry results,
may be materially different from the anticipated or estimated results discussed in the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report. New risk factors
emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors nor can we assess the effects of all factors on our business
or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in, or implied by, any
forward-looking statements. Our past results of operations are not necessarily indicative of our future results. You should not rely on any forwardlooking statements, which represent our beliefs, assumptions and estimates only as of the dates on which they were made, as predictions of future
events. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even though circumstances may change in the future, except as required
under applicable securities laws. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business.

Overview
DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. is an innovative manufacturing company featuring a proprietary software and virtual reality visualization platform,
coupled with vertically integrated manufacturing that designs, configures and manufactures prefabricated interior solutions used primarily in commercial spaces
across a wide range of industries and businesses. We combine innovative product design with our industry-leading, proprietary ICE® Software (“ICE” or “ICE
Software”), and technology-driven, lean manufacturing practices and sustainable materials to provide end-to-end solutions for the traditionally inefficient and
fragmented interior construction industry. We create customized interiors with the aesthetics of conventional construction but with greater schedule and cost
certainty, shorter lead times, greater future flexibility, and better environmental sustainability than conventional construction.
Our ICE Software allows us to sell, design, visualize (including 3D virtual reality modeling of interiors), configure, price, communicate, engineer,
specify, order and manage projects, thereby reducing challenges associated with traditional construction, including cost overruns, change orders, inconsistent
quality, delays and material waste. While other software programs and virtual reality tools are used in the architectural and construction industries, we believe
our ICE Software is the only interior construction technology that provides end-to-end integration and management, from design through engineering,
manufacturing and installation. Our interior construction solutions include prefabricated, customized interior modular walls, ceilings, and floors; decorative and
functional millwork; power infrastructure; network infrastructure; and pre-installed medical gas piping systems. We strive to incorporate environmentally
sustainable materials and reusable components into our solutions while creating flexible, functional and well-designed environments for the people who will use
them.
We offer our interior construction solutions throughout the United States and Canada, as well as in select international markets, through a network of
independent distribution partners (“Distribution Partners”) and an internal sales team. Our Distribution Partners use ICE to work with end users to envision and
design their spaces, and orders are electronically routed through ICE to our manufacturing facilities for production, packing and shipping. Our Distribution
Partners then coordinate the receipt and installations of our interior solutions at the end users’ locations.
Our name “DIRTT” stands for Doing It Right This Time. DIRTT was incorporated in Alberta, Canada, under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta)
(“ABCA”) on March 4, 2003. Our headquarters are located at 7303 30th Street S.E., Calgary, Alberta, T2C 1N6, Canada, and our telephone number at that
address is (403) 723-5000. Our manufacturing facilities are in Calgary, Alberta; Phoenix, Arizona; and Savannah, Georgia; with an additional facility under
construction in Rock Hill, South Carolina.
We completed our initial public offering in Canada in November 2013 and listed our common shares on The Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) in
October 2019. Our common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the ticker symbol “DRT” and on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol
“DRTT.”
Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “its,” “the Company” or “DIRTT” mean DIRTT
Environmental Solutions Ltd. and, where the context so requires, includes our subsidiaries.
Available Information
We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) under the Exchange Act. The SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding issuers, including DIRTT, that file electronically with the SEC. We are also subject to requirements of applicable securities laws in Canada, and
documents that we file with the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada may be found at www.sedar.com.
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We make available free of charge through our website (www.dirtt.com) our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC or the securities commissions or similar regulatory
authorities in Canada. In addition to the reports filed or furnished with the SEC and the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in
Canada, we publicly disclose information from time to time in our press releases, investor presentations posted on our website and at publicly accessible
conferences. Such information, including information posted on or connected to our website, is not a part of, or incorporated by reference in, this
Annual Report or any other document we file with or furnish to the SEC or the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada.
We will provide without charge to you, upon your request, a copy of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed
with the SEC and the applicable securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada. Requests for copies should be addressed to 7303
30th Street S.E., Calgary, Alberta, T2C 1N6, Canada, Attention: Investor Relations.
Our Solutions
We offer a wide array of interior construction solutions powered by technology that address the challenges inherent in traditional interior
designing and construction methods. Unlike traditional interior construction, including traditional prefabricated products, our solutions do not have
predetermined configurations, shapes or sizes, so clients are free to design any shape, size or configuration. Our design and visualization technologies
integrate with our manufacturing capabilities and enable short and precise manufacturing times. With a strong network of Distribution Partners, we are
able to complete an interior construction project in as few as 30 days, from visualization and completion of design to installation and move-in. Because
our solutions remain highly adaptable over time, clients are able to change and customize our solutions even after installation to maintain satisfaction
with the functionality and aesthetics of their space as their needs change.
Sustainability practices are a core part of our business, from design and manufacturing to installation and beyond. Our solutions are form-fit, so
the only waste produced at job sites is packing material, which is biodegradable, recyclable or able to be returned to DIRTT for reuse.
DIRTT Solutions
Our solutions typically encompass over 90% of an interior space. Walls, doors, cabinetry, access floor, ceilings, power solutions, data networks,
heavy timber and medical gas components are all fabricated in our manufacturing facilities and shipped to the site for final assembly and installation.
The following table provides a brief description of our primary solutions (together with related complementary offerings, “DIRTT Solutions”):
DIRTT Solution

Description

DIRTT Walls

Prefabricated, customized, modular solid or glass interior wall solutions that support new and legacy furniture, that
include glass walls, doors or windows, and that support integrated technology for commercial, healthcare, education,
hospitality and other industries and medical gas piping systems for healthcare.

DIRTT Millwork

Fully customized modular cabinetry that may be used in a variety of industries, including commercial, healthcare,
education and hospitality.
Low-profile floors that allow quick access to modular power and network infrastructure, facilitating future adaptation and
reconfiguration in both existing facilities and new buildings.

DIRTT Floors
DIRTT Ceilings

Prefabricated custom ceilings that increase sound privacy and reduce noise.
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DIRTT Solution

Description

DIRTT Power

Quick-connect, pre-tested adaptable power solutions that are prefabricated to arrive on-site in correct lengths with factory
components ready for installation and use, eliminating waste and providing future flexibility.

DIRTT Networks

Prefabricated, pre-tested and componentized passive optical networks utilizing single mode fiber cables instead of
traditional copper cables. Similar to DIRTT Power, data infrastructure components arrive on the job site pre-cut to correct
lengths and with components ready for quick-connect installation and use.

DIRTT Timber

Prefabricated timber construction for interior mezzanines, structural elements for low-rise buildings, and other
architectural elements, including completely customized cross-laminated timber and glue-laminated (glulam) timber.

Our DIRTT Power and DIRTT Networks solutions may be integrated with DIRTT Walls, and DIRTT Networks solutions may also be integrated
with DIRTT Floors and DIRTT Ceilings. DIRTT Millwork solutions may be added to DIRTT Walls for decorative and functional purposes.
Additionally, DIRTT Walls, DIRTT Floors, DIRTT Ceilings and DIRTT Timber may be integrated among each solution.
ICE® Software
Our manufacturing approach is built on a foundation of technology, the core of which is our proprietary ICE Software. We use ICE to sell, design,
visualize, configure, price, communicate, engineer, construct, specify, order and manage projects. ICE enables us to efficiently manufacture fully
custom interiors while addressing challenges associated with traditional construction, including cost overruns, inconsistent quality, delays and
significant material waste. ICE also gives our clients full control over the look, cost and timing of their interior construction projects.
Clients typically engage an architect or designer and initially design their interior space and customize their solutions components, including
material, color, finish and layout, in two-dimensional renderings. A DIRTT Distribution Partner imports this design into ICE and prices projects in real
time. Clients can easily make changes after the design is imported into ICE, which will immediately be reflected in the price quote. Once the design is
ready, clients can then explore and walk through their designed space in immersive and interactive 3D virtual reality or on-screen computer renderings
so they can more readily conceptualize the design. This is a significantly enhanced experience for our clients as compared with the experience of
reviewing a two-dimensional blueprint or CAD drawing. We currently have four virtual reality walk-through centers, including one at our corporate
headquarters, that allow clients to use virtual reality headsets to walk through a 3D virtual reality model of their design. We also integrated ICE with
augmented (mixed) reality technology, including phones and tablets, to allow project stakeholders in different physical locations to visualize, interact
and discuss their future spaces without having to visit one of our virtual reality walk-through centers.
Once the client is satisfied with the design in ICE, the specifications are transmitted to our manufacturing facilities, where the solutions are
created to the exact design standards and specifications set forth in the design. ICE manages many aspects of the manufacturing process, including
product inventory and cataloguing, price quotation, order submission, parts manufacturing, and production management, thereby facilitating the delivery
of custom solutions with shorter production times. We allocate production among our manufacturing facilities based on proximity and capacity. ICE
allows an entire project to be tracked and managed across the entire life of the project, from sales, production, delivery, and installation. The ICE file
(containing all of a project’s engineering and manufacturing data) generated during the design and specification process is preserved and can be used for
optimizing future reconfigurations, renovations, technology integration initiatives and changes to a client’s space at lower cost than traditional
construction methods.
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Our Business Strategy
Our goal is to help clients envision and design interior construction projects and then build and deliver those projects faster, cleaner, more
efficiently and with a better overall client experience and satisfaction than traditional construction methods. The modular aspect of our DIRTT Solutions
allows them to be easily reconfigured with a minimal amount of waste as client space needs change. Our innovative, technology-driven approach
includes outstanding product design that is customized for each client application and delivered on time and on budget.
Our strategy is founded on the following priorities:
•

The identification and pursuit of client segments that benefit most from DIRTT’s value proposition;

•

Client-centric, continuous innovation in DIRTT Solutions and our technology to enhance product differentiation and drive market
penetration and growth;

•

Technology-enabled manufacturing processes that facilitate short lead times, a reliable client service platform, and outstanding quality on
a cost-effective basis; and

•

Ongoing development and support of our Distribution Partners to ensure flawless execution and a superior end client experience.

In combination with a focus on cost-disciplined control, a continuous improvement philosophy, and a focused approach to capital investment, we
believe these strategic priorities will drive increased value creation for our employees, clients, Distribution Partners, and shareholders.
Our Competitive Strengths
We believe the following attributes provide us with competitive strengths in the interior solutions manufacturing industry:
•

Leader in Integrated Design and Manufacturing Technology. We believe our ICE Software is the only interior construction technology
that efficiently integrates the design, configuration, and virtual reality visualization processes with the manufacturing process. The use of
3D technology in a design environment, mimicking video game visuals, is an approach pioneered by DIRTT.

•

Easy and Intuitive Software Interface. Our ICE Software is a fast, powerful tool with an intuitive user interface. Our software’s ease of use
enables rapid time-to-value for our clients and collaboration among all the stakeholders involved in the design, reconfiguration, budgeting
and manufacturing processes. Our use of 3D virtual reality and augmented (mixed) reality technologies enables clients to visualize and
modify their designs before manufacturing begins, thereby reducing cost and time to completion.

•

Proprietary Solutions Components. The physical components that comprise our DIRTT Solutions have been designed to provide clients
with numerous options and full modularity. As a result, we are able to create interior environments that are fully customizable and not
limited by a pre-set product list. The modular nature of our components allows them to be reconfigured easily, with minimal disruption to
the occupants of the space and with minimal job site waste.

•

Strong Distribution Partner and Sales Network. Our strong network of Distribution Partners and DIRTT sales representatives allows us to
maximize our geographic reach, helps build brand awareness in the interior construction market, and enhances our positioning in our target
markets.
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•

Superior Results Compared to Traditional Design and Construction. We believe we produce superior client results as compared with traditional design and
construction methods in sequencing, certainty, budget allocation, and outcome.
•

Effective Sequencing. Conventional construction generally follows a rigid sequencing process. Typically, wall framing is constructed first, followed
by floors and electrical and data networks. This process is then followed by drywall installation, painting, and flooring, and then installation or
building of millwork and fixtures. These steps generate significant waste and create opportunities for delay, change orders, cost overruns and rework.
In contrast, DIRTT Solutions design and integrate the walls, floors and ceiling, including the finish, electrical wiring and data networks. They are
manufactured off-site and arrive on-site organized, labeled and ready to be installed. This enables the interior solutions to be produced concurrently
with on-site construction work, thereby reducing on-site time and the overall construction schedule.

•

Certainty. Our technology-based design and manufacturing solutions address changes in design, communications with clients, and material costs
with more certainty than conventional construction methods, which often involve retrofitting electrical and data networks, change orders, uncertain
timelines, and costly rework. Our controlled manufacturing environment reduces deficiencies and errors and produces more consistent solutions in
predictable time frames.

•

Budget. Because of our integrated design, visualization and manufacturing technologies, we can price the effect of design choices and changes
immediately and deliver the fully designed, manufactured interior solutions ready to install. This provides budget certainty both in the cost of our
DIRTT Solutions as well as in on-site labor for the installation process.

•

Outcome. Our interior spaces look like the images our clients expect from the design drawings and virtual visualizations, because those same
drawings and visualizations drive the manufacturing process. Plumbing, electrical, A/V and data networks are integrated into the architecture of our
DIRTT Solutions. For example, DIRTT Walls look and perform like permanent walls, but if an IT or facilities team needs to get inside the wall for
any reason, they can use a tool to remove the surface of the wall to examine the wall cavity quickly, cleanly and quietly. This eliminates the need to
knock down, and then patch and repaint, drywall or reconfigure fixtures and cabinetry. Our modular designs offer flexibility and interconnectivity
with any technology, furniture, millwork or DIRTT Solutions that were previously used or that will be used in the future, allowing clients to
reconfigure and repurpose their space while reducing disruptive and time-consuming demolition and waste removal.

Distribution Partners and Sales Network
We primarily sell DIRTT Solutions through a network of independent Distribution Partners working in conjunction with local DIRTT sales representatives, as
well as internal DIRTT industry specialists, business development professionals and a dedicated Distribution Partner support team. Distribution Partners and local sales
representatives are located in cities throughout the United States and Canada, as well as in select international markets. The use of a dispersed network of Distribution
Partners greatly enhances our ability to drive awareness of the DIRTT brand throughout our markets.
As part of our distribution agreements, our Distribution Partners are typically required to invest in their own DIRTT Experience Center (“DXC”) so that they are
able to effectively showcase DIRTT Solutions. These DXCs are showrooms that provide mock-ups of DIRTT Solutions and related product offerings. Including those
operated by our Distribution Partners, there are 82 DXCs throughout North America, the Middle East and India. As of December 31, 2019, there were 76 Distribution
Partner-operated DXCs and six DIRTT-operated DXCs.
Our Distribution Partners operate under agreements that outline sales goals and marketing territories which are generally non-exclusive. We expect our
Distribution Partners to build regional DIRTT-dedicated teams (sales, design and project management) and to use our ICE Software in the sales process. In addition to
sales and marketing, our Distribution Partners provide value throughout the construction process. At the pre-construction stage, Distribution Partners provide design
assistance services to the architect and designer; throughout the construction process, Distribution Partners act as a specialty subcontractor to the general contractor and
provide installation and other construction services; and post-move in, Distribution Partners provide warranty work, ongoing maintenance and reconfiguring support.
Local DIRTT sales representatives work closely with the Distribution Partners throughout the process to ensure successful project implementation and the highest client
satisfaction. Distribution Partners generally place orders for DIRTT Solutions directly with us and pay us directly for such orders.
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We have the ability to bring on new Distribution Partners in a wide range of geographic areas, which permits us to quickly establish a presence in
new market areas. Our Distribution Partners also scale our virtual reality technology, such as our phone- and tablet-based applications, to fit their
capacity and needs.
At December 31, 2019, we had a total of 87 Distribution Partners and 71 sales representatives across North America, the United Kingdom, India
and Singapore. We are not dependent on any one Distribution Partner or sales representative.
Manufacturing and Properties
Our DIRTT Solutions are manufactured at our facilities in Calgary, Alberta; Phoenix, Arizona; and Savannah, Georgia. Our wall surfaces (which
we call tiles), millwork and timber solutions are manufactured in Calgary, while aluminum, glass and power components are manufactured at all three
locations. Through distributed manufacturing we can shift production of some components among our manufacturing sites, reduce transportation times
and costs, and meet targeted lead times. In 2019, we conducted an evaluation of our aluminum, tile and millwork capacities under various growth
scenarios and concluded that the capacity of our aluminum manufacturing facilities is currently sufficient to support our anticipated growth. Given the
longer lead time to acquire tile and millwork manufacturing equipment, combined with a lack of redundancy in those manufacturing facilities, we also
concluded that we should commence construction of a new combined tile and millwork facility. In the fourth quarter of 2019, we entered into a lease for
a build-to-suit building located in Rock Hill, South Carolina, which will provide for approximately 130,000 square feet of manufacturing space for the
combined tile and millwork factory. We currently expect construction of this factory to be substantially completed and commissioned in the first quarter
of 2021. Should the need arise, we have the expansion rights to lease an additional 130,000 square feet of space. Should we experience additional
growth, we may need to add or expand additional manufacturing facilities. Alternatively, should we see a significant contraction in sales relative to
expectations, we may defer the commissioning of the Rock Hill facility until later in 2021.
Suppliers and Raw Materials
Our inventory balances consist primarily of raw materials, which are kept on hand as components of our custom manufacturing process.
Managing our raw material inventory is essential to our business, given our short lead times from order to shipment and our high level of order
customization. Our key manufacturing materials are aluminum, hardware, wood and glass. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, aluminum
accounted for approximately 31.8% of our purchased materials, while wood, hardware and glass accounted for approximately 14.3%, 12.4% and 7.5%,
respectively. While we maintain multiple suppliers for key materials, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, two suppliers accounted for
approximately 32% and 21% of our aluminum supply, two suppliers accounted for approximately 47% and 42% of our wood supply and one supplier
accounted for approximately 28% of our hardware supply.
Materials are sourced domestically and, to a much lesser extent, overseas. Approximately 94% of our materials are manufactured and purchased in
North America. Purchase decisions are made on the basis of cost, quality and ability to meet delivery requirements. We do not typically enter into longterm agreements with suppliers. In general, adequate supplies of raw materials are available to all of our operations, although aluminum purchases may
be subject to market capacity constraints.
Technology and Development
We continue to focus on developing client-centric innovations and enhancements of both ICE Software and DIRTT Solutions with a primary
focus on improving client experience, increasing market penetration and growing key markets. At December 31, 2019, we employed 116 employees
within our technology and development groups and, including capitalized amounts, invested $11.3 million, $9.4 million and $11.8 million in 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively, in innovation activities.
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Clients
DIRTT’s principal geographic markets are the United States, Canada, and, to a more limited extent, select international markets. Our revenue is derived almost
entirely from projects in North America sold by our North American Distribution Partners.
Our revenue opportunities primarily come from commercial projects, including both new construction projects and renovations of existing buildings. Clients range
from small owner-managed businesses to multinational Fortune 500 companies across a variety of industries, including healthcare, education, financial services,
government and military, manufacturing, non-profit, energy, professional services, retail, technology and hospitality. We view DIRTT Solutions as generally industry
agnostic, with applications in many different industries with minimal adjustments. We are not dependent on any one client or industry segment. No single client
represented more than 10% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 or 2017.
Competition
The overall market for interior construction is fragmented and highly competitive. The principal competitive factors in the interior construction industry include
price (including cost certainty), speed, quality, customization and service. Our main competitors are comprised primarily of conventional construction firms, individual
tradespeople (including framers, drywall installers, and interior product designers) and modular systems manufacturers. Additionally, conventional construction firms are
beginning to develop customizable wall paneling and other interior construction solutions and may directly compete with our DIRTT Solutions. We also compete with
commercial furniture manufacturers, such as Teknion Corporation, Haworth Inc. and Allsteel Inc., who offer a variety of prefabricated interior wall solutions. We expect
competition to increase as new entrants or solutions enter the interior construction market. See Item 1A “Risk Factors”.
Seasonality
The construction industry has also historically experienced seasonal slowdowns related to winter weather conditions and holiday schedules, which affect shipping
and on-site installation dates, in the fourth and first quarters of each calendar year. Our business has generally, but not always, followed this trend with a slight time lag,
leading to stronger sales in the second half of the year versus the first half. Weather factors can also influence third-party exterior construction schedules and site
conditions, which may in turn affect timing of interior renovations.
Due to the fixed nature of certain of our manufacturing costs, such as our facilities leases and related indirect operating costs, periods of higher revenue volume
tend to generate higher operating income margins while periods of lower volume tend to result in lower operating income margins. Quarters that contain consistent
monthly manufacturing volumes tend to generate higher gross profit than those where manufacturing levels vary significantly from month to month.
Patent and Intellectual Property Rights
Our success depends, in part, upon our intellectual property rights relating to our products, production processes, our technology, including our ICE Software, and
other operations. We rely on a combination of trade secret, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, as well as patent, copyright and trademark laws, to protect
our proprietary rights and competitive advantage. We register our patents and trademarks as we deem appropriate and take measures to defend patents where we deem
others are infringing on our patents. The following table presents the status as of December 31, 2019 of our issued and pending patents relating to various aspects of
DIRTT Solutions and ICE Software:

Jurisdiction

Canada
United States
European Union
Singapore
Patent Cooperation Treaty
Other
Total
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Granted
Patents

Applications
Pending

56
105
35
16
—
23
245

41
35
38
12
3
—
129

Our issued patents expire between 2021 and 2039. We do not believe that the expiration of any individual patent will have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. As we develop new innovations and technology, we expect to file additional and
supplemental patents to protect our rights in those innovations and new technology.
Sustainability and Environmental Matters
Conventional construction typically generates substantial waste, with approximately 40% of solid waste in the United States in 2012 coming from
construction and demolition, according to a 2014 briefing by the Environmental and Energy Study Institute. Imprecise calculations or last-minute design
changes may result in excess materials on the job site, such as wiring, drywall, wood, paint and flooring, that are sometimes unable to be reused or
recycled. Measuring and cutting materials on-site leads to scrap waste that generally is sent to landfills. Sustainability is an integral component of our
corporate brand identity and DIRTT Solutions. DIRTT Solutions are designed for disassembly, are form-fit and allow for less materials waste
throughout the manufacturing process. We integrate environmentally friendly elements into our business wherever possible, including utilizing solar
energy at most of our factories to offset a portion of the cost of electricity and the environmental impact of our operations, and utilizing materials with
high recycled content in our DIRTT Solutions. We also ship DIRTT Solutions with recyclable or reusable packing and shipping materials.
The adoption of environmentally responsible building codes and standards, such as the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
(“LEED”) rating system established by the U.S. Green Building Council, also has the potential to increase demand for products, systems and services
that contribute to building sustainable spaces. Many of our DIRTT Solutions can contribute to the award of LEED credits and other green building
rating systems. We continue to develop new products, systems and services to address market demand for products that enable construction of buildings
that require fewer natural resources to build, operate and maintain. Our EnzoTM line of wall components received the Canadian Green Building
Council’s Green Building Product of the Year Award in 2015 due to its ingenuity and application, particularly as a benefit to healthcare facilities. With
the help of Climate Earth, in 2014 DIRTT was the first modular wall manufacturer to complete a full scope Life Cycle Assessment, resulting in 15
Environmental Product Declarations. In May 2019, we completed our second Life Cycle Assessment and released updated Environmental Product
Declarations.
Government Regulations
The operation of our business is subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations pertaining to health, safety and the environment. As an
owner or operator of various manufacturing facilities, we must comply with these laws and regulations at the federal, state, provincial and local levels in
both the United States and Canada. Failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil or criminal
enforcement actions, including the assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of investigative or remedial requirements, or the issuance of orders
limiting current or future operations. Certain environmental statutes impose strict, joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore
sites where hazardous substances or industrial wastes have been mismanaged or otherwise released.
While we do not believe that compliance with federal, state, provincial or local environmental laws and regulations will have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position or results of operations, we cannot provide any assurances that future events, such as changes in existing laws
or regulations, the promulgation of new laws or regulations, or the development or discovery of new facts or conditions related to our operations will not
cause us to incur significant costs.
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Legal and Regulatory Proceedings
We may be involved from time to time in various lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters that arise in the ordinary course of
business, including matters involving our products, intellectual property, relationships with suppliers, relationships with Distribution Partners,
relationships with competitors, employees and other matters. We may, for example, be a party to various litigation matters that involve product liability,
tort liability and claims under other allegations, including claims from our employees either individually or collectively. We do not believe that any
current claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. For
additional information regarding our current legal proceedings, see Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.”
Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) enacted in April 2012. Certain
specified reduced reporting and other regulatory requirements are available to public companies that are emerging growth companies. These provisions
include:
•

an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting required by
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

•

an exemption from the adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards until they would apply to private companies;

•

an exemption from compliance with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring
mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional
information about our audit and our financial statements; and

•

reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements.

We will continue to be an emerging growth company until the earliest of:
•

the last day of our fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion (as such amount is indexed for inflation every
five years by the SEC to reflect the change in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers published by the Bureau of Labor
Statistics, setting the threshold to the nearest $1 million) or more;

•

the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our first sale of common equity securities pursuant to an
effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”);

•

the date on which we have, during the prior three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt; or

•

the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market value of our
common shares that is held by non-affiliates (or public float) exceeds $700 million as of the last day of our second fiscal quarter in our
prior fiscal year.

We have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure obligations in this Annual Report and may elect to take advantage of other
reduced reporting requirements in future filings. As a result, the information that we provide to our shareholders may be different than what you might
receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests. However, we have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of the
extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
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Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had 1,169 full-time employees consisting of 790 employees in production, 102 employees in sales and marketing,
119 employees in technology and development, 84 employees in operations support, and 71 general and administrative employees. None of our
employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We have never experienced labor-related work stoppages or strikes, and we believe we
currently have a positive relationship with our employees.
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

Investing in our common shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other
information in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and Part II, Item 7. entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and in any documents incorporated in this Annual Report by reference,
before deciding whether to invest in our common shares. The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below could harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common shares could decline, and you may
lose all or part of your investment. Although we have discussed all known material risks, the risks described below are not the only ones that we may
face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Certain statements below are forward-looking statements. See also “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual Report.
Risks Related to Our Industry
Our industry is highly competitive, and our success depends on our ability to continue to persuade clients to utilize our innovative and unique
approach to interior construction rather than traditional interior construction methods. Our failure to compete effectively by not offering compelling
products and services or by not pricing our solutions competitively could materially and adversely affect our market share, liquidity, financial
condition and results of operations.
We operate in a highly competitive industry that is constantly developing and changing. We compete on the basis of, among other things, price,
predictability of timing and cost, speed, quality, customization, and product design. Our main competitors primarily consist of conventional construction
firms, individual tradespeople (including framers, drywall installers, and interior product designers) and modular systems manufacturers. In addition,
new market entrants and conventional construction firms are beginning to develop customizable wall paneling and other modular interior construction
solutions. We also compete with commercial furniture manufacturers, such as Teknion Corporation, Haworth Inc. and Allsteel Inc., who offer a variety
of prefabricated interior wall solutions. Our competitors may have greater financial, technical, sales, production and marketing resources, and they may
develop products that achieve greater market acceptance, hire key personnel, or introduce competing or disruptive technology, all of which may reduce
demand for DIRTT Solutions. In addition, we face pricing pressure on large construction projects from our competitors who take on projects at reduced
prices or at a loss to ensure continuity of work. If we are unable to provide competitive pricing terms for DIRTT Solutions, our sales may be reduced. If
we reduce our pricing to compete in these situations, our revenues and operating margins may decrease.
Our products are unique and offer an alternative to traditional construction techniques. Market acceptance of offsite construction methods is
growing, but this still represents only a fraction of all construction methods and the overall construction market. Our ability to grow and increase market
share depends, in part, on our success in continuing to increase demand for modular construction methods and products as an alternative to more
traditional construction methods. While we intend to follow a strategy of continuing product development to enhance our position to the extent
practicable, we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our current position in the industry or continue to compete successfully against
current and future sources of competition. There is no guarantee that we, together with our Distribution Partners, can increase our client base or that our
solutions will attain a degree of market acceptance sufficient for sustained profitable operations. Failure to compete effectively by, among other things,
meeting consumer preferences, developing and marketing innovative solutions, maintaining strong client service and distribution relationships, growing
market share, and expanding our solutions capabilities could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Additionally, the competition for highly skilled technical, research and development, management, sales and other employees is high in our industry.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract qualified personnel or retain our current personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain appropriate
executives and employees, our business, results of operations and liquidity could be materially and adversely affected.
Risks Related to Our Business
Global economic, political and social conditions and financial markets may impact our ability to do business and adversely affect our liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations.
Our industry is cyclical and highly sensitive to macroeconomic conditions. We are subject to global economic, political and social conditions that may
cause an overall decline or reduction in construction and renovation due to economic downturns, difficulties in the financial services sector and credit markets,
geopolitical uncertainties, tariffs and other macroeconomic factors. We face risks that may arise from financial difficulties experienced by our suppliers,
Distribution Partners or clients. For example, our Distribution Partners and their clients may face financial difficulties or may become insolvent, which could
result in the delay or cancellation of their plans to purchase DIRTT Solutions or lead to our inability to obtain payment of accounts receivable that they may
owe. Such clients or potential clients may also be unable to obtain financing for their construction projects, including purchases of DIRTT Solutions. Our
suppliers of raw materials, finished products or components may face financial difficulties or may become insolvent, which could lead to disruption in our
manufacturing processes. Additionally, our business could be adversely affected by the effects of health epidemics, particularly in regions where we have key
suppliers. For example, we rely on suppliers in China for certain of our raw materials and consequences of the coronavirus could include quarantines, labor
shortages, and reduced output of these suppliers. Any general economic, political or social conditions that may contribute to financial difficulties experienced by
us, our suppliers, Distribution Partners or clients may adversely affect our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
We depend heavily on our network of Distribution Partners for distribution and sales, and the loss or inattention of our Distribution Partners could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We currently do not engage in many direct sales projects and rely almost exclusively on our network of Distribution Partners to promote brand awareness,
sell and market DIRTT Solutions, and provide design, installation, distribution and other services to clients on each project. While we are not dependent on any
single Distribution Partner, sales generated by approximately 10% of our Distribution Partners comprised approximately 32.6% of our total revenues for 2019.
The loss of any top performing Distribution Partners, or their failure to adequately penetrate local markets, may negatively affect our sales, financial condition
or results of operations. The loss of a Distribution Partner could also impair our ability to maintain a presence in a particular geographic region while we
establish another Distribution Partner relationship in that region, which would require significant time and resources.
Our arrangements with our Distribution Partners are generally not exclusive, meaning that our Distribution Partners may market and sell both DIRTT
Solutions and the products of our competitors. We may have multiple Distribution Partners in a geographic region depending on the size of the region. We offer
our DIRTT Solutions at the same prices to our Distribution Partners, and, while we make recommendations on pricing terms to clients, our Distribution Partners
may implement different pricing models that may be in excess of what clients in their territory would be willing to pay for DIRTT Solutions or that may be
detrimental to other Distribution Partners who may offer different pricing terms.
We provide training and education to our Distribution Partners covering DIRTT Solutions and installation, sales, client service and experience, and
maintenance of client relationships. However, our Distribution Partners may not be able to successfully sell our DIRTT Solutions or manage client experiences
and relationships. Additionally, Distribution Partners may not successfully transport, deliver or install DIRTT Solutions, which could damage their relationships
with clients and harm our reputation. Our ability to generate revenue in the future will depend in part on our success in maintaining effective working
relationships with our Distribution Partners, choosing quality Distribution Partners, assisting our Distribution Partners to independently sell and to correctly
install our DIRTT Solutions, and training our Distribution Partners to develop and maintain successful client relationships. If we are unable to maintain
successful relationships with our Distribution Partners, or if our Distribution Partners are unable to maintain successful relationships with clients, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.
Our success will depend in part on our ability to maintain and manage growth effectively. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
growth in our headcount and operations, which has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on our management and operational and
financial resources. Additionally, we expect to scale our business for sustainable, profitable growth as part of our overall business strategy. Managing
growth of our operations and personnel requires continuous improvement of our internal controls and reporting systems and procedures. Failure to
effectively manage growth could result in difficulty in providing current DIRTT Solutions and introducing future solutions, difficulty in securing clients
and Distribution Partners, declines in quality or client satisfaction, increases in costs or other operational difficulties. Any of these difficulties could lead
to loss of investor confidence and adversely affect our business performance, financial condition and results of operations.
We may not be successful in implementing our strategic plan.
In November 2019, we unveiled a four-year strategic plan for the Company, based on three key pillars of commercial execution, manufacturing
excellence and innovation, to scale our business. We began implementing the strategic plan in the fourth quarter of 2019, including through hiring for
key positions and the expansion of our Distribution Partner network. Failure to implement our strategic plan could materially and adversely affect our
near term sales, commercial activities, and ability to develop and sustain profitable growth. Additionally, while we believe that the strategic plan will
result in increased revenue and profitability, there is no guarantee that the strategic plan, even if successfully implemented, will lead to sustainable,
profitable growth. Implementing the strategic plan may itself be disruptive to the Company. Any of these difficulties could materially and adversely
affect our business performance, financial condition and results of operations.
We may be unsuccessful in designing, introducing or selling new, innovative solutions, solution features or software.
Our future success depends in part on our continuing ability to promote and demonstrate the value proposition of DIRTT Solutions, as well as our
ability to develop new, innovative solutions or solution features that differentiate our solutions and achieve market acceptance in a timely and costeffective manner. We incur significant costs associated with the investment in our research and development in furtherance of our strategy that may not
result in increased revenue or demand for DIRTT Solutions and that could negatively affect our results of operations. Rapidly changing technology,
evolving regulatory and industry standards, and changing consumer trends, demands and requirements require us to continuously innovate and develop
new, high-quality, solutions, solutions features and software. Additionally, such rapid technological changes, standards and preferences could render the
complex and proprietary technology of our software and solutions obsolete. We may also be unable to successfully address these developments on a
timely basis, or at all. New solutions, solution features or software may also be less successful than we anticipated, and such offerings may fail to
achieve market acceptance. If we fail to respond quickly and cost-effectively to a changing market and changing consumer preferences, our competitive
position, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
We have experienced, and may experience in the future, quarterly and yearly fluctuations in results of operations and financial condition.
Our results of operations and financial condition may continue to fluctuate from one quarter or year to another due to a number of factors, some of
which are outside of our control. Furthermore, our actual or projected results of operations may fail to match our past performance. These events could
in turn cause the market price of our common shares to fluctuate. In particular, if our results of operations do not meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, who may derive their expectations by extrapolating data from recent historical results of operations, the market price of our
common shares will likely decline. Due to our high fixed manufacturing costs and operating expenses, quarterly volatility in sales volumes could result
in periods of low operating cash flow and negatively affect our liquidity.
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The construction industry has also historically experienced seasonal slowdowns related to winter weather conditions and holiday schedules in the first and fourth
quarters of each calendar year. Our business has generally followed this trend with a slight time lag, leading to stronger sales in the second half of the year versus the first
half. Weather conditions, such as unseasonably warm, cold or wet weather, which affect, and sometimes delay or accelerate, delivery and installation of some of our
products, may significantly affect our results of operations. For example, during the fourth quarter of 2017, the extreme weather conditions experienced in the United
States negatively affected the delivery of projects and our financial condition. Sales that we anticipate in one quarter may occur in another quarter, affecting both
quarters’ results and potentially the trading price of our common shares. In addition, we typically ship orders within two weeks of when we receive them and maintain
inventory levels to allow us to operate with little backlog. The efficiency of our inventory system, and our ability to avoid backlogs and potential loss of clients, is closely
tied to our ability to accurately predict seasonal and quarterly variances. Our planned expenditures are also based primarily on sales forecasts. Our sales cycle is generally
long, making our sales forecasts more uncertain than in businesses with short sales cycles. When sales do not meet our expectations, our results of operations will be
reduced for the relevant quarters, as we will have already incurred expenses based on those expectations. Additionally, while we can adjust our direct labor headcount by
virtue of more or fewer shifts, our ability to quickly react to significant swings in revenue may be limited by how quickly we can adjust our headcount. Due to these risk
factors, quarter-to-quarter or year-to-year comparisons of our results of operations may not be an indicator of future performance.
Turnover of our key executives, and difficulty of recruiting and retaining key employees, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
The performance of key personnel is essential to our business. Our success will depend in part on our ability to attract, develop and retain qualified key personnel
as needed. We have experienced executive-level changes since 2017, which could negatively affect our ability to retain other key executives and employees. Between
September 2018 and January 2019, two of our three co-founders left the Company, and commenced a competing business. Our third co-founder retired in November
2019. Our business has a long sales cycle, and we believe the distraction from significant management changes since 2017 has adversely affected our sales efforts during
2018, and therefore our 2019 revenues, to a greater extent than we anticipated. While we believe that these management changes will ultimately position the Company
for growth, we cannot provide any assurance that we will effectively manage these or any other management transitions. Failure to effectively manage these transitions
may affect our ability to retain our new or remaining key executives and employees and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Labor shortages and disruptions in our manufacturing facilities may delay or impede production and could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.
Our manufacturing processes and technology development largely depend on human labor, although certain parts are automated or integrated with technology.
Our distributed manufacturing approach allows us to shift production among our manufacturing facilities, although not all production can be moved. As a custom
manufacturer, we do not carry finished goods inventory that can withstand a labor shortage or disruption for an extended period of time. We may therefore be affected by
labor shortages or disruptions, particularly in the United States. Both our profitability and our ability to scale could be adversely affected if we encounter difficulty in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel, or if we experience any labor shortages or disruptions,
we could incur higher recruiting expenses or a loss of manufacturing capabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
liquidity or results of operations.
We may be exposed to product liability and warranty claims on DIRTT Solutions, which if successfully asserted, could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.
Our DIRTT Solutions are generally backed by warranties, some of which are up to 10 years. We may, from time to time, be involved in product liability and
product warranty claims relating to DIRTT Solutions that could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. For example, in 2019, we
incurred costs in the amount of $2.6 million in connection with remediating deficiencies in our solutions, including in costs related to tile warping, and we provided an
incremental $2.5 million to our liability related to potential costs to remediate DIRTT Timber installed on projects between 2016 and 2019 that may not have met fire
retardant standards under which they were sold. We are in discussions with our insurance carrier to determine how much, if any, of this liability is covered by insurance.
Although we maintain warranty and other reserves in an amount based primarily on production, historical and anticipated warranty claims, future warranty claims may
exceed this amount resulting in a need to increase the reserve. An increase in the rate of warranty claims or the occurrence of unexpected warranty claims could also
result in clients rejecting our products and damage to our reputation, all of which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and
liquidity.
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We have also on occasion found flaws and deficiencies in the design, manufacturing, assembling, labeling, product formulations or testing of DIRTT Solutions.
DIRTT Timber is occasionally integrated as structural components in projects; therefore, any future flaws and deficiencies in certain DIRTT Timber projects may
compromise the structure of the project. Some flaws and deficiencies have not been apparent until after the solutions were installed. If any flaws or deficiencies exist in
our products and if such flaws or deficiencies are not discovered and corrected before DIRTT Solutions are installed or otherwise incorporated into the structures,
damages could result, including collapse, fire, personal injury or death. Product liability claims can be expensive to defend, could divert the attention of management and
other personnel for significant periods, regardless of the ultimate outcome, and could result in negative publicity. Increased costs to address product warranty claims or to
defend against product liability claims may result in increased expenses and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We may be exposed to potential claims arising from the conduct of general contractors and their sub-contractors, which could materially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Errors in the installation of DIRTT Solutions, even if the products are free of flaws and deficiencies, could also cause personal injury or death. To the extent that
such damage or injury is not covered by our product liability insurance and we are held to be liable, we could be required to correct such damage and to compensate
persons who might have suffered injury or death, and our reputation, business and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, we may
incur additional costs to refund clients or repair or recall DIRTT Solutions, including costs to remedy the affected structures. We also may not be able to maintain
insurance on acceptable terms that provide adequate protection against potential liabilities. Any such claims, if asserted, could require us to expend material time and
efforts defending or resolving the claim and may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our software and products may have design defects, deficiencies, or risks, and we may incur additional costs to fix any defects, deficiencies or risks.
Our software and solutions are complex and must meet the technical requirements of our clients and applicable building codes and regulations. Our solutions may
contain undetected errors or design and manufacturing defects, and our software may experience quality or reliability problems, or contain bugs or other defects.
Software defects may also cause errors in our manufacturing or miscalculations in ordering pricing and could lead us to incur losses and lose market share to competitors.
Product or software defects could cause us to incur warranty costs, product liability costs, and repair and remediation costs. Although we maintain commercial general
liability and errors and omissions liability insurance, such insurance coverage may not be sufficient to protect us against substantial claims.
Our former co-founders’ competitive behavior against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
On September 10, 2018, our co-founder and former Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mogens Smed, left the Company. In connection with his
departure, Mr. Smed entered into a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Company that provided, among other things, for the continued
adherence to the non-compete and non-solicit obligations of his employment agreement. Mr. Smed, along with another former founder, Barrie Loberg, who was our
former Vice President of Software Development, have started an interior construction and manufacturing company that we believe competes with us. Since January
2019, a number of our employees have departed to join this new company. Mr. Smed, Mr. Loberg and a number of our former employees who have joined their company
have in-depth knowledge about our business, such as our customers, employees, Distribution Partners, consultants, products, policies, practices and prospects, and we
may be adversely affected by increased competition arising out of this competing business venture. We believe that Messrs. Smed and Loberg are not permitted to solicit
our current and former employees, Distribution Partners and customers or otherwise engage in competitive behavior. On May 9, 2019, we filed a lawsuit in the Court of
Queen’s Bench of Alberta against Messrs. Smed and Loberg to enforce the terms of the Settlement Agreement and their respective obligations, including non-compete
and non-solicit provisions, and they have denied liability and counterclaimed asserting rights to further compensation and damages for defamation. We are engaged in
other litigation with Messrs. Smed and Loberg, or entities with which they are involved, relating to similar claims and disputes over alleged misappropriation of
proprietary information by them or by us. See Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.” If Messrs. Smed and Loberg further engage in a competitive business against us or if we are
not successful in enforcing the Settlement Agreement, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.
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We may be unable to protect our intellectual property adequately from infringement by third parties, and we may also be subject to claims that we
infringe on intellectual property rights of others.
We expend considerable efforts to protect our intellectual property and to operate without infringing on the intellectual property rights of others. We rely
on a combination of contract, copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and other measures to protect our proprietary
information. There can be no assurance that our various patents, copyrights or trademarks will offer sufficient protection and prevent misappropriation of our
proprietary rights. Additionally, our software copyright and other protections might not be adequate to protect our software and application code. We also may
not be granted patents, copyrights or trademarks on our pending or proposed applications, and granted applications may be challenged, invalidated or
circumvented in the future.
We will not be able to protect our intellectual property, trade secrets, or other proprietary information if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do not
detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Additionally, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual
property. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our applications and use information that we regard as proprietary to
create products or services that compete with ours. We enforce our intellectual property rights where appropriate, but the cost of doing so may be substantial and
could outweigh the potential benefits, and we may be unsuccessful in our enforcement efforts. Failure to protect or maintain the proprietary nature of our
intellectual property could adversely affect our ability to sell original products and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Additionally, our competitors, as well as a number of other entities and individuals, may own or claim to own intellectual property in technology areas
relating to our technology, including ICE Software, manufacturing processes, and DIRTT Solutions. Although we do not believe that our software or DIRTT
Solutions infringe on the proprietary rights of any third parties, claims may arise regarding infringement or invalidity claims (or claims for indemnification
resulting from infringement claims). Such assertions or prosecutions, regardless of their merit, may subject us to significant liabilities, require us to enter into
royalty and licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms, prevent us from assembling or licensing certain of our products, subject us to injunctions restricting
our sale of products, cause severe disruptions to our operations or the marketplaces in which we compete, or require us to satisfy indemnification commitments
with our clients, including contractual provisions under various license arrangements. A damages award against us could include an award of royalties or lost
profits and, if the court finds willful infringement, treble damages and attorneys’ fees. This may cause us to expend significant costs and resources, and could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
If we are unable to protect our information systems against data corruption, cyber-based attacks or network security breaches, our operations could
be disrupted and our reputation and profitability could be negatively affected.
In the ordinary course of our business, we generate, collect and store confidential and proprietary information, including intellectual property and business
information. While we do not generally collect information from clients and Distribution Partners, we may obtain certain of their information from time to time
during the ordinary course of business. The secure storage, maintenance, and transmission of and access to this information is important to our operations and
reputation. Various third parties, including computer hackers, who are continually becoming more aggressive and sophisticated, may attempt to penetrate our
network security and, if successful, misappropriate confidential client, Distribution Partner, employee or supplier information. In addition, one of our
Distribution Partners, employees, or other third parties with whom we do business may attempt to circumvent our security measures in order to obtain such
information or may inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. There is no guarantee that our security systems, processes or procedures are
adequate to safeguard against all data security breaches, misuse of data, cyber-attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming
or human errors or other similar events. Any security breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of confidential information of
a client, Distribution Partner, employee, supplier or Company information could result in financial losses, exposure to litigation risks and liability (including
regulatory liability), damages to our reputation, and disruptions in our operations, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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The regulatory environment related to information security, data collection and use, and privacy is increasingly rigorous, with new and frequently changing
requirements, and compliance with those requirements could result in additional costs. These costs associated with information security, such as increased investment in
technology, the costs of compliance with privacy laws, and costs incurred to prevent or remediate information security breaches, could be substantial and adversely affect
our business. A significant compromise of sensitive employee, Distribution Partner, client or supplier data in our possession could result in legal damages and regulatory
penalties. In addition, the costs of defending such actions or remediating breaches could be material.
Damage to our information technology and software systems could impair our ability to effectively provide DIRTT Solutions, harm our reputation, and
adversely affect our business.
Our information technology and software networks and systems, which include the processing, transmission and storage of information, are integrated with our
manufacturing processes and essential to our business operations. These systems are vulnerable to, among other things, damage or interruption from power outages,
network failures or natural disasters, loss or corruption of data, human error, employee misconduct and difficulties associated with upgrades, installations of major
software or hardware, and integration with new systems. While we maintain retention backups to geo-diverse digital and physical locations and have a recovery data
center, the data center and other protective measures we take could prove to be inadequate. Any disruption in our systems or unauthorized disclosure of information
could result in delayed manufacturing and delivery of our DIRTT Solutions, legal claims, a loss of intellectual property and a disruption in operations, all of which could
adversely affect our reputation, relationships with clients, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to fluctuations in the prices of our commodities, including raw materials, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.
We experience fluctuations in the cost of our raw materials, including aluminum, glass and wood. A variety of factors over which we have no control, such as
global demand for aluminum, fluctuations in transportation costs, speculation in commodities futures, changes in laws or regulations, and the creation of new materials or
products based on new technologies may affect the purchase and transportation costs and availability of raw materials that we use to manufacture DIRTT Solutions.
These factors may also magnify the effect of economic cycles on our business. In addition, we have not historically entered into long-term agreements with vendors and,
if we continue to do so, we may be exposed to short-term and long-term price fluctuations as a result.
Aluminum represents the largest component of our raw materials consumption. Substantial, prolonged upward trends in aluminum prices could significantly
increase the cost of our aluminum needs and have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We have experienced fluctuations in the price of
aluminum and anticipate that these fluctuations will continue in the future. In 2018, the U.S. government imposed tariffs on steel and aluminum and limited the amounts
of steel and aluminum coming into the United States based on the countries of origin of those imports. In 2018 and 2019, we sourced the majority of our aluminum from
North America and sourced under 10% of our raw materials from outside North America. Nonetheless, tariffs and import limitations may increase the prices we pay for
aluminum. Increases in the price that we pay for our commodities, including raw materials, could adversely affect our liquidity, operating margins, and financial
condition.
We rely on a limited number of outside suppliers for certain key components and materials, and failure or delay in obtaining the necessary components or
materials could delay or prevent the manufacturing or distribution of our DIRTT Solutions.
We rely on certain key suppliers for raw materials and components, including aluminum, glass and wood. We maintain multiple suppliers for key materials,
although two suppliers accounted for approximately 32% and 21% of our aluminum supply for the year ended December 31, 2019. While we believe there are other
vendors for most of our key requirements, certain materials meeting our quality standards are available only through a limited number of vendors. If we are required to
obtain another source for these materials or components, we may not be able to obtain pricing on as favorable terms or on terms comparable to our competitors. Any
failure or delay in obtaining the necessary raw materials in the quantities and quality required may result in increased costs and delays in manufacturing or distributing
our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, or results of operations. A vendor may also choose, subject to existing
contracts, to modify its relationship with us due to general economic concerns or specific concerns relating to that vendor or us, at any time. These modifications might
include additional requirements from our suppliers that we provide them additional security in the form of prepayments or with letters of credit. Any significant change
in the terms that we have with our key suppliers could materially and adversely affect our liquidity, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Our current manufacturing facilities may reach capacity, and we may have difficulty procuring adequate manufacturing space to meet our
needs.
We have manufacturing facilities in Calgary, Alberta; Phoenix, Arizona; and Savannah, Georgia. Our wall tiles, millwork and timber solutions are
manufactured in Calgary, while aluminum, glass and power components are manufactured in all three locations. We may be constrained by physical
capacity in our facilities. While we may address increased short-term demands through the addition of production shifts in our manufacturing facilities,
we may need to expand our current manufacturing capabilities and add or expand facilities within the next two to three years. For example, we are in the
process of constructing a build-to-suit combined tile and millwork factory in Rock Hill, South Carolina. If we are unable to timely meet increased
demands, we could experience delays in production and shipments of product due to both the loss of inventory and materials storage and production
capacity, which would materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We may incur significant costs complying with environmental, health and safety laws and related claims, and failure to comply with these laws
and regulations could expose us to significant liabilities, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.
We are subject to laws, regulations, and other requirements with respect to workers’ health and safety and environmental matters in the United
States, Canada and other countries in which we operate. The costs of compliance with such laws and regulations could adversely affect our liquidity,
financial condition, or results of operations. Environmental laws and regulations impose, among other things, restrictions, liabilities and obligations in
connection with the production, processing, preparation, handling, storage, transportation, disposal and management of wastes and other substances, and
the prevention and remediation of environmental effects. More stringent laws and regulations relating to climate change and emission of greenhouse
gases may be adopted in the future and could impact our facilities, raw material suppliers, the transportation and distribution of our solutions, and our
clients, which could reduce demand for our solutions or cause us to incur additional operating costs. Health and safety laws and regulations impose,
among other things, requirements designed to ensure the protection of workers. In addition, we are required to obtain numerous governmental permits in
order to operate our facilities and in connection with the design, development, manufacture and transport of our products and the storage, use, handling
and disposal of hazardous substances, including environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and permits governing air emissions. If we fail to
comply with these requirements, we could be subject to civil or criminal liability, damages and fines, and our operations could be curtailed, suspended
or shutdown and our reputation, ability to attract employees, and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, certain foreign laws and
regulations may affect our ability to export products outside of or import into the United States or Canada. Although we handle minimal quantities of
hazardous substances, existing environmental, health and safety laws and regulations apply to our operations, new laws and regulations could be
adopted or become applicable to us or our products, and future changes in environmental, health and safety laws and regulations could occur. These
factors may materially increase the amount we must invest to bring our processes into compliance with legal requirements and impose additional
expenses on our operations.
Private lawsuits, including claims for remediation of contamination, personal injury or property damage, or actions by regional, national, state and
local regulatory agencies, including enforcement or cost-recovery actions, may materially increase our costs. Certain environmental laws make us
potentially liable on a joint and several basis for the remediation of contamination at or emanating from properties or facilities that we currently or
formerly owned or operated or properties to which we arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances. Such liability may require us to pay more than
our proportionate share based on our contribution to the amount or type of waste we dispose and could require us to address contamination caused by
others. Any changes in these laws or regulations or changes in our manufacturing processes may require us to request changes to our existing permits or
obtain new permits. Any requests to change our existing permits or obtain new permits may be delayed or denied and may require us to modify our
manufacturing processes, which could be costly and time consuming and could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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We may not be able to obtain or maintain, from time to time, all required environmental regulatory approvals. A delay in obtaining any required
environmental regulatory approvals or failure to obtain and comply with them could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We are exposed to currency exchange rates, tax rates and other fluctuations, including those resulting from changes in laws.
Our revenues and expenses are collected and paid in different currencies, including the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar. Fluctuations in the value
of any such currency expose us to foreign exchange risk and could have a material and adverse effect on our cash flows, revenues and results of
operations. We also have currency exchange exposure to the extent of a mismatch between foreign-currency denominated revenues and expenditures –
in particular, where U.S. dollar revenues do not equal U.S. dollar expenditures. We are not currently using exchange rate derivatives to manage currency
exchange rate risks. There are currently no significant restrictions on the repatriation of capital and distribution of earnings to foreign entities from any
of the jurisdictions in which we operate. There can be no assurance that such restrictions will not be imposed in the future.
Compliance with new or amended tax laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business. We operate in multiple
jurisdictions, including the United States and Canada, and may therefore be subject to the tax laws and regulations of such jurisdictions. For instance,
the U.S. 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted on December 22, 2017, and significantly affected U.S. tax law; it also affected our business and
financial condition because historically, approximately 80% to 85% of our revenue has been derived from U.S. projects.
We base our tax positions upon our understanding of the tax laws of and applicable tax treaties in the various countries in which we have assets or
conduct business activities. However, our tax positions are subject to review and possible challenges by taxing authorities, including allocation of
income, transfer pricing and other complex issues. This includes adverse changes to the manner in which Canada, the United States and other countries
tax local and foreign corporations and interpret or change their tax laws and applicable tax treaties. We cannot determine in advance the extent to which
such jurisdictions may review our positions or assess additional taxes or interest and penalties on such taxes. In addition, our effective tax rate may be
increased by changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, our cash management strategies, local tax rates, or interpretations of tax laws.
We may be subject to legal and regulatory proceedings for a variety of claims, which could subject us to significant costs and judgments and
divert management’s attention from our business.
From time to time we may become involved in litigation for a variety of claims relating to our operations, solutions, contracts, relationships or
other circumstances, or may become involved in regulatory proceedings. We may also be subject to claims arising from personal injuries or workers’
compensation occurring on our properties, including our manufacturing facilities. We are party to potentially material legal proceedings. See Item 3.
“Legal Proceedings.” We are not currently party to any material regulatory proceedings against us. The defense of litigation, including fees of legal
counsel, expert witnesses and related costs, is expensive and difficult to forecast accurately. In general, such costs are unrecoverable even if we
ultimately prevail in litigation and could represent a significant use of our capital resources. To defend lawsuits, it is also necessary for us to divert the
attention and resources of officers and other employees from their normal business functions to gather evidence, give testimony and otherwise support
litigation efforts.
The outcome of any litigation, regardless of its merits, is inherently uncertain. Given the inherent uncertainties in evaluating certain exposures,
actual costs to be incurred in future periods may vary from our estimates for such contingent liabilities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
continue to successfully avoid, manage and defend such matters. If we are unsuccessful in defending any litigation or claims, we could face material
judgments or awards against us, which could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We may be subject to increased counterparty credit risk resulting from, among other things, an increase in the number of Distribution
Partners and clients.
Continued growth of our Distribution Partner network and client base increases our exposure to credit risk related to amounts due from our
Distribution Partners and their clients. Our Distribution Partners purchase DIRTT Solutions from us directly. We routinely monitor the financial
condition of our Distribution Partners and their clients, and review the credit history of our new Distribution Partners and their clients, to establish credit
limits. While we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to our estimate of the credit risk of our Distribution Partners and their
clients based on historical trends and economic circumstances, there can be no assurances that our estimates and assumptions regarding allowance for
doubtful accounts will prove to be accurate. We could realize additional losses if Distribution Partners or their clients default on their outstanding
balance beyond our allowance for doubtful accounts, which would adversely affect our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
We may have future capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional capital or financing on acceptable terms.
We plan to continually invest in business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business opportunities. Such investments may
relate to expanding sales and marketing activities; developing our Distribution Partner network; developing new software, products or features;
enhancing our operating infrastructure; acquiring complementary businesses and technologies; expanding our manufacturing capacity; or investing in
innovation and operational capacity ahead of anticipated growth, including commencing factory automation. To the extent that our existing capital is
insufficient to meet our requirements, we may need to undertake equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. Further issuances of equity or
convertible debt securities may result in significant share dilution. Additional new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences and privileges
superior to those of currently issued and outstanding common shares.
Additional debt financings may involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters,
which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. We cannot provide any assurance that
sufficient debt or equity financing will be available for necessary or desirable expenditures or acquisitions, or to cover losses, and accordingly, our
ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our liquidity could be
materially and adversely affected.
The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain a number of covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions,
including restrictions on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests.
On October 21, 2013, we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (as amended, the “Comerica Credit Facility”) with Comerica
Bank, as subsequently amended, pursuant to which we had access to a $18.0 million revolving operating facility. The Comerica Credit Facility expired
on June 30, 2019.
On July 19, 2019, we entered into a C$50 million senior secured revolving credit facility with the Royal Bank of Canada (the “RBC Credit
Facility”). The RBC Credit Facility includes covenants that, among other things, impose significant operating and financial restrictions, including
restrictions on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests. These covenants may restrict our ability to (i) make certain
acquisitions or dispose of our property; (ii) consolidate, amalgamate, merge, or otherwise permit a material change in our corporate or capital structure;
(iii) incur additional debt, other than permitted debt; (iv) permit encumbrances on certain assets to secure debt; and (v) pay dividends on or make other
distributions in respect of our common shares or redeem, repurchase or retire our common shares or subordinated debt or make certain other restricted
payments.
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We are also required to maintain specified financial ratios. Our ability to meet these ratios could be affected by events beyond our control, and we
cannot assure you that we will meet them. A breach of any of the restrictive covenants or ratios may result in an event of default, or may limit our ability
to borrow, under the RBC Credit Facility. If any such default occurs, the lender under the RBC Credit Facility may be able to elect to declare all
outstanding borrowings, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, or enforce their security interest.
The lender may also have the right in these circumstances to terminate commitments to provide further borrowings.
We have experienced a history of losses, and despite certain periods of profitability in recent years, we may not be able to generate sufficient
revenue to achieve and sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant losses since commencing business. We incurred net losses of $4.4 million and $7.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2017, respectively. At December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $46.0 million. These losses and accumulated
deficits were due in part to the substantial investments made to grow our business and acquire clients, to further develop our service offerings through
product and software development, and to ensure that we have sufficient production capacity and capability to deliver on our commitment of rapid
delivery times. Past results may not be indicative of our future performance, and there can be no assurance that we will generate net income in the
future.
We may not have insurance adequate in amount or coverage to protect us from all claims that may arise in connection with our business and
operations.
While we currently maintain insurance of the types and amounts we consider commercially prudent and consistent with industry practice,
including directors and officers, errors and omissions, property, and general liability insurance, we may not be fully insured against all risks incident to
our business. There can be no assurance that insurance coverage will be available in the future on commercially reasonable terms or at commercially
reasonable rates. There can also be no assurance that the amounts for which we are insured, or the proceeds of such insurance, will fully compensate us
for any losses. In addition, the insurance coverage obtained with respect to our business and facilities will be subject to limits and exclusions or
limitations on coverage that are considered by management to be reasonable, given the cost of procuring insurance and current operating conditions. If a
significant event occurs that is not fully insured, it could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We may engage in future mergers, acquisitions, agreements, consolidations or other corporate transactions that could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
While we have no specific plans to acquire any businesses, we may, in the future, seek to expand our business and capabilities through acquiring
compatible technology, products or businesses. Additionally, we may explore other corporate transactions, including mergers, agreements,
consolidations, or joint ventures, that we believe may be beneficial to our business or further specific business goals. Acquisitions involve certain risks
and uncertainties, including, among other things, (i) difficulty integrating the newly acquired businesses and operations in an efficient and cost-effective
manner; (ii) inability to maintain relationships with key clients, vendors and other business partners of the acquired businesses; (iii) potential loss of key
employees of the acquired businesses; (iv) exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with our assumption of certain claims and liabilities of the
acquired businesses; (v) diversion of management’s time and focus; and (vi) possible write-offs or impairment charges related to the acquired business.
The occurrence of any of these risks could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
To the extent we are successful in identifying suitable businesses or products for acquisition, we may deem it necessary or advisable to finance
such acquisitions through issuing common shares, securities convertible into common shares, debt financing, or a combination thereof. In such cases,
issuing common shares or convertible securities could result in dilution to our shareholders at the time of such issuance or conversion. We may also
pursue issuing debt to finance acquisitions, which may result in, among other things, the encumbrance of certain of our assets, impediment of our ability
to obtain bank financing, and a decrease in our liquidity.
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Risks Related to Our Common Shares
Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline.
Our common shares are currently listed on the TSX under the symbol “DRT” and on Nasdaq under the symbol “DRTT.” The price of our
common shares has in the past fluctuated significantly, and may fluctuate significantly in the future, depending upon a number of factors, many of
which are beyond our control and may adversely affect the market price of our common shares. These factors include: (i) variations in quarterly results
of operations; (ii) deviations in our earnings from publicly disclosed forward-looking guidance; (iii) changes in earnings estimates by analysts; (iv) our
announcements or our competitors’ announcements of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures; (v) general conditions
in the offsite construction and manufacturing industries; (vi) sales of our common shares by our significant shareholders; (vii) fluctuations in stock
market price and volume; and (viii) other general economic conditions.
In the past, following periods of volatility in the trading price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation have been brought against
that company. If our share price is volatile, we may become the target of securities litigation in both the United States and Canada. Securities litigation
could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from our business and could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
The requirements of being a public company in the United States and Canada and maintaining a dual listing on both Nasdaq and the TSX,
including compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SarbanesOxley”) and applicable securities laws of Canada, may strain our resources, increase our costs, and require significant management time and
resources.
As a public company in the United States, we need to comply with new laws, regulations and requirements, certain corporate governance
provisions of Sarbanes-Oxley, related regulations of the SEC and the requirements of Nasdaq, with which we are not required to comply as a public
company in Canada listed on the TSX. Specifically, we may incur significant additional accounting, legal, reporting and other expenses in order to
maintain a dual listing on both Nasdaq and the TSX, including the costs of listing on two exchanges. Complying with these statutes, regulations and
requirements, as well as any applicable securities laws of Canada, occupies a significant amount of time of our Board of Directors (the “Board”) and
management and increases our costs and expenses, including an increased reliance on outside counsel and accountants. We also prepare and distribute
periodic public reports in compliance with our obligations under the U.S. federal securities laws, in addition to applicable securities laws of Canada.
Shareholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to
substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which could then result in additional compliance costs and affect the manner in which we operate
our business. Moreover, any new regulations or disclosure obligations may increase our legal and financial compliance costs and may make some
activities more time-consuming and costly.
Furthermore, while we generally must comply with Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, we are not
required to have our independent registered public accounting firm attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls until our first annual report
subsequent to our ceasing to be an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Exchange Act. Once it is required to do so, our independent
registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented,
designed, operated or reviewed. Compliance with these requirements may strain our resources, increase our costs and use significant management time
and resources, and we may be unable to comply with these requirements in a timely or cost-effective manner.
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In addition, we expect that being a public company in the United States subject to these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for
us to obtain or maintain additional director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially
higher costs to obtain or maintain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our Board
or as executive officers. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur in the future or the timing of such costs in order to maintain the same
or similar coverage.
For as long as we are an “emerging growth company,” we will not be required to comply with certain reporting requirements that apply to some other public
companies, and such reduced disclosures requirement may make our Common Shares less attractive.
As an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of exemptions from certain disclosure requirements applicable to other
public companies that are not emerging growth companies. We are an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year during which we
have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the first sale of common equity securities
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act; (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion
in non-convertible debt; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC.
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company,” we will not be required to, among other things:
•

have an auditor report on our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley;

•

comply with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement
to the auditor’s report providing additional information about our audit and our financial statements;

•

include detailed compensation discussion and analysis in our filings under the Exchange Act and instead may provide a reduced level of disclosure
concerning executive compensation; and

•

hold a non-binding stockholder advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously
approved.

Because of these exemptions, some investors may find our common shares less attractive, which may result in a less active trading market for our common shares,
and our share price may be more volatile.
We historically have not paid dividends on our common shares.
We have not declared or paid any dividends on common shares to date. The declaration and payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Board, taking into
account our earnings, capital requirements and financial condition, restrictions on our ability to pay dividends under our credit facilities, and such other factors as the
Board considers relevant. Our RBC Credit Facility generally limits our ability to pay any dividends or make any other distribution on our outstanding capital shares. See
Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Credit Facility” for more information.
We are governed by the corporate laws of Alberta, Canada, which in some cases have a different effect on shareholders than the corporate laws of the United
States.
We are governed by the ABCA and other relevant laws, which may affect the rights of shareholders differently than those of a company governed by the laws of a
U.S. jurisdiction, and may, together with our charter documents, have the effect of delaying, deterring or discouraging another party from acquiring control of our
company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or may affect the price an acquiring party would be willing to offer in such an instance. The material
differences between the ABCA and Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), that may have the greatest such effect include, but are not limited to, the following:
(i) for certain extraordinary corporate transactions (such as amalgamations or amendments to our articles), the ABCA generally requires the voting threshold to be a
special resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of the resolution, whereas DGCL generally
only requires a majority vote; and (ii) under the ABCA, registered holders or beneficial owners (as defined in the ABCA) of not less than 5% of our common shares in
aggregate can requisition our directors to call a special meeting of shareholders, whereas such right does not exist under the DGCL. We cannot predict whether investors
will find our company and our common shares less attractive because we are governed by foreign laws.
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Because we are a corporation incorporated in Alberta and some of our directors and officers are resident in Canada, it may be difficult for
investors in the United States to enforce civil liabilities against us based solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States. Similarly, it may
be difficult for Canadian investors to enforce civil liabilities against our directors and officers residing outside of Canada.
We are a corporation amalgamated and existing under the laws of Alberta with our principal place of business in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Some
of our directors and officers are residents of Canada and a substantial portion of our assets and those of such persons are located outside the United
States. Consequently, it may be difficult for U.S. investors to effect service of process within the United States upon us or our directors or officers who
are not residents of the United States, or to realize in the United States upon judgments of courts of the United States predicated upon civil liabilities
under the Securities Act. Investors should not assume that Canadian courts: (1) would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions against us or
such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or the securities or blue sky laws of any state within the
United States or (2) would enforce, in original actions, liabilities against us or such persons predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws or any such
state securities or blue sky laws.
Similarly, some of our directors and officers are residents of countries other than Canada and all or a substantial portion of the assets of such
persons are located outside Canada. As a result, it may be difficult for Canadian investors to initiate a lawsuit within Canada against these non-Canadian
residents. In addition, it may not be possible for Canadian investors to collect from these non-Canadian residents judgments obtained in courts in
Canada predicated on the civil liability provisions of securities legislation of certain of the provinces and territories of Canada. It may also be difficult
for Canadian investors to succeed in a lawsuit in the United States, based solely on violations of federal, provincial or territorial securities laws.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price
and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common shares depends on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business,
our market or our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts and cannot assure you that analysts will cover us or provide favorable
coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our common shares, our share price would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial
markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
We could be treated as a “passive foreign investment company” for U.S. federal income tax purposes under certain circumstances, which
would have adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders of our common shares.
A non-U.S. entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be treated as a “passive foreign investment
company” (a “PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes if 75% or more of its gross income for any taxable year consists of passive income or 50% or
more of the average value of its assets produce, or are held for the production of, passive income. For purposes of these tests, passive income generally
includes dividends, interest, gains from the sale or exchange of investment property, and rents and royalties other than rents and royalties that are
received from unrelated parties in connection with the active conduct of a trade or business. We do not believe that we are currently a PFIC, and we do
not anticipate becoming a PFIC in the foreseeable future. However, because there are uncertainties in the application of the relevant rules and PFIC
status is a factual determination made annually after the close of each taxable year, there can be no assurance that we will not be a PFIC for the current
taxable year or any future taxable year.
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If we are or have been a PFIC in any taxable year, a U.S. Holder (as defined below) may incur significantly increased U.S. federal income tax on
gain recognized on the sale or other disposition of our common shares and on the receipt of distributions on our common shares to the extent such gain
or distribution is treated as an “excess distribution” under the U.S. federal income tax rules, and such holder may be subject to burdensome reporting
requirements. Further, if we are a PFIC for any year during which a U.S. Holder holds our common shares, we generally will continue to be treated as a
PFIC for all succeeding years during which such U.S. Holder holds our common shares. Please see “Certain United States Federal Income Tax
Considerations for U.S. Holders – Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations” for a more detailed discussion of the U.S. federal income tax
consequences to U.S. Holders if we are treated as a PFIC.
For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of our common shares that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes any of
the following: an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States; a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal
income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia; an estate the income
of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or a trust (i) the administration of which is subject to the primary supervision of a
U.S. court and which has one or more United States persons who have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) which has made
a valid election under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a United States person.
Nasdaq or the TSX may delist our securities from its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities and
subject us to additional trading restrictions.
Our securities may fail to meet the continued listing requirements to be listed on the Nasdaq or TSX. If Nasdaq or the TSX delists our common shares
from trading on its exchange, we could face significant material adverse consequences, including:
•

a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

•

reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;

•

a determination that our common shares are a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in our common shares to adhere to more
stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our common shares;

•

a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and

•

a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
Item 2.

Properties.

Our principal executive offices are located in Calgary, Alberta, where we lease approximately 73,000 square feet of office and manufacturing
space. Our lease expires in September 2022. Our principal manufacturing facilities are located in Calgary, Alberta; Phoenix, Arizona; and Savannah,
Georgia. Our wall tiles, millwork and timber solutions are manufactured in Calgary, while aluminum, glass and power components are manufactured in
all three locations. In Calgary, we lease an aggregate of approximately 358,000 square feet of manufacturing space across three facilities (excluding our
principal offices), which leases expire in January 2023 and January 2024. In Phoenix, we lease approximately 130,000 square feet of manufacturing
space across two facilities, which leases expire in March 2022 and March 2027. In Savannah, we lease approximately 81,000 square feet of
manufacturing space, which lease expires in February 2029. In October 2019, we entered into a 15-year lease for a build-to-suit combined tile and
millwork factory of approximately 130,000 square feet in Rock Hill, South Carolina. Should the need arise, we have the expansion rights to lease an
additional 130,000 square feet of space.
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Our ICE development offices are located in Calgary, Alberta and Salt Lake City, Utah. In Calgary, we sublease approximately 8,700 square feet
of office space pursuant to a lease that expires on July 31, 2021. In our Salt Lake City development office, which also houses a DXC, we lease
approximately 6,600 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that expires in December 2023. In Chicago, Illinois, we own approximately 6,200
square feet of office space, which we use to operate a DXC.
Through distributed manufacturing we can shift production of some products among our manufacturing sites, reduce transportation times and
costs, and meet targeted lead times. We believe that our current and planned facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or
substitute space would be available if needed.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

On November 5, 2019, Falkbuilt Ltd. (“Falkbuilt”) filed a lawsuit against us in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, Canada. Falkbuilt alleges
that we have misappropriated and misused their alleged proprietary information in furtherance of our own product development. Falkbuilt seeks
monetary relief, including, among other things, damages of approximately C$30.0 million, disgorgement of profits, punitive damages, and attorneys’
fees, and an interim, interlocutory and permanent injunction of our use of the alleged proprietary information. Falkbuilt is affiliated with certain of our
former employees, including Mogens Smed, our co-founder and former Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Barrie Loberg, our
former Vice President of Software Development. As previously disclosed, on May 9, 2019, we filed a lawsuit in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta
against Mr. Smed and Mr. Loberg, to enforce the terms of our Settlement Agreement and their respective obligations, including non-compete and
non-solicit provisions, that we entered into in connection with their departure. Subsequently, on June 14, 2019, Falkbuilt filed a counterclaim alleging,
among other things, breach of contractual obligations and defamation, and seeking damages in excess of C$2.0 million, plus punitive damages. We
believe that Falkbuilt’s lawsuit against us is part of their litigation strategy related to our lawsuit against them, and we believe it is without merit. We
intend to defend it vigorously and to continue to pursue our legal remedies against Messrs. Smed and Loberg and their company, Falkbuilt. Consistent
with that intent, on December 11, 2019, we filed a federal lawsuit in the U.S. District Court of Utah against Falkbuilt, Falk Mountain States, LLC,
Kristy Henderson, and former DIRTT employee Lance Henderson. This action seeks to restrain the defendants from misappropriating DIRTT’s
confidential information, trade secrets, business intelligence and customer information, and using that information to advance Falkbuilt’s U.S.
businesses to the detriment of DIRTT. On February 5, 2020, Falkbuilt filed its answer to our U.S. claim, together with a counterclaim alleging
defamation and intentional interference with economic relations. Falkbuilt is seeking damages in excess of $3.0 million, plus punitive damages. Again,
we believe Falkbuilt’s claim is without merit and we intend to defend it vigorously and to continue to pursue our legal remedies against Falkbuilt, Falk
Mountain States, LLC, Ms. Henderson and Mr. Henderson.
We may, from time to time, become involved in other legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of business,
including the initiation and defense of proceedings to protect intellectual property rights, product liability claims and employment claims. Regardless of
the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
In the opinion of our management, none of the pending litigation, disputes or claims against us will have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, cash flows or results of operations.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
30

PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information; Holders of Record
Our common shares are traded on the TSX under the symbol “DRT” and on Nasdaq under the symbol “DRTT.”
As of February 19, 2020, there were 84,681,364 common shares outstanding and 214 shareholders of record.
Dividends
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common shares to date. The declaration and payment of dividends is at the discretion of
the Board, taking into account (i) our earnings, capital requirements and financial condition, (ii) restrictions on our ability to pay dividends under our
RBC Credit Facility, and (iii) such other factors as the Board considers relevant. Our RBC Credit Facility generally limits our ability to pay any
dividends or make any other distribution on our outstanding capital shares. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations – Credit Facility” for more information.
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Performance Graph
The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative shareholder return of our common shares with the cumulative return of the
S&P/TSX Composite Index and the S&P 600 Building Products Index for the period commencing December 31, 2014 and ending on December 31,
2019. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2014, in our common shares, the shares comprising the S&P/TSX Composite
Index, and the shares comprising the S&P 600 Building Products Index. The below shareholder return calculations are based on the exchange rates as
reported by the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as of the year-end exchange rate for the applicable
period. The comparisons in the table are required by the SEC and applicable securities laws in Canada and are not intended to forecast or be indicative
of possible future performance of our common shares. This graph and related materials shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be deemed “filed”
for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language in any such filing.

$100 investment in stock or index

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
S&P/TSX Composite Index
S&P 600 Building Products Index

Ticker

DRT
SPTSX
SML

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2019

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

100.00
100.00
100.00

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Issuer’s Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
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192.78
75.28
119.97

174.17
91.18
155.69

187.22
103.70
187.18

169.72
84.06
148.26

118.06
105.41
210.89

Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and may not be indicative
of future operating results. The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. The consolidated selected financial data in this section are not intended to replace our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future results.
Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

Revenue
Product revenue
Service revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sales
Product cost of sales
Costs of under-utilized capacity
Service cost of sales
Total cost of sales
Gross profit
Total operating expenses(1)(2)
Operating income (loss)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Interest income
Interest expense
Net income (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Net income (loss)
Income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted
(1)
(2)

2016

$ 240,659
7,046
247,735

$ 266,434
8,247
274,681

$ 216,216
10,323
226,539

$ 196,482
4,882
201,364

153,128
2,240
5,943
161,311
86,424
88,875
(2,451)
1,324
(529)
131
(3,377)
1,019
$ (4,396)

161,844
—
5,828
167,672
107,009
101,315
5,694
(3,214)
(425)
503
8,830
3,280
$ 5,550

131,326
—
9,724
141,050
85,489
91,990
(6,501)
665
(399)
500
(7,267)
458
$ (7,725)

117,600
—
4,620
122,220
79,144
72,114
7,030
433
(457)
213
6,841
2,942
$ 3,899

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

(0.05)
(0.05)

0.07
0.07

(0.09)
(0.09)

0.05
0.05

In 2019, 2018 and 2017, we incurred $4.6 million, $7.4 million and $1.1 million in reorganization expenses, respectively. See Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Results of Operations” for more information.
In 2018, we incurred $8.7 million in impairment expenses. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Result of Operations – Results of Operations” for more information.

Balance Sheet
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Assets
Total Liabilities
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2019

As of December 31,
2018
(in thousands)

2017

$ 47,174
$ 175,563
$ 50,576

$ 53,412
$175,911
$ 52,397

$ 63,484
$ 174,438
$ 47,919

ITEM 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018 together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information appearing in this Annual Report.
Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report, including information with respect to our
plans and strategy for our business, operations, and product candidates, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You
should review the sections of this Annual Report captioned “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a
discussion of important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking
statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
We have revised our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Profit, non-GAAP financial measures, for the presented periods. For
additional information, see “– Non-GAAP Financial Measures – EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017.” and “– Non-GAAP Financial Measures – Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin for the Years Ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017.”
Overview
We are an innovative manufacturing company featuring a proprietary software and virtual reality visualization platform, coupled with vertically
integrated manufacturing that designs, configures and manufactures prefabricated interior solutions used primarily in commercial, healthcare and
educational spaces across a wide range of industries and businesses. We combine innovative product design with our industry-leading, proprietary ICE
Software, and technology-driven, lean manufacturing practices and sustainable materials to provide end-to-end solutions for the traditionally inefficient
and fragmented interior construction industry. We create customized interiors with the aesthetics of conventional construction but with greater schedule
and cost certainty, shorter lead times, greater future flexibility, and better environmental sustainability than conventional construction.
Our ICE Software allows us to sell, design, visualize (including 3D virtual reality modeling of interiors), configure, price, communicate, engineer,
specify, order and manage projects, thereby reducing challenges associated with traditional construction, including cost overruns, change orders,
inconsistent quality, delays and material waste. While other software programs and virtual reality tools are used in the architectural and construction
industries, we believe our ICE Software is the only interior construction technology that provides end-to-end integration and management, from design
through engineering, manufacturing and installation. Our interior construction solutions include prefabricated, customized interior modular walls,
ceilings, and floors; decorative and functional millwork; power infrastructure; network infrastructure; and pre-installed medical gas piping systems. We
strive to incorporate environmentally sustainable materials and reusable components into our solutions while creating flexible, functional and welldesigned environments for the people who will use them.
We offer our interior construction solutions throughout the United States and Canada, as well as in select international markets, through a network
of independent Distribution Partners and an internal sales team. Our Distribution Partners use ICE to work with end users to envision and design their
spaces, and orders are electronically routed through ICE to our manufacturing facilities for production, packing and shipping. Our Distribution Partners
then coordinate the receipt and installations of our interior solutions at the end users’ locations.
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Summary of Financial Results
•

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $247.7 million, a decline of $27.0 million or 10% from $274.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. We believe we have been subject to a disruption in sales activity levels particularly as it relates to larger projects, as discussed below,
beginning in 2018 and carrying through 2019. This disruption stems from the distraction of significant management changes during 2018 on a long sales
cycle combined with the immature and transitional state of our sales and marketing function, which limited our ability to take advantage of growth
opportunities in our market for 2019. Our revenue in 2019 was directly affected by this disruption and we experienced a sequential decrease in revenues
in the fourth quarter of 2019 from the third quarter of 2019.

•

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $86.4 million or 34.9% of revenue, a decline of $20.6 million or 19% from $107.0 million or
39.0% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018. This reduction was attributable to our decline in revenues, the impact of fixed costs on lower
revenues, $2.5 million of incremental costs to mitigate a previously disclosed tile warping issue, and a $2.5 million increase in our provision because we
determined that timber included in certain projects installed between 2016 and 2019 may not meet certain building class fire retardant specifications under
which they were sold. We are in the process of notifying customers and are actively testing solutions which, if successful, could significantly reduce this
liability.

•

Adjusted Gross Profit (see “– Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $97.9 million or 39.5% of revenue, a
$18.6 million or 16.0% decline from $116.5 million or 42.4% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 for the above noted reasons. Excluded
from Adjusted Gross Profit in 2019 are $2.2 million of costs of overhead associated with operating at lower than normal capacity levels in the fourth
quarter, which were charged directly and separately to cost of sales rather than as costs attributable to production.

•

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $4.4 million, a reduction of $10.0 million from net income of $5.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The decline reflects the above noted reduction in gross profit, $5.7 million of one-time costs, discussed below, $1.3 million of
litigation costs and a $4.5 million increase in foreign exchange loss. These cost increases were partially offset by a $3.4 million reduction in commission
expenses, a $2.8 million reduction in reorganization expenditures, no impairments in 2019 compared to an $8.7 million impairment in 2018, a
$2.3 million reduction in income tax expense, and other operating expenditure reductions.

•

Adjusted EBITDA (see “– Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $18.2 million or 7.4%, a decline of $20.9 million
or 53% from $39.1 million or 14.2% for the year ended December 31, 2018 for the above noted reasons. In the current period, we changed our calculation
of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude the impacts of foreign exchange to improve year-on-year comparability of Adjusted EBITDA.

Outlook
On November 12, 2019, DIRTT unveiled a four-year strategic plan for the Company, based on three key pillars: commercial execution, manufacturing
excellence and innovation. This plan lays out a roadmap to transform a founder-led start-up into a professionally managed operating company. Our objective is
to scale our operations to profitably capture the significant market opportunity available from driving conversion from conventional construction to DIRTT’s
process of modular, prefabricated interiors.
The strategic plan is designed to create a foundation for sustainable and profitable growth; however, in the interim, we have been subject to a disruption in
sales activity levels particularly as it relates to larger projects, as discussed below, beginning in 2018 and carrying through 2019. This disruption stems from the
distraction of significant management changes during 2018 on a long sales cycle combined with the immature and transitional state of our sales and marketing
function, which limited our ability to take advantage of growth opportunities in our market for 2019. Our revenue in 2019 was directly affected by this
disruption and we experienced a sequential decrease in revenues in the fourth quarter of 2019 from the third quarter of 2019. A similar percentage decrease has
continued into the first two months of 2020 relative to the first two months of the fourth quarter of 2019.
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We have a stable base business of small- to mid-size projects that our distribution partners and sales representatives are well positioned to maintain and
grow, but we currently lack a pipeline of larger projects. We consider larger projects as projects or clients greater than $2 million with such projects often
spanning multiple reporting periods. We are actively working to build this pipeline with our new strategic accounts and large project teams and an enhanced
commercial function. This is a key goal of our strategic plan; however, such projects require a longer sales cycle and, as discussed at our November 12, 2019
Analyst Day, the realization of sales from our activities is not expected until the second half of 2020 at the earliest or into 2021.
Within the commercial function – which encompasses people and organizational structure; strategic marketing; sales excellence and Distribution Partner
experience – we have been actively recruiting for the 50 newly-created or open positions we identified as key to building out our sales and marketing
organization. As of February 25, 2020, we have hired 11 individuals. These include the key roles of vice president of strategic marketing, who will be critical to
creating a strategic marketing capability that has never existed at DIRTT, as well as a vice president of commercial operations, who is expected to significantly
enhance our sales analysis and forecasting. Although identifying and recruiting the right mix of experience and talent is a time-consuming process, our goal
remains to have all open positions filled by the end of 2020.
Our targeted approach to developing and growing strategic national accounts is showing early promise. In particular, we are actively working on
agreements for four new accounts and the expansion of two existing accounts with several other relationships in development. These opportunities often entail a
multi-year sales effort and generally start with smaller projects, growing over time as the commercial relationship strengthens. We expect several small projects
to commence in the second half of 2020.
Enhancing our Distribution Partner network, an integral part of our go-to-market strategy, remains a priority. As of February 25, 2020, we have increased
our regional coverage with seven existing Distribution Partners expanding into new regions, including two in a major commercial real estate market in the
Eastern U.S. that was highly underpenetrated and contains substantial growth opportunities. These are strong partners with a demonstrated track record of
success and commitment to DIRTT and who appreciate how we can work together to capitalize on market opportunities. In 2019, these partners accounted for
approximately 14% of DIRTT’s sales.
In late 2019 and early 2020, we terminated relationships with four underperforming Distribution Partners representing 1.5% of 2019 sales in the aggregate
who did not align with our partnership model and strategic growth priorities.
In February 2020, we launched two digital marketing campaigns, a first for our organization, to increase brand awareness. These target general
contractors and key decision makers in our healthcare and education market verticals. We also began a full refresh of our Chicago DIRTT Experience Center
(“DXC”) which we anticipate being completed in time to host our annual Connext tradeshow in June. In addition, we are exploring the development or refresh
of DXCs in other key geographic areas.
Within our manufacturing operation, we achieved a 50% reduction in safety-related total recordable incident frequency (TRIF) rates at year end compared
to 2018, and in January of 2020, we had a recordable injury-free month. We believe our goal of having TRIF rates below the Bureau of Labor Statistics standard
is achievable in 2020. We are recording improvements in both quality and delivery objectives, a key contributor to achieving sales excellence with our partners
and clients, which will continue to be a focus in 2020. In February 2020, we commissioned a new manufacturing line enabling us to bring in-house the priming
function that addresses the tile warping issue that occurred in 2018 and 2019. At a total cost of $1.8 million, we anticipate a payback of 18 to 24 months.
In late 2019 and early 2020, we identified and addressed excess labor capacity in our factories. Initiatives undertaken and planned include both planned
shutdowns of our production facilities during slower periods and a 14% head count reduction of factory employees. We believe that the productivity and
efficiency improvements outlined in our strategic plan will enable us to return to higher revenue levels without reinstating headcount. We will continue to
monitor activity levels over the course of the year and adjust as necessary.
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Innovation remains at the core of our strategy and we continue to invest accordingly. We are working to bring our newest innovations, the Inspire low
profile and Reflect ultra-sleek glass wall systems, into our proprietary ICE software system in the second and third quarters of 2020, respectively. This
simplifies the design and specification for the sales function, streamlines the interaction with the factory and speeds up the delivery of new products to meet the
strong reception we have received from partners and clients. We are also developing related sales and marketing materials for our Distribution Partners.
We are focused on maintaining a strong balance sheet and are actively managing both operational and capital expenditures even as we continue to make
investments that directly support our commercial strategy and innovation efforts. Our capital investments are focused on improving safety and advancing our
commercial and innovation strategies. Excluding the South Carolina facility, discussed in more detail below, capital expenditures in 2020 are expected to be
between $12 million and $15 million. These expenditures include our Chicago DXC refresh, CRM implementation and software development activities as well
as ongoing sustaining activities in our plants and offices.
With respect to our new South Carolina tile and millwork facility, approximately $4.5 million of equipment deposits were paid in 2019. This facility
reduces single plant reliance risk and is designed to improve material yield and significantly improved labor efficiency. Construction of the building shell by the
developer is underway, and key components of the manufacturing equipment are expected to be delivered to site in the third quarter of 2020, with related 2020
spending of approximately $7.5 million. The $6.5 million balance of the facility’s $18.5 million expected cost relates primarily to commissioning and other
activities. We are on schedule and on budget for the commencement of commercial operations in the first quarter of 2021. We have flexibility to defer the $6.5
million of expenditures and amend the commissioning date based on business activity levels.
During 2019, we made substantial progress in our working capital management, finishing the year with net working capital of $58.6 million compared to
$69.8 million at December 31, 2018. This included cash balances of $47.2 million with no debt compared to cash, net of debt, at December 31, 2018 of $47.8
million. We will continue this focus on working capital efficiency in 2020.
Looking forward, we see early indications of improvements in activity levels and are encouraged by ongoing discussions with Distribution Partners. We
are enthused about the quality of candidates we have hired into the sales and marketing organization and have had strong reception to the new products we
introduced in October. It remains too early to quantify the impact that this progress will have on our revenues for 2020. We remain confident in the roadmap we
laid out to deliver positive change within the organization; however, given the slower start to the year, 2020 may be a lower revenue year than 2019. We are
intently focused on exiting the year with the organizational foundation in place to support our strategic plan and achieve our financial targets for 2023, which
call for revenue of $450 million to $550 million and an Adjusted EBITDA Margin of 18% - 22%.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Note Regarding Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. These GAAP financial statements include non-cash charges and other
charges and benefits that we believe are unusual or infrequent in nature or that we believe may make comparisons to our prior or future performance difficult.
As a result, we also provide financial information in this Annual Report that is not prepared in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an
alternative to the information prepared in accordance with GAAP. Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures in its review and evaluation of the
financial performance of the Company. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures also provide additional insight to investors and securities analysts
as supplemental information to our GAAP results and as a basis to compare our financial performance from period-over-period and to compare our financial
performance with that of other companies. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures facilitate comparisons of our core operating results from period
to period and to other companies by removing the effects of our capital structure (net interest income on cash deposits, interest expense on outstanding debt, or
foreign exchange movements), asset base (depreciation and amortization), the impact of under-utilized capacity on gross profit, tax consequences and stockbased compensation. In addition, management bases certain forward-looking estimates and budgets on non-GAAP financial measures, primarily Adjusted
EBITDA.
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For the current year, we removed the impact of all foreign exchange from Adjusted EBITDA. Foreign exchange gains and losses can vary significantly
period-on-period due to the impact of changes in the U.S. and Canadian dollar exchange rates on foreign currency denominated monetary items on the balance
sheet and are not reflective of the underlying operations of the Company. We have presented a reconciliation to our prior calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for
all years presented. Additionally, in the current year, we have excluded from Adjusted Gross Profit costs associated with under-utilized capacity. Fixed
production overheads are allocated to inventory on the basis of normal capacity of the production facilities. In periods where production levels are abnormally
low, unallocated overheads are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Reorganization expenses, impairment expenses, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, and foreign exchange are excluded
from our non-GAAP financial measures because management considers them to be outside of the Company’s core operating results, even though some
of those expenses may recur, and because management believes that each of these items can distort the trends associated with the Company’s ongoing
performance. We believe that excluding these expenses provides investors and management with greater visibility to the underlying performance of the
business operations, enhances consistency and comparativeness with results in prior periods that do not, or future periods that may not, include such
items, and facilitates comparison with the results of other companies in our industry.
The following non-GAAP financial measures are presented in this Annual Report, and a description of the calculation for each measure is
included.
Adjusted Gross Profit, as previously presented

Gross profit before deductions for depreciation and amortization

Adjusted Gross Profit

Gross profit before deductions for costs of under-utilized capacity, depreciation and amortization

Adjusted Gross Profit Margin

Adjusted Gross Profit divided by revenue

EBITDA

Net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA, as previously presented

EBITDA adjusted for non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses on debt revaluation; impairment
expenses; stock-based compensation expense; reorganization expenses; and any other non-core
gains or losses

Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA adjusted for foreign exchange gains or losses; impairment expenses; stock-based
compensation expense; reorganization expenses; and any other non-core gains or losses

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue

You should carefully evaluate these non-GAAP financial measures, the adjustments included in them, and the reasons we consider them
appropriate for analysis supplemental to our GAAP information. Each of these non-GAAP financial measures has important limitations as an analytical
tool due to exclusion of some but not all items that affect the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. You should not consider any of these
non-GAAP financial measures in isolation or as substitutes for an analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. You should also be aware that we
may recognize income or incur expenses in the future that are the same as, or similar to, some of the adjustments in these non-GAAP financial
measures. Because these non-GAAP financial measures may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definitions of these
non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing their utility.
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
The following table presents a reconciliation for the year-to-date results of 2019, 2018 and 2017 of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to our net income
(loss), which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure for the periods presented:

2019

(1)
(2)

Year ended December 31,
2018
$ (in thousands)

2017

Net income (loss) for the period
(4,396)
5,550
(7,725)
Add back (deduct):
Interest Expense
131
503
500
Interest Income
(529)
(425)
(399)
Income Tax Expense
1,019
3,280
458
Depreciation and Amortization
12,242
13,699
12,856
EBITDA
8,467
22,607
5,690
Stock-based Compensation Expense (Recovery)
3,876
3,661
2,738
Foreign exchange (Gain) Loss on Debt Revaluation
(211)
546
(731)
Reorganization Expense
4,560
7,380
1,143
Impairment Expense
—
8,680
—
Adjusted EBITDA, as previously presented(1)
16,692
42,874
8,840
Other Foreign Exchange (Gains) Losses
1,535
(3,760)
1,396
Adjusted EBITDA
18,227
39,114
10,236
Net Income Margin(2)
(1.8%)
2.0%
(3.4%)
Adjusted EBITDA, Margin as previously presented(1)
6.7%
15.6%
3.9%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin
7.4%
14.2%
4.5%
As discussed previously, in prior filings, only foreign exchange movements on debt revaluation was included in Adjusted EBITDA.
Net income divided by revenue.

As discussed above, we have removed the impact of all foreign exchange from Adjusted EBITDA and have presented a reconciliation to our prior
calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented above.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin decreased to $18.2 million or 7.4% from $39.1 million or
14.2% in the same period of 2018. This reflects a $18.6 million decrease in Adjusted Gross Profit as discussed below, the $2.2 million costs of underutilized
capacity, the impacts of $5.7 million of one-time costs in operating expenses (which included $2.0 million related to the Sales & Marketing Plan, as defined
below, $2.6 million of costs associated with our listing of common shares on Nasdaq (the “U.S. Listing”) and $1.1 million of operations consulting costs)
compared to $2.1 million of one-time costs in 2018 related to advisory and other costs associated with activist defense and board, advisor and other costs
associated with the work of a special committee of the Board in response to an unsolicited and unsuccessful acquisition bid by a third party. In addition,
approximately $1.3 million of litigation costs incurred in 2019 were partially offset by ongoing cost reductions. The change in calculation of Adjusted EBITDA,
discussed previously, benefited 2019 with the exclusion of an additional $1.5 million in net foreign exchange losses and 2018 Adjusted EBITDA was reduced
by the exclusion of $3.8 million of foreign exchange gains.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin increased respectively to $39.1 million or to 14.2% of revenue in 2018 from $10.2 million or 4.5% of
revenue in 2017. These increases were due to increased sales activity and associated gross profit and a reduction in operating expenses. Additionally, revenue
and associated Adjusted EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2017 were reduced by construction delays resulting from hurricanes in parts of the United States.
These reductions in 2017 partially contributed to the increases to 2018 revenue and Adjusted EBITDA. The change in calculation of Adjusted EBITDA,
discussed previously, reduced 2018 Adjusted EBITDA due to the exclusion of $3.8 million of foreign exchange gains, whereas 2017 Adjusted EBITDA
benefited from the exclusion of $1.4 million of foreign exchange losses.
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Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
The following table presents a reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 of Adjusted Gross Profit to our gross profit,
which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure for the periods presented:

2019

Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
($ in thousands)

86,424
34.9%
9,195
95,619
2,240
97,859
38.6%
39.5%

Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin
Add: Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Adjusted Gross Profit, as previously presented
Add: Costs of under-utilized capacity
Adjusted Gross Profit
Adjusted Gross Profit Margin, as previously presented
Adjusted Gross Profit Margin

107,009
39.0%
9,528
116,537
—
116,537
42.4%
42.4%

85,489
37.7%
8,705
94,194
—
94,194
41.6%
41.6%

Gross profit and gross profit margin decreased to $86.4 million, or 34.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2019, from $107.0 million or 39.0%
for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease is largely due to reduced fixed cost leverage due to a $27.0 million decline in revenues. During the
year, we incurred $2.5 million of incremental costs (1.1% reduction in gross profit margin) to mitigate further warping of our tiles. Following the
completion of third-party testing in 2019, we determined that timber included in certain projects installed between 2016 and 2019 potentially did not
meet the fire-retardant specifications that the projects were sold under. As a result, we recorded an additional $2.5 million liability and are in the process
of contacting customers to determine appropriate remedial actions, if any. We are also in the process of evaluating solutions which, if successful, could
significantly reduce the associated liability. We also experienced a $0.7 million reduction in gross profit due to reductions in second quarter gross profit
on installation revenue. During the fourth quarter of 2019, we determined that we were carrying abnormally excess capacity in our manufacturing
facilities as a result of the slowdown in sales. Accordingly, we separately classified $2.2 million as costs attributable to our under-utilized capacity
(0.9% in gross profit margin) in cost of sales. Subsequent to year end, we took further steps to manage our excess capacity, including the reduction in
staffing by 14% and planned factory shutdowns.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2019

(1)

Years ended December 31,
2018
% Change
($ in thousands)

Revenue
247,735
Gross Profit
86,424
Gross Profit Margin
34.9%
Operating Expenses(1)
Sales and Marketing
33,939
General and Administrative
27,645
Operations Support
11,037
Technology and Development
7,818
Stock-based Compensation
3,876
Reorganization
4,560
Impairment
—
Total Operating Expenses
88,875
Operating Income (Loss)
(2,451)
Operating Margin
(1.0%)
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

274,681
107,009
39.0%

(10)
(19)
(11)

40,627
28,722
8,069
4,176
3,661
7,380
8,680
101,315
5,694
2.1%

(16)
(4)
37
87
6
(38)
(100)
(12)
NA
NA

Revenue
The following table sets forth the contribution to revenue of our DIRTT Solutions and related offerings.

2019

Product
Transportation
Licenses
Total Product Revenue
Installation and other services
Total

Years ended December 31,
2018
% Change
($ in thousands)

215,109
23,903
1,647
240,659
7,076
247,735

240,482
24,552
1,400
266,434
8,247
274,681

(11)
(3)
18
(10)
(14)
(10)

Product revenue decreased in the year ended December 31, 2019 by $25.4 million, or 11%, compared to the same period of 2018. Revenue
decreased due to several factors as discussed above in “– Summary of Financial Results” and “– Outlook”, including the impact of certain large projects
in 2018 that were not replaced in 2019. We have been subject to a disruption in sales activity levels particularly as it relates to larger projects, as
discussed below, beginning in 2018 and carrying through 2019. This disruption stems from the distraction of significant management changes during
2018 on a long sales cycle combined with the immature and transitional state of our sales and marketing function, which limited our ability to take
advantage of growth opportunities in our market for 2019. Due to the long sales cycle, particularly for larger projects which can be two years or more,
this had a corresponding negative effect on our revenue in 2019, especially in the last half of the year and continuing into 2020. The effect of this has
lasted longer than we had anticipated. We are in the process of making substantial improvements to our commercial function, including building an
appropriate organizational structure, improving the sales effectiveness of our existing sales force and attracting new sales talent, establishing strategic
marketing and lead generation functions, as well as expanding and better supporting our Distribution
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Partner network. While we believe these actions are critical to driving long-term, sustainable growth, these actions did not have a measurable effect on
2019 revenues.
Installation and other services revenue of $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1.2 million lower than the same period in
2018. The decrease in installation revenue is primarily due to the timing of projects. Except under certain circumstances, our Distribution Partners
perform installation services rather than us; accordingly, we do not anticipate significant growth in this revenue stream.
Our success is partly dependent on our ability to profitably develop our Distribution Partner network to expand our market penetration and ensure
best practices are shared across local markets. We had 87 Distribution Partners at December 31, 2019. Our clients, as serviced primarily through our
Distribution Partners, exist within a variety of industries, including healthcare, education, financial services, government and military, manufacturing,
non-profit, energy, professional services, retail, technology and hospitality.
We periodically analyze our revenue growth by vertical markets in the defined markets of commercial, healthcare, government and education. The
following table presents our product and transportation revenue by vertical market.

2019

Commercial
Healthcare
Government
Education
License fee from Distribution Partners
Total Product Revenue
Installation and other services
Total Revenue

158,256
44,197
14,879
21,680
1,647
240,659
7,076
247,735

2019

(1)

Years ended December 31,
2018
% Change
($ in thousands)

Commercial
Healthcare
Government
Education
Total Product Revenue(1)
Excludes license fees from Distribution Partners.

67
18
6
9
100

163,199
60,748
21,477
19,610
1,400
266,434
8,247
274,681

(3)
(27)
(31)
11
18
(10)
(14)
(10)

Years ended December 31,
2018
% Change
(in %)

62
23
8
7
100

8
(22)
(25)
29
NA

Revenue decreased by 10% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the prior year primarily due to decreased healthcare sales, which
reflects the completion of a major healthcare project in 2018 that was not replaced in 2019 and reductions in government sales mainly as a result of the
timing of projects and reduced installation activity, partially offset by growth in the education sector.
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Revenue continues to be derived almost exclusively from projects in North America and predominantly from the United States, with periodic
international projects from North American Distribution Partners. The following table presents our revenue dispersion by geography.

2019

Canada
United States
International
Total

Years ended December 31,
2018
% Change
($ in thousands)

34,085
213,650
—
247,735

41,153
232,035
1,493
274,681

(17)
(8)
NA
(10)

Sales & Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses decreased $6.7 million to $33.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, from $40.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018. Included in sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $2.0 million of one-time consulting
costs related to the sales and marketing plan developed with the assistance of an internationally recognized consulting firm (“Sales & Marketing Plan”).
These costs were offset by a reduction of $3.4 million in commission expense for the year ended December 31, 2019, respectively, on lower revenues.
We reduced travel meals and entertainment by $2.6 million due to continued attention to cost reductions. None of these expense reductions are expected
to materially affect our future sales revenue. Salaries and benefits declined $1.0 million due to reductions in sales and marketing personnel year on year,
of which we are working to appropriately fill open positions as previously discussed. Finally, the current year includes a $0.9 million reduction from
2018 as a result of lower rent and operating costs associated with closure of certain of the Company’s DXC’s at the end of 2018.
Our sales and marketing efforts in 2019 were largely concentrated on commencing the establishment of an appropriate sales organization,
significantly improving our marketing approach and driving returns on sales and marketing expenditures. In the second and third quarters of 2019, we
developed our Sales & Marketing Plan to evaluate our current sales and marketing approach and assist in the development of action plans necessary to
drive accelerated growth. These action plans are a key component of the strategic plan which we presented in November 2019. As we implement this
plan, we expect sales and marketing expense to increase as a percentage of revenues, reflecting targeted increases in our commercial organization
headcount, establishment of strategic marketing campaigns, and implementation of related systems and tools to improve both the effectiveness of our
sales force and our overall Distribution Partner support. Our ongoing focus is to continue to control costs by emphasizing return on investment on our
sales and marketing expenditures.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses decreased $1.1 million to $27.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $28.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2018. In 2019, personnel costs were lower as a result of reductions in headcount and variable compensation offset by
$1.3 million in costs associated with ongoing litigation, as discussed in this Annual Report. In 2018, we incurred $1.4 million in costs associated with
activist defense and $0.7 million of board, advisor and other costs associated with the work of a special committee of the Board in response to an
unsolicited and unsuccessful acquisition bid by a third party. These reductions were partially offset by $2.6 million of costs related to the U.S. Listing
incurred in the year ended December 31, 2019. We anticipate in 2020 that ongoing and incremental non-U.S. Listing related costs as a result of
becoming a U.S. registrant will be approximately $1.5 to $2.0 million higher in 2020 than in 2019, driven largely by increased director and officer
insurance premiums, the costs of maintaining two listings, and expected increases in audit, legal, and other compliance costs.
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Operations Support Expenses
Operations support is comprised primarily of project managers, order entry and other professionals that facilitate the integration of our
Distribution Partner project execution and our manufacturing operations. Operations support expenses increased $3.0 million to $11.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, from $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, due to an increase in consulting costs during the year, as well
as increases in personnel costs. Consultant costs of $1.1 million were incurred to assist with the evaluation of current operations and to assist with the
rectification of the tile warping issue and increases in personnel costs due to increased headcount to better support project execution and support of our
Distribution Partners.
Technology and Development Expenses
Technology and development includes our software development teams and our product development activities. Technology and development
expenses increased $3.6 million to $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
These increases are due to a $1.7 million decrease in capitalized salaries for the year ended December 31, 2019, as the current mix of projects
undertaken by us included a higher portion of efforts related to business process improvements that were not eligible for capitalization. Additionally, for
the year ended December 31, 2019 we had additional salary and benefit costs of $0.7 million that were classified as cost of sales of technical services
during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Stock-Based Compensation
During the third quarter of 2018, we determined that we no longer qualified as a Foreign Private Issuer (“FPI”) under the rules of the SEC. To
minimize any undue effects on employees, our Board approved the availability of a cash surrender feature for certain options, including options issued
under our Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (“Option Plan”), until such time as we requalified as a FPI or we registered our common
shares with the SEC, which occurred on October 9, 2019 upon our listing on Nasdaq. Accordingly, we accounted for the fair value of outstanding stock
options at the end of the reporting period as a liability, with changes in the liability recorded through net income as a stock-based compensation fair
value adjustment. On October 9, 2019, we ceased allowing cash surrender of options and returned to equity accounting under the Option Plan without
quarterly fair value adjustments at that date.
Stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3.9 million compared to $3.7 million for the same period of 2018. Prior to
the return to equity settled accounting, we had a liability of $1.8 million. Stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2018 included a
$0.2 million fair value adjustments on cash settled stock options.
Reorganization Expenses
We recorded $4.6 million of reorganization expenses in 2019 compared to $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. These costs
included severance payments, and related legal and consulting costs associated with management and organizational changes.
Impairment Expenses
DIRTT Timber
During 2018, management decided to shift from the early stage development of its DIRTT Timber market to a commercialized approach focused
on large, standalone timber projects and as a tie-in to our other DIRTT Solutions. Management concluded that this strategy required significantly less
timber capacity than existed and took steps to adjust its timber capacity by the end of 2018. Management determined these decisions to be an indicator
of impairment of the assets of the DIRTT Timber solution.
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During 2018, management performed an assessment of the carrying values of DIRTT Timber’s property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”). To
determine the impairment of the DIRTT Timber assets, the net book value of the assets was evaluated against the fair value of the assets. The fair value
of the DIRTT Timber assets reflects current projected sales for timber projects on a standalone basis and the pull-through impact to other DIRTT
Solutions. In its evaluation, management determined it was unable to reliably quantify the pull-through impact of timber on other DIRTT Solutions. The
equipment related to the timber market was custom built for DIRTT, and there is no active market for resale. Therefore, the fair value was determined to
be management’s estimate of scrap value for the specialized assets and an estimated resale value for less specialized assets that cannot be redeployed for
other DIRTT Solutions. Management estimated the expected resale values based on the current market and industry knowledge. The fair value of the
timber assets was estimated to be $1.1 million. This assessment resulted in an impairment charge of $6.1 million during 2018.
Leasehold and Other Assets
During 2018, management reviewed the facilities used in our operations and the corresponding leases in place to determine whether assets were
impaired or whether the costs of meeting lease obligations exceeded the economic benefits expected to be received. The outcome of this review was the
consolidation of our production in Kelowna, British Columbia, into other plants, the consolidation of a distribution center in Calgary, Alberta, into an
existing facility, and discontinued use of other locations that were not considered necessary in our operations. In 2018, we recognized a lease exit
liability of $0.5 million related to these facilities, net of $1.0 million of estimated recoveries from subleases.
The lease exit liability represents the present value of the difference between the minimum future lease payments that we are obligated to make
under the non-cancellable operating lease contract and any estimated sublease recoveries. This estimate may vary as a result of changes in estimated
sublease recoveries. The lease exit liability is estimated to be settled in periods up to and including the year 2023.
In connection with management’s review of our facilities, certain leasehold assets were identified as no longer having future value. These assets
related to leases of locations where activity is being relocated, as well as projects in process that were eliminated. These leasehold and other assets
represented assets with a carrying value of $2.0 million in 2018. As these assets cannot be resold and there is no future use for the assets, the entire
carrying amount was impaired and a corresponding impairment charge of $2.0 million was recorded.
Income Tax
Alberta’s general provincial tax rate decreased on June 28, 2019 from 11.5% to 11% for the second half of 2019, to 10% for 2020, to 9% for 2021
and to 8% thereafter. As a result of this rate change, we reduced our deferred tax asset by $0.9 million, with a corresponding deferred income tax
expense recorded in the second quarter of 2019.
The provision for income taxes is comprised of federal, state, provincial and foreign taxes based on pre-tax income. Income tax expense for the
year ended December 31, 2019, inclusive of the previously noted charge associated with the Alberta tax rate change, was $1.0 million, compared to
$3.3 million for the year-ended December 31, 2018. The reduction was primarily due to a reduction in current taxes as a result of lower activity. As at
December 31, 2019, we had C$38.1 million of loss carry-forwards in Canada and none in the United States, compared to C$43.6 million in Canada and
none in the United States on December 31, 2018. These loss carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2030.
Net Income (loss)
On a year-to-date basis, net loss was $4.4 million or $0.05 net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to net income of
$5.6 million or $0.07 net income per share for the prior year. The variances are primarily the result of a $20.6 million decrease in gross margin, partially
offset by a $12.4 million decrease in operating expenses as described above, as well as a foreign exchange loss of $1.3 million in 2019 compared to a
foreign exchange gain of $3.2 million in 2018. Foreign exchange gains or losses are primarily derived from U.S. dollar denominated cash and
intercompany account balances in the Canadian parent company.
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Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2017
Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2017 is included under the heading Item 2. “Financial Information – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” in our Registration Statement on Form 10, as filed with the SEC on September 20, 2019.
Seasonality
The construction industry has historically seen seasonal slowdowns related to winter weather conditions and holiday schedules in the fourth and
first quarters. Our business has generally, but not always, followed this trend with a slight time lag, leading to stronger sales in the second half of the
year versus the first half.
Due to the fixed nature of some of our manufacturing costs, periods of higher revenue volume tend to generate higher gross profit and operating
income. Quarters that contain consistent monthly manufacturing volumes tend to generate higher gross profit than those where manufacturing levels
vary significantly from month to month. Product and service revenue mix also tends to impact gross profit, as simplistic product and service revenue
mix can result in lower gross profit, while “full solution” or comprehensive product and service revenue mixes tend to have higher gross profit.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2019 totaled $47.2 million, a decrease of $6.2 million from $53.4 million on December 31, 2018. On
January 31, 2019, we repaid $5.6 million of long-term debt outstanding with cash on hand, without penalty. In July 2019, we entered into a
C$50.0 million revolving operating facility with the Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC Credit Facility”). Draw-downs under the RBC Credit Facility are
available in both Canadian and U.S. dollars. The RBC Credit Facility replaced the $18.0 million revolving operating facility with Comerica Bank
(“Comerica Credit Facility”) that expired on June 30, 2019.
Management believes that existing cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to support ongoing working capital
and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including growth
rate, the continued expansion of sales and marketing activities and the introduction of new solutions, software and product enhancements. To the extent
existing cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations are not sufficient to fund future activities, we may seek to raise additional funds
through equity or debt financings. If additional funds are raised through the incurrence of indebtedness, such indebtedness may have rights that are
senior to holders of our equity securities and could contain covenants that restrict operations. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to our
existing shareholders.
Since inception, we have financed operations primarily through cash flows from operations, long-term debt, and the sale of equity securities. Over
the past three years, the we have funded our operations and capital expenditures through a combination of cashflow from operations and cash on hand.
We had no amount outstanding under the RBC Credit Facility at December 31, 2019.
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The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the years indicated:

2019

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
($ in thousands)

13,359
(15,189)
(5,484)
1,076
(6,238)
53,412
47,174

10,065
(13,462)
(3,069)
(3,606)
(10,072)
63,484
53,412

19,432
(19,499)
(9,109)
2,984
(6,192)
69,676
63,484

Operating Activities
Net cash flows provided by operating activities increased to $13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $10.1 million for the
comparative period in 2018. Net cash flows from operations before changes in operating assets and liabilities was $8.4 million (calculated as
$4.4 million of net loss plus $12.8 million of non-cash adjustments) in 2019, compared to $29.1 million (calculated as $5.6 million of net income plus
$23.5 million of non-cash adjustments) in 2018, which largely reflects the 2019 reduction in adjusted gross profit discussed above. Non-cash
adjustments include, among other things, depreciation and amortization expense, impairment expense, stock-based compensation net of cash paid on
surrenders of stock options, and unrealized foreign exchange impacts. The increase in cash flows from operations is largely due to an increase in
collections on accounts receivable balances partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable resulting from timing of payments.
Investing Activities
We invested $12.7 million in PP&E during 2019 compared to $8.6 million in 2018. The increase was primarily due to manufacturing equipment
purchases for the new tile and millwork facility, of which $4.5 million was incurred in the second half of 2019. We invested $3.5 million on capitalized
software and other assets during 2019, as compared to $5.2 million in 2018. The reduction is due to the current mix of projects undertaken by the
Company and included a higher portion of efforts related to business process improvements that were not eligible for capitalization.
Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $5.5 million in 2019. We repaid the balance of $5.6 million on long-term debt outstanding and related
interest during the first quarter of 2019. Cash used in financing activities was $3.1 million in 2018.
We currently expect to fund anticipated future investments with available cash. Apart from cash flow from operations, issuing equity and debt has
been our primary source of capital to date. Additional debt or equity financing may be pursued in the future as we may deem appropriate. We may also
use debt or pursue equity financing depending on the share price at the time, interest rates, and nature of the investment opportunity and economic
climate.
Credit Facility
At December 31, 2019, we had no amounts drawn on our RBC Credit Facility, and we were in compliance with all covenants thereunder. In 2018,
we did not draw on the Comerica Credit Facility. The Comerica Credit Facility expired on June 30, 2019.
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On July 19, 2019, we entered into a C$50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with the Royal Bank of Canada. The RBC Credit
Facility has a three-year term and can be extended for up to two additional years at our option. Interest is calculated at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate
with no adjustment, or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 125 basis points. We are required to comply with certain financial covenants under the RBC
Credit Facility, including maintaining a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.15:1 and a maximum debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of 3.0:1. We
are also required to comply with certain non-financial covenants, including, among other things, covenants restricting our ability to (i) dispose of our
property, (ii) enter into certain transactions intended to effect or otherwise permit a material change in our corporate or capital structure, (iii) incur any
debt, other than permitted debt, and (iv) permit certain encumbrances on our property.
We are generally restricted from making dividends or distributions on our outstanding capital shares (other than any distribution by way of the
payment of dividends by the issuance of equity securities). We may also declare and pay dividends to our shareholders provided that such dividends do
not exceed 50% of the Free Operating Cash Flow (as defined in the RBC Credit Facility) for the most recently completed fiscal year and meet certain
other conditions. We may also make a one-time Permitted Special Distributions (as defined in the RBC Credit Facility) provided that we maintain a
minimum balance of at least C$20.0 million in our account and meet certain other conditions.
The RBC Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our real property located in Canada and the United States.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes DIRTT’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2019:

Less than
1 year

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Current and long-term debt
Customer deposits and deferred revenue
Lease liabilities (undiscounted)
Purchase obligations
Total

20,384
5,187
—
3,567
5,419
6,807
41,364
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Payments due by period
Greater than
1 to 3 years
3 to 5 years
5 years
($ in thousands)

—
—
—
—
10,296
—
10,296

—
—
—
—
4,439
—
4,439

—
—
—
—
4,469
—
4,469

Total

20,384
5,187
—
3,567
24,623
6,807
60,568

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Our critical accounting estimates include the areas where we have made what we consider to be particularly difficult, subjective or complex judgements
in making estimates, and where these estimates can significantly affect our financial results under different assumptions and conditions. We prepare our
financial statements in conformity with GAAP. As a result, we are required to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are
reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Actual results could be different from these
estimates. Critical estimates and assumptions made by management include:
Estimates of liabilities associated with the potential and amount of warranty, legal claims and other contingencies
We have warranty obligations with respect to manufacturing defects on most of our manufactured products. Warranty periods generally range from 1 to
10 years. We have recorded a reserve for estimated warranty and related costs based on historical experience and periodically adjust these provisions to
reflect actual experience. We assess the adequacy of our warranty accrual on a quarterly basis, and adjust the previous amounts recorded, if necessary, to
reflect the change in estimate of the future costs of claims yet to be serviced. Typically, product deficiencies requiring our warranty are identified and
remediated within a year of production. The following provides information with respect to our warranty accrual. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we
had $4.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively, accrued for warranty and other provisions, and third-party costs associated with remedying deficiencies
were $2.6 million during the fiscal 2019, as compared to $2.1 million during fiscal 2018. Following the completion of third-party testing in 2019, we
determined that timber included in certain projects installed between 2016 and 2019 potentially did not meet the fire-retardant specifications that the
projects were sold under. As a result, we recorded a $2.5 million liability and are in the process of contacting customers to determine appropriate
remedial actions, if any. We are in discussions with our insurance carrier to determine how much, if any, of this liability is covered by insurance. We
have ceased selling timber to projects with those particular specifications until such time as we have a permanent solution. We are also in the process of
evaluating solutions which, if successful, could significantly reduce the associated liability. The current year expenditures primarily relates to the
previously noted increase in the incidence of tile warping as a result of a change in the composition of the underlying medium density fiberboard
substrate. This issue is currently being addressed, and our warranty provision may change as the assessment of this issue changes.
We establish reserves for estimated legal contingencies when we believe a loss on litigation is probable and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Revisions to contingent liability reserves are reflected in operations in the period in which there are changes in facts and
circumstances that affect our previous assumptions with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Reserves for contingent liabilities are based upon
our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter. We estimate the probable cost by evaluating historical precedent as well as
the specific facts relating to each contingency (including the opinion of outside advisors). Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and
estimates, or other events result in a material adjustment to the accrued estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities
would be required and would be recognized in the period the new information becomes known. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $0.7 million
and $2.0 million, respectively, provided for legal provisions.
Estimates of useful lives of depreciable assets and the fair value of long-term assets used for impairment calculations
We evaluate the recoverability of our PP&E and capitalized software costs when events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment exists. If impairment is indicated, the impairment loss is measured as the amount the assets carrying value exceeds the fair value of the
assets.
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Our determination of the fair value associated with long-term assets involve significant estimates and assumptions, including those with respect to
the determination of asset groups, future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates, and asset lives. These significant estimates require considerable
judgment, which could affect our future results if the current estimates of future performance and fair values change.
We estimate the useful lives of PP&E and capitalized software costs based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for
use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear,
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant assets. In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of the
relevant assets may be based on internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations
could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded
expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the PP&E and
capitalized software assets would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets.
Estimates of future taxable earnings used to assess the realizable value of deferred tax assets
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise from
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts reported in the financial statements. Deferred income tax
assets also reflect the benefit of unutilized tax losses that can be carried forward to reduce income taxes in future years. Such method requires the
exercise of significant judgment in determining whether or not our deferred tax assets are probable of recovery from taxable income of future years and,
therefore, can be recognized in the financial statements. Also, estimates are required to determine the expected timing upon which tax assets will be
realized and upon which tax liabilities will be settled. We assess the ability to recover our deferred tax assets every quarter and concluded that deferred
tax assets should be recovered in the normal course of operations.
Tax interpretations, regulations and legislations in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate
The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and the interpretation and application of
complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes reflects a combination of income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, and Canadian
federal and provincial jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law changes increase or decreases in permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals
or adjustments of accruals for tax contingencies or valuation allowances, and the change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect
the overall effective tax rate.
We have no liability for uncertain tax positions. However, should we accrue for such liabilities, when and if they arise in the future, we will
recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as part of our income tax provision.
Estimates of the fair value of stock awards, including whether the performance criteria will be met and measurement of the ultimate payout
amount
We use a fair-value based approach for measuring stock-based compensation and record compensation expense over an award’s vesting period
based on the award’s fair value at the date of grant. Our awards vest based on service conditions, and compensation expense is recognized on a straightline basis. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized only for those awards that ultimately vest.
Prior to October 2019, we allowed certain vested share options to be surrendered for cash, resulting in the share options being accounted for as
liabilities at fair value every period, which increases the sensitivity of our accounting to share price movements.
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Estimates of ability and timeliness of customer payments of accounts receivable
Our allowance for doubtful accounts reflects reserves for customer receivables to reduce receivables to amounts expected to be collected.
Management uses significant judgment in estimating uncollectible amounts. In estimating uncollectible accounts, management considers factors such as
current overall economic conditions, industry-specific economic conditions, historical customer performance and anticipated customer performance.
While we believe these processes effectively address our exposure for doubtful accounts and credit losses have historically been within expectations,
changes in the economy, industry, or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts. We have a contract
with a trade credit insurance provider, whereby a portion of its trade receivables are insured. The trade credit insurance provider determines the coverage
amount, if any, on a customer-by-customer basis. Based on our trade receivables balance as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, nil and 70%, respectively,
of that balance was covered by trade credit insurance provider.
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had an allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.1 million.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please refer to Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our financial assets and liabilities consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, and long-term debt. We are exposed to market, credit and liquidity risks associated with financial assets and liabilities. We currently do not
use financial derivatives to reduce exposures from changes in foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, or interest rates. We do not hold or use any
derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Our Board has responsibility for the establishment and approval of overall risk management
policies, including those related to financial instruments. Management performs continuous assessments to ensure that all significant risks related to
financial instruments are reviewed and addressed in light of changes to market conditions and operating activities.
Credit risk
Our principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables.
Our credit risk is primarily concentrated in our trade receivables as we do not believe that we are exposed to any significant credit risk related to
our cash and cash equivalents. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet for trade and other receivables are net of allowances for doubtful
accounts. Allowances are provided for known and anticipated credit losses and disputed amounts. In order to reduce our risk, management maintains
credit policies that include regular review of credit limits of individual Distribution Partners and systematic monitoring of aging of trade receivables.
Trade balances are spread over a broad Distribution Partner base, which is geographically dispersed. No Distribution Partner accounts for greater than
10% of revenue. In addition, and where possible, we collect a 50% deposit on sales, excluding government and certain other clients.
Prior to October 1, 2019, we had a contract with a trade credit insurance provider, whereby a portion of our trade receivables were insured. The
trade credit insurance provider determined the coverage amount, if any, on an individual Distribution Partner or client basis. We discontinued this
insurance before the end of 2019. Based on our trade receivables balance for 2018, 70% of that balance was covered by the trade credit insurance
provider. We discontinued trade credit insurance as our sales are typically to our Distribution Partners with whom we have had ongoing relationships
and historically we have had limited instances of non-collections.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, will affect our income or the value
of the financial instruments held.
Foreign exchange risk
Historically, the majority (approximately 80% to 85%) of our revenue is collected in U.S. dollars, and approximately 60% of our costs are also
incurred in U.S. dollars. Most other revenue and costs are denominated in Canadian dollars. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar
against the Canadian dollar, which could have a positive or negative impact on our revenue and costs. The recent weakening of the U.S. dollar versus
the Canadian dollar has had a negative impact on results because reported cost reductions are less than reported revenue reductions.
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Our financial instruments are exposed primarily to fluctuations in the Canadian dollar. The following table details our exposure to currency risk at
the reporting dates and a sensitivity analysis to changes in currency. The sensitivity analysis includes Canadian dollar-denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at period end for their respective change in the Canadian dollar. For the respective weakening of the Canadian dollar, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on net income and comprehensive income.

Amount
(C$ in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventory
Prepaids and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Customer deposits and deferred revenue
Total

C$

C$

880
7,156
15,423
3,326
(16,961)
(400)
(498)
8,926

Change in
currency (%)

10.0%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%
10.0%

Effect of net income
and comprehensive
income for the
year ended
December 31, 2019

C$

C$

88
716
1,542
333
(1,696)
(40)
(50)
893

Commodity price risk
We consume raw materials such as aluminum, hardware, wood and veneer, timber, plastic, electrical wiring and components, paint and powder,
and fabric and vinyl. While aluminum represents the largest component of our raw materials’ expenditures, overall aluminum spend comprises only
approximately 11% of product revenues and, therefore, absolute exposure to price fluctuations has a minimal impact on profitability.
Interest rate risk
In July 2019, we entered into a C$50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with no amounts outstanding at December 31, 2019.
Historically, certain of our financial liabilities are subject to interest charges at floating rates and are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. Term loans
under the previous revolving operating facility were repaid without penalty in January of 2019. At December 31, 2018, $5.6 million was outstanding on
the previous revolving operating facility and was subject to floating interest rates. An increase in overall interest rates by 0.5% would have increased
interest expense related to these items and decrease net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) by $nil for 2019 and $0.1 million for 2018. An
equal decrease in rates would generate an equal amount of interest savings.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together, the Company) as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2019 due to the
adoption of ASC Topic 842, Leases.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As
part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Canada
February 25, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
111-5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3
T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)
As at December 31,
2019
2018

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $0.1 million at both December 31, 2019 and 2018
Inventory
Prepaids and other current assets
Total Current Assets

47,174
24,941
17,566
3,340
93,021

53,412
43,873
18,650
2,217
118,152

41,365
8,213
20,661
5,364
1,421
5,518
175,563

36,728
8,335
—
6,083
1,353
5,260
175,911

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other liabilities
Customer deposits and deferred revenue
Current portion of lease liability
Current portion of long-term debt
Total Current Liabilities

20,384
5,187
3,567
5,287
—
34,425

31,283
6,823
7,701
—
2,500
48,307

Deferred tax liabilities, net
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities
Long-term debt
Total Liabilities

—
35
16,116
—
50,576

965
—
—
3,125
52,397

180,639
8,343
(18,028)
(45,967)
124,987
175,563

180,562
6,615
(22,092)
(41,571)
123,514
175,911

Property, plant and equipment, net
Capitalized software, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total Assets

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common shares, unlimited authorized without par value, 84,681,364 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and
84,660,319 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Product revenue
Service revenue
Total revenue1

240,659
7,076
247,735

266,434
8,247
274,681

216,216
10,323
226,539

Product cost of sales
Costs of under-utilized capacity
Service cost of sales
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

153,128
2,240
5,943
161,311
86,424

161,844
—
5,828
167,672
107,009

131,326
—
9,724
141,050
85,489

Expenses
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Operations support
Technology and development
Stock-based compensation
Reorganization
Impairment
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Interest income
Interest expense

33,939
27,645
11,037
7,818
3,876
4,560
—
88,875
(2,451)
1,324
(529)
131
926
(3,377)

Income (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Net income (loss) for the year
Income (loss) per share
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (stated in thousands)
Basic
Diluted
1

40,627
28,722
8,069
4,176
3,661
7,380
8,680
101,315
5,694
(3,214)
(425)
503
(3,136)
8,830

46,192
28,370
7,212
6,335
2,738
1,143
—
91,990
(6,501)
665
(399)
500
766
(7,267)

1,064
(45)
1,019
(4,396)

2,178
1,102
3,280
5,550

3,277
(2,819)
458
(7,725)

(0.05)

0.07

(0.09)

84,671
84,671

84,477
85,009

84,679
84,679

2019 revenues include $nil from related parties (2018 – $2.9 million, 2017 – $6.7 million)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Net income (loss) for the year
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year

(4,396)
4,064
(332)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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5,550
(9,980)
(4,430)

(7,725)
7,417
(308)

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for share data)

Common
shares

As at December 31, 2016
Shares repurchased
Warrant fair value adjustment
Issued on exercise of warrants
Issued on exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss for the year
As at December 31, 2017

84,878,891
(1,672,187)
—
50,325
967,498
—
—
—
84,224,527

177,712
(2,989)
—
251
3,423
—
—
—
178,397

217
—
34
(251)
—
—
—
—
—

5,632
—
—
—
(1,015)
2,738
—
—
7,355

(19,529)
—
—
—
—
—
7,417
—
(12,112)

(34,655)
(4,741)
—
—
—
—
—
(7,725)
(47,121)

129,377
(7,730)
34
—
2,408
2,738
7,417
(7,725)
126,519

Issued on exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Stock option conversion to cash-settled awards
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net income for the year
As at December 31, 2018

435,792
—
—
—
—
84,660,319

2,165
—
—
—
—
180,562

—
—
—
—
—
—

(628)
2,190
(2,302)
—
—
6,615

—
—
—
(9,980)
—
(22,092)

—
—
—
—
5,550
(41,571)

1,537
2,190
(2,302)
(9,980)
5,550
123,514

Issued on exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss for the year
As at December 31, 2019

21,045
—
—
—
84,681,364

77
—
—
—
180,639

—
—
—
—
—

(1)
1,729
—
—
8,343

—
—
4,064
—
(18,028)

—
—
—
(4,396)
(45,967)

76
1,729
4,064
(4,396)
124,987

Warrants

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Number of
Common
shares

Accumulated
deficit

Total
shareholders’
equity

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) for the year
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation, net of cash settlements
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
Impairment
Warrant fair value adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables
Inventory
Prepaid and other current assets
Other assets
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Customer deposits
Net cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Capitalized software development and other asset expenditures
Recovery of software development expenditures
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Changes in accounts payable related to investing activities
Net cash flows used in investing activities

(4,396)

5,550

(7,725)

12,242
202
345
53
(45)
—
—

13,699
1,870
(1,902)
67
1,102
8,680
—

12,856
2,738
(199)
27
(2,819)
—
34

21,025
1,667
(1,035)
162
(12,183)
(402)
(4,276)
13,359

(26,613)
(285)
(319)
181
6,132
—
1,903
10,065

6,120
(2,215)
(378)
(60)
8,664
—
2,389
19,432

(12,702)
(3,452)
511
55
399
(15,189)

(8,634)
(5,234)
178
60
168
(13,462)

(14,396)
(5,496)
203
109
81
(19,499)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash received on exercise of stock options
Repayment of long-term debt
Shares repurchased
Net cash flows used in financing activities

77
(5,561)
—
(5,484)

1,537
(4,606)
—
(3,069)

2,408
(3,787)
(7,730)
(9,109)

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

1,076
(6,238)
53,412
47,174

(3,606)
(10,072)
63,484
53,412

2,984
(6,192)
69,676
63,484

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

(99)
(2,518)

(503)
(3,816)

(609)
(2,760)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Amounts stated in thousands of U.S. dollars unless otherwise stated)
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“DIRTT” or the “Company”) is a leading technology-driven manufacturer of highly
customized interiors. DIRTT combines its proprietary 3D design, configuration and manufacturing software (“ICE®” or “ICE Software”) with integrated
in-house manufacturing of its innovative prefabricated interior construction solutions and an extensive distribution partners network. ICE provides
accurate design, drawing, specification, pricing and manufacturing process information, allowing rapid production of high-quality custom solutions
using fewer resources than traditional manufacturing methods. ICE is also licensed to unrelated companies and distribution partners of the Company.
DIRTT is incorporated under the laws of the province of Alberta, Canada and its headquarters and registered office is located at 7303 – 30th Street S.E.,
Calgary, AB, Canada T2C 1N6. DIRTT trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange “TSX” under the symbol “DRT” and, effective October 9, 2019, trades
on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “DRTT”.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements (“Financial Statements”), including comparative figures, have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
In these Financial Statements, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are expressed in United States (“U.S.”) dollars. DIRTT’s financial results
are consolidated in Canadian dollars, the Company’s functional currency, and the Company has adopted the U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. All
references to US$ or $ are to U.S. dollars and references to C$ are to Canadian dollars.
Reclassification
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation (see Note 16).
Principles of consolidation
The Financial Statements include the accounts of DIRTT and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances, income and expenses, unrealized gains and
losses and dividends resulting from intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.
Basis of measurement
These Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except for certain financial instruments and stock-based compensation
that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for assets.
Use of estimates
The preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the Financial Statements.
Estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other factors that management considers reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates.
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Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include:
•

Estimates of ability and timeliness of customer payments of accounts receivable;

•

Estimates of useful lives of depreciable assets and the fair value of long-term assets used for impairment calculations;

•

Estimates of future taxable earnings used to assess the realizable value of deferred tax assets;

•

Tax interpretations, regulations and legislations in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate;

•

Estimates of the fair value of stock awards, including whether the performance criteria will be met and measurement of the ultimate
payout amount; and

•

Estimates of liabilities associated with the potential and amount of warranty, legal claims and other contingencies.

Segments
Management has determined that DIRTT has one operating segment. The Company’s chief executive officer, who is DIRTT’s chief operating decision
maker, reviews financial information on a consolidated and aggregate basis, together with certain operating metrics principally to make decisions about
how to allocate resources and to measure the Company’s performance.
Foreign currency translation
DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd is a Canadian Company and its functional currency is the Canadian dollar. DIRTT’s wholly owned subsidiary is
domiciled in the United States and its functional currency is the U.S. dollar.
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, other than those held through foreign subsidiaries, are translated into the transacting company’s
functional currency at the year-end exchange rate for monetary items and at the historical exchange rates for non-monetary items. Foreign currency
revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the dates of the related transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses, other
than those arising from the translation of the Company’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries, are included in income.
The accounts of the Company’s U.S. dollar subsidiary is translated into Canadian dollars, and the Financial Statements are translated into U.S. dollars
for financial statement presentation. Assets and liabilities are translated using year-end exchange rates, revenues, expenses, gains and losses are
translated using average monthly exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of the Company’s assets and liabilities
are included in “other comprehensive income (loss)”.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand held at banks and cash equivalents, which are defined as highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.
Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, do not require collateral and do not bear interest. The Company estimates its allowance for
doubtful accounts by evaluating specific accounts where information indicates the Company’s customers may have an inability to meet financial
obligations, such as bankruptcy and significantly aged receivables outstanding.
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Inventory
Inventory is comprised of raw materials and work in progress. The Company does not typically carry a significant amount of finished goods inventory.
Inventory is valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is based on an item’s usability in the
manufacturing of the Company’s products. The Company records an allowance for obsolescence when the net realizable value of inventory items
declines below weighted average cost, net realizable value is determined based on current market prices for inventory less the estimated cost to sell.
Work in progress is valued at an estimate of cost, including attributable overheads, based on stage of completion.
Fixed production overheads are allocated to inventory on the basis of normal capacity of the production facilities. In periods where production levels are
abnormally low, unallocated overheads are separately recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Leases
For the year-ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s leases policy was as follows:
The Company categorizes leases at their inception as either operating or finance leases. Leases where the Company assumes substantially all of the
rewards or ownership and leases where ownership is transferred at the end of the lease term, or by way of a bargain purchase option, are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability, so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in the statement of operations.
For leases categorized as operating, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease element at inception. The arrangement is a
lease if it conveys the right to the Company to control the use of identified property, plant, or equipment for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Operating leases are separately disclosed as operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, with a corresponding lease liability split between
current and long-term components on the balance sheet. Operating leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not included on the balance sheet.
The Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying
asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets
and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.
Prior Accounting Policy
For the year-ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s leases policy was as follows:
The Company categorizes leases at their inception as either operating or capital leases. Leases where the Company assumes substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as capital leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in the statement of operations. Other
leases that qualify as operating leases are not recognized in the Company’s balance sheet.
In certain lease agreements, the Company may receive rent holidays or other incentives. The Company recognizes lease costs on a straight-line basis
once control of the asset is achieved, without regard to deferred payment terms such as rent holidays that defer the commencement date of required
payments. Additionally, incentives received are treated as a reduction of costs over the term of the agreement.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including direct costs, attributable indirect costs and carrying costs, less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred, while renewals and betterments are
capitalized.
Depreciation is charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the Company’s
property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Building
Manufacturing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment
Tooling and prototypes
Computer equipment
Vehicles

25 years
10 years
Over term of lease (1 to 10 years)
5 years
4 years
3 years
3 years

When assets are disposed of or retired, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the respective accounts and any
resulting loss is reflected in operating expenses.
Capitalized software costs
The Company capitalizes costs related to internally developed software during the application development stage when (i) the preliminary project stage
is completed, (ii) management has authorized further funding for the completion of the project, and (iii) it is probable that the project will be completed
and performed as intended. Capitalized costs includes costs of personnel and related expenses for employees and third parties directly attributable to the
projects. Capitalization of these costs ceases once the project is substantially complete and the software is ready for its intended purpose. Costs incurred
for significant upgrades and enhancements are also capitalized. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities,
including training, maintenance and minor modifications or enhancements are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the developed asset, which is generally three to five years. Management evaluates the useful lives of
these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of the
assets.
Software development is considered internal-use as it is used to design and sell the DIRTT products and is not included in the end client’s product.
Revenues received from distribution partners for ICE Software are recognized as revenues as they are considered an element of the product sale. Any
incidental third-party revenues received for the ICE Software are credited against capitalized software costs.
Impairment of long-lived assets
Management evaluates the recoverability of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and capitalized software costs when events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment exists. Events and changes in circumstances considered by the Company in determining whether the
carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to, significant changes in performance relative to expected
operating results, significant changes in the use of the assets, significant negative industry or economic trends, and changes in the Company’s business
strategy. Impairment testing is performed at an asset level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of
the cash flows of other assets and liabilities (an “asset group”). In determining if impairment exists, the Company estimates the undiscounted cash flows
to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset group. If impairment is indicated based on a comparison of the assets’ carrying values
and the undiscounted cash flows, the impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets. Except as disclosed, the Company determined that there were no events or changes in circumstances that potentially indicated that the
Company’s long-lived assets were impaired during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually or whenever changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be
impaired. The Company early adopted ASU 2017-04, which simplified the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating the second step of the
goodwill impairment test.
The carrying value of goodwill, which is not amortized, is assessed for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each year, or more frequently as
economic events dictate. The Company has the option of performing an assessment of certain qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If goodwill is determined to be impaired, the impairment charge that would be
recognized is based on the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill.
Income taxes
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
(loss) income except to the extent it relates to items recognized directly in equity.
Current tax
Current tax expense is based on the results for the year, adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. Current tax is calculated using tax rates
and laws that were enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
The effect of a change in income tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period during which the change
occurs.
When appropriate, the Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to reflect that these tax assets may not be realized. In
determining whether a valuation allowance is appropriate, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
Company’s deferred tax assets will not be realized, based on management’s judgment using available evidence about future events.
At times, tax benefits claims may be challenged by a tax authority. Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not
sustainable upon examination by tax authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to
be realized upon settlement. A liability for “unrecognized tax benefits” is recorded for any tax benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not
meet these recognition and measurement standards.
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Revenue recognition
The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (“ASC 606”) and Subtopic 340-40, Other
Assets and Deferred Costs – Contracts with Customers. Under ASC 606, an entity recognizes revenue in a manner that reflects the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of promised goods or services to customers at transaction price, an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Transaction price is calculated as selling price net of variable
consideration which may include estimates for sales incentives related to current period product revenue. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, after discounts, rebates and sales or income taxes and duties.
Product sales
The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of products to the customer, which typically occurs upon shipment. The Company’s main
performance obligation to customers is the delivery of products in accordance with purchase orders. Each purchase order defines the transaction price
for the products purchased under the arrangement. Distribution partners typically sell DIRTT product to end clients and issue purchase orders to the
Company to manufacture the product. Distribution partners utilize ICE licenses to sell DIRTT products, the ICE licenses sold to distribution partners are
not considered a separate performance obligation as they are not distinct, and ICE license revenue is recognized in conjunction with product sales. The
distribution partner ICE Software revenue is recognized over the license period.
The Company’s standard sales terms are Free On Board (“FOB”) shipping point, which comprise the majority of sales. The Company usually requires a
50% progress payment on receipt of certain orders, excluding certain government orders or in some special contractual situations. Customer deposits
received are recognized as a liability on the balance sheet until revenue recognition criteria is met. At the point of shipment, the customer is required to
pay the balance of the sales price within 30 days. The Company’s sales arrangements do not have any material financing components. In addition, the
Company’s customer arrangements do not produce contract assets that are material to its consolidated financial statements.
The Company provides sales commissions to internal and external sales representatives which are earned in the period in which revenue is recognized.
The Company accounts for product transportation revenue and costs as fulfillment activities and present the associated costs in costs of goods sold in the
period in which the Company sells its product.
Contracts containing multiple performance obligations
The Company offers certain arrangements whereby a customer can purchase products and installation together which are generally capable of being
distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Where multiple performance obligations exist, the Company determines revenue
recognition by (1) identifying the contract with the customer, (2) identifying the performance obligation in the contract, (3) determining the transaction
price, (4) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations based on the relative standalone selling prices, typically based on cost plus a
reasonable margin, and (5) recognizing revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied.
Installation and other services
The Company provides installation and other services for certain customers as a distinct performance obligation. Revenue from installation services is
recognized over time as the service is performed.
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Principal vs Agent Considerations
The Company evaluates the presentation of revenue on a gross vs. net basis based on whether it acts as a principal by controlling the product or service
sales to customers. In certain instances, the Company facilitates contracting of certain sales on behalf of distribution partners. The Company records
these revenues gross when the Company is obligated to fulfill the services and has the risk associated with service delivery. The Company records these
revenues net when the distribution partner has the obligation to fulfill the services and the associated risk of service delivery.
Distribution partner rebates
Rebates to distribution partners (“Partner Rebates”) are accrued for and recognized as a reduction of revenue at the date of the sale to the customer.
Partner Rebates include amounts collected directly by the Company owed to distribution partners in accordance with their distribution partner
agreements, being the difference between the price to the end customer and the distribution partners’ price. Other sales discounts, including early pay
promotions, are deducted immediately from sales invoices.
Contract balances
Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. The Company records an unbilled receivable when revenue is
recognized prior to invoicing. As the Company’s contracts are less than one year in duration, the Company has elected to apply the practical expedients
to expense costs related to costs to obtain contracts and not disclose unfulfilled performance obligations. As deferred revenue and customer deposits are
typically recognized during the year the Company does not account for financing elements.
Warranties
The Company provides a warranty on all products sold to its clients and distribution partner’s clients. Warranties are not sold separately to customers.
Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognized based on an analysis of historical costs for warranty claims relative to current
activity levels and adjusted for factors based on management’s assessment that increase or decrease the provision. Warranty provision is recognized in
cost of goods sold. Warranty claims have historically not been material and do not constitute a separate performance obligation.
Stock-based compensation
The Company follows the fair value-based approach to account for stock options. Compensation expense and an increase in “Additional paid-in capital”
are recognized for stock options over their vesting period based on their estimated fair values on the grant date, as determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model for the majority of stock-options. Certain executive stock options have performance conditions and are valued using a Monte Carlo
model.
Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options is credited to “Share capital” when the option is exercised, and the recorded fair value
of the option is removed from “Additional paid-in capital” and credited to “Share capital”. The Company’s stock options have no rights to vote, receive
dividends, or any other rights as a shareholder of the Company.
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During 2018 and 2019, the Company provided a cash settlement alternative for certain stock options. The fair value on grants attributable to those
awards was reclassified on the balance sheet from shareholders’ equity to other liabilities, and at period end the liability is adjusted to fair value and the
excess of fair value over previously recognized stock-based compensation is expensed. The fair value of the awards at the date of modification was
greater than the grant date fair value of the previously vested equity awards, therefore the additional fair value was treated as an expense at the date of
modification. Increases or decreases in fair value subsequent to the modification date will be recorded in earnings except that the Company shall not
recognize a cumulative expense lower than the grant date fair value of the original equity awards. On October 9, 2019, following its listing on The
Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Company ceased cash-settlement of stock options and the associated liability accounting for stock options and
returned to equity settlement accounting for stock options, as described above.
Stock based compensation expense is also recognized for performance share units (“PSUs”) and deferred share units (“DSUs”) using the fair value
method. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period and the corresponding amount is recorded as a liability on the balance sheet.
Technology and development expenditures
Technology and development expenses are comprised primarily of salaries and benefits associated with the Company’s product and software
development personnel which do not qualify for capitalization. These costs are expensed as incurred and exclude certain information and technology
costs used in operations which are classified as general and administrative costs.
Earnings per share (“EPS”)
Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated using the treasury stock method for determining the dilutive impact of stock options.
Fair value of financial instruments
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements,” requires entities to disclose the fair value of financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recognized and not
recognized on the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for
an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date.
The Company’s fair value analysis is based on the degree to which the fair value is observable and grouped into categories accordingly:
•

Level 1 financial instruments are those which can be derived from quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for similar financial
assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 financial instruments are those which can be derived from inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.,
as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Level 2 financial instruments include current and long-term debt. The carrying amounts
of these instruments approximates fair value due to their respective floating interest rates and limited change in the Company’s credit
rating since issuance.

•

Level 3 financial instruments are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the financial asset or liability which are
not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). The Company does not have any Level 3 financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents; trade and other receivables; trade accounts payable and other liabilities; and customer deposits
approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
67

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
ASU 2016-02
The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” on January 1, 2019 (see Note 5), and elected the modified retrospective method of
adoption, which allowed the Company to apply the standard as of the beginning of the period of adoption, the comparative period presented is not
adjusted and continues to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historical accounting policy. The Company opted to elect the package of
practical expedients to not reassess prior conclusions related to contracts containing leases, lease classification and initial direct costs, and certain other
practical expedients, including the use of hindsight to determine the lease term for existing leases and in assessing impairment of the right-of-use asset,
and the exception for short-term leases.
This new guidance requires lessees to recognize a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
asset for the lease term, with limited exceptions. The accounting applied by a lessor is largely unchanged from that applied under existing U.S. GAAP.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement that
is a Service Contract,” which amends ASC 350-40 Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software. The ASU requires implementation costs
incurred by customers in cloud computing arrangements to be deferred and recognized over the term of the arrangement, if these costs were capitalized
by the customer in a software licensing arrangement. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company does
not believe adoption will have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses in Financial
Instruments,” and issued subsequent amendments to the initial guidance in April 2019 within ASU No. 2019-04, and May 2019 within ASU
No. 2019-05. The ASU amends the guidance on the impairment of financial instruments and adds an impairment model, known as the current expected
credit loss (CECL) model. The CECL model requires an entity to recognize its current estimate of all expected credit losses, rather than incurred losses,
and applies to trade receivables and other receivables. The CECL model is designed to capture expected credit losses through the establishment of an
allowance account, which will be presented as an offset to the amortized cost basis of the related financial asset. The new guidance is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years, and is applied using the modified-retrospective approach.
The Company will adopt the guidance on January 1, 2020. The Company does not believe adoption will have a material impact on its financial
condition or results of operations.
Although there are several other new accounting standards issued or proposed by the FASB, which the Company has adopted or will adopt, as
applicable, the Company does not believe any of these accounting pronouncements has had or will have a material impact on its Financial Statements.
4. IMPAIRMENT
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

DIRTT Timber
Leasehold and other assets

—
—
—
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6,098
2,582
8,680

—
—
—

DIRTT Timber
During 2018, management decided to shift from the early stage development of its DIRTT Timber market to a commercialized approach focused on
large, standalone timber projects and as a pull-through for other DIRTT solutions. Management concluded that this strategy required significantly less
timber capacity than currently exists and therefore took steps to right-size its timber capacity by the end of 2018. Management determined these
decisions to be an indicator of impairment of the assets of the DIRTT Timber solution line. In determining if impairment exists, the Company estimated
the undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset group and determined the undiscounted cash flows were
less than the carrying value of the assets.
To determine the impairment of the DIRTT Timber assets, the net book value of the assets was evaluated against the fair value of the assets. The fair
value of the DIRTT Timber assets reflects current projected sales for timber projects on a standalone basis and the pull-through impact to other DIRTT
solutions. In its evaluation, management determined it was unable to reliably quantify the pull-through impact of timber on other DIRTT solutions. The
equipment related to the timber market was custom built for DIRTT and there is no active market for resale. Therefore, the fair value was determined to
be management’s estimate of scrap value for the specialized assets and an estimated resale value for less specialized assets that cannot be redeployed for
DIRTT’s other solutions. Management estimated the expected resale values based on the current market and on experience of management in the
industry. The fair value of the DIRTT Timber assets was estimated to be $1.1 million. This assessment resulted in an impairment charge of $6.1 million
during 2018.
Leasehold and other assets
At December 31, 2018, the Company recognized a lease exit liability of $0.6 million related to certain contracts (December 31, 2017 – nil). During
2018, management reviewed its facilities used in operations and the corresponding leases in place. The outcome of this review was the consolidation of
the Company’s production in Kelowna, British Columbia, into other plants, and discontinued use of other locations that were not considered necessary
in the Company’s current operations.
These leases were considered impaired as the costs of meeting lease obligations exceeded the economic benefits expected to be received. The lease exit
liability represents the present value of the difference between the minimum future lease payments the Company is obligated to make under the
non-cancellable operating lease contract and any estimated sublease recoveries. This estimate may vary as a result of changes in estimated sublease
recoveries. The liability is estimated to be settled in periods up to and including the year 2023. The provision is net of $1.0 million of estimated
recoveries from subleases.
In relation to the review noted in the paragraph above, certain assets were identified as no longer having future value to the Company. These assets
related to leasehold improvements for locations where activity is being relocated, as well as projects in process that were curtailed. These leasehold and
other assets represented assets with a carrying value of $2.0 million at December 31, 2018, of which the entire amount was expensed as there is no
future value attributable to these assets or market for resale.
At December 31, 2019, the Company reviewed the above impaired assets and determined that there were no indicators of impairment recovery.
5. LEASES
The Company leases office and factory space under various operating leases. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company
uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.
The Company gives consideration to instruments with similar characteristics when calculating its incremental borrowing rate. The Company’s operating
leases have remaining lease terms of 1 year to 9 years. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that the Company will exercise that option.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities was $5.6 million The weighted
average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate at December 31, 2019 were 6 years and 4.8%, respectively.
The following table includes ROU assets included on the balance sheet at December 31, 2019:

Cost

At January 1, 2019
Additions
Depreciation expense
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2019

22,571
1,673
—
534
24,778

ROU Assets
Accumulated
depreciation

—
—
(4,061)
(56)
(4,117)

Net book
value

22,571
1,673
(4,061)
478
20,661

The following table includes lease liabilities included on the balance sheet at December 31, 2019:
At January 1, 2019
Additions
Accretion
Repayment of lease liabilities
Lease cancellation
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2019
Current lease liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities

23,912
1,673
1,092
(5,567)
(196)
489
21,403
5,287
16,116

The following table includes maturities of operating lease liabilities at December 31, 2019:
As at
December 31,
2019

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total
Total lease liability
Difference between undiscounted cash flows and lease liability

5,419
5,420
4,876
3,013
1,426
4,469
24,623
21,403
3,220

During 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement, expected to commence in the second half of 2020, associated with the construction of a new
combined tile and millwork facility in Rock Hill, South Carolina. Rent obligations associated with this lease are estimated at $14.4 million using a
discount rate of 5.2% ($26.6 million undiscounted).
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
As at
December 31,
2019
2018

Trade receivables
Sales tax receivable
Income tax receivable

22,488
402
2,135
25,025
(84)
24,941

Allowance for doubtful accounts

42,582
482
892
43,956
(83)
43,873

Prior to October 1, 2019, the Company had a contract with a trade credit insurance provider, whereby a portion of its trade receivables were insured
(December 31, 2018 – 70%). The trade credit insurance provider determined the coverage amount, if any, on a customer-by-customer basis. Subsequent
to October 1, 2019, DIRTT performed this function internally. The Company usually collects a 50% progress payment on order placements, excluding
government and certain other customers.
The Company provides for balances determined to have risk of collection and had a provision of $0.1 million at both December 31, 2019 and 2018. The
Company had no customers with receivables in excess of 10% of the total accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2019 and had one customer over
this threshold at December 31, 2018 ($4.8 million).
7. INVENTORY
As at
December 31,
2019
2018

Raw material
Allowance for obsolescence
Work in progress

17,339
(512)
739
17,566

17,212
(365)
1,803
18,650

During 2019, the Company experienced periods where it was operating below normal capacity levels. During those periods, overheads included in
inventory were not increased and $2.2 million was recognized directly and separately in cost of sales. Production overheads capitalized in work in
progress were $0.1 million at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: $0.2 million). In 2019, the Company wrote-off $0.4 million of inventory that
was determined to be obsolete and the associated expense was recorded to cost of goods sold.
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Office and
computer
equipment

Factory
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Cost
At December 31, 2017
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2018
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2019

19,556
2,008
(45)
(975)
20,544
1,630
—
569
22,743

43,248
4,140
—
(2,966)
44,422
8,757
(396)
1,857
54,640

36,182
2,486
(174)
(2,521)
35,973
2,315
(298)
1,241
39,231

98,986
8,634
(219)
(6,462)
100,939
12,702
(694)
3,667
116,614

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At December 31, 2017
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Impairments
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2018
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Exchange differences
At December 31, 2019

10,641
1,795
(32)
—
(656)
11,748
1,643
—
521
13,912

20,810
4,032
—
5,890
(1,798)
28,934
2,297
(293)
1,336
32,274

19,022
3,909
(59)
2,233
(1,576)
23,529
4,929
(293)
898
29,063

50,473
9,736
(91)
8,123
(4,030)
64,211
8,869
(586)
2,755
75,249

8,796
8,831

15,488
22,366

12,444
10,168

36,728
41,365

Net book value
At December 31, 2018
At December 31, 2019

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had $8.5 million of assets in progress of completion which were excluded from assets subject to depreciation
(December 31, 2018 – $0.9 million).
9. CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE, NET
For the year ended
December 31,
2019
2018

Cost
As at January 1
Additions
Recovery of software development expenditures
Exchange differences
As at December 31

28,831
2,604
(511)
1,495
32,419

27,195
5,234
(178)
(3,420)
28,831

Accumulated amortization
As at January 1
Amortization expense
Exchange differences
As at December 31
Net book value

20,496
2,637
1,073
24,206
8,213

18,873
3,306
(1,683)
20,496
8,335
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Estimated amortization expense on capitalized software is $2.8 million in 2020, $2.3 million in 2021, $1.6 million in 2022, $0.7 million in 2023, and
$0.2 million in 2024.
10. GOODWILL

As at January 1
Exchange differences
As at December 31

2019

2018

1,353
68
1,421

1,471
(118)
1,353

The Company’s goodwill is assessed at the consolidated company level which represents the Company’s sole operating and reporting segment. The
Company tests its goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of the calendar year. For 2019, and 2018, the Company used the
quantitative approach to perform its annual goodwill impairment test. The Company’s fair value exceeded the carrying value of its net assets and,
accordingly, goodwill was not impaired.
11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
As at
December 31,
2019
2018

Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Wages and commissions payable
Rebates accrued(1)
Taxes payable

(1)

7,620
8,193
3,546
1,025
—
20,384

10,272
8,714
5,544
6,305
448
31,283

In 2019, $14.2 million of rebates were earned and $19.3 million were paid, in 2018 $13.7 million of rebates were earned and $9.2 million were
paid.

Other liabilities
As at
December 31,
2019
2018

Legal provisions(1)
Stock option liability
Deferred share unit liability
Warranty and other provision
Lease exit liability
Lease inducements

(1)

745
—
434
4,008
—
—
5,187

1,995
1,649
116
1,493
820
750
6,823

The Company has provided $0.7 million as the estimated amounts likely payable for various claims against the Company. The amount provided
for is management’s best estimate of the potential payments for amounts claimed.
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12. LONG-TERM DEBT
In July 2019, the Company entered into a C$50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with the Royal Bank of Canada (the “RBC Facility”).
The RBC Facility has a three-year term and can be extended for up to two additional years at the Company’s option. Interest is calculated at the
Canadian or U.S. prime rate with no adjustment, or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 125 basis points. The RBC Facility is subject to a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio of 1.15:1 and a maximum debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization, non-cash stock-based compensation,
plus or minus extraordinary or unusual non-recurring revenue or expenses (“Adjusted EBITDA”) ratio of 3.0 to 1. As at December 31, 2019, the RBC
Facility was undrawn and the Company was in compliance with all covenants of the facility.
The Company had an $18.0 million revolving operating facility which expired on June 30, 2019. Advances of $5.6 million under the revolving
operating facility were subject to interest at the lender’s prime rate minus 0.25% for Canadian dollar advances and the U.S. prime rate minus 0.25% for
U.S. dollar advances and are repayable at any time. As at December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all of its lender’s covenants. During
the first quarter of 2019, the Company repaid the outstanding principal and interest amounts of its long-term debt, totaling $5.6 million.
13. INCOME TAXES
Reconciliation of income taxes
The following reconciles income taxes calculated at the Canadian statutory rate with the actual income tax expense. The Canadian statutory rate includes
federal and provincial income taxes. This rate was used as Canada is the domicile of the parent entity of the Company.

2019

Net income (loss) before tax
Canadian statutory rate
Expected income tax

For the year ended December 31,
2018
2017

(3,377)
26.5%
(895)

8,830
27.0%
2,384

(7,267)
27.0%
(1,962)

Effect on taxes resulting from:
Non-deductible expenses
Non-deductible stock-based compensation
Tax rate impacts
U.S. Federal rate reduction from 35% to 21%
Adjustments related to prior year tax filings
Other
Income tax expense

550
674
999
—
(205)
(104)
1,019

447
1,080
(420)
—
(257)
46
3,280

264
689
487
722
212
46
458

Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Income tax expense

1,064
(45)
1,019

2,178
1,102
3,280
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3,277
(2,819)
458

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
At December 31, 2019
Liabilities
Net

Assets

Operating losses
Research and development expenditures
Property and equipment
Capitalized software and other assets
Other
Net deferred taxes

6,899
353
—
—
2,373
9,625

Assets

Operating losses
Research and development expenditures
Property and equipment
Capitalized software and other assets
Other
Net deferred taxes

—
—
(1,916)
(2,345)
—
(4,261)

6,899
353
(1,916)
(2,345)
2,373
5,364

At December 31, 2018
Liabilities

8,213
389
—
—
1,725
10,327

—
—
(2,408)
(2,283)
(518)
(5,209)

Net

8,213
389
(2,408)
(2,283)
1,207
5,118

Summary of temporary difference movements during the year:
Balance
January 1,
2019

Operating losses
Research and development
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Other
Net deferred taxes

8,213
389
(2,408)
(2,283)
1,207
5,118
Balance
January 1,
2018

Operating losses
Research and development
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Other
Net deferred taxes

9,968
423
(2,397)
(2,301)
904
6,597

Recognized
in Income

(1,772)
(59)
652
425
799
45

Recognized
in Income

(1,015)
—
(273)
(178)
364
(1,102)

Foreign
Exchange

458
23
(160)
(487)
367
201

Foreign
Exchange

(740)
(34)
262
196
(61)
(377)

Balance
December 31,
2019

6,899
353
(1,916)
(2,345)
2,373
5,364
Balance
December 31,
2018

8,213
389
(2,408)
(2,283)
1,207
5,118

The general provincial tax rate in Alberta, Canada was decreased on June 28, 2019 to 11 percent for the second half of 2019, 10 percent for 2020,
9 percent for 2021 and 8 percent thereafter. As a result of the enacted rate change, DIRTT reduced its deferred tax asset by $0.9 million with a
corresponding deferred income tax expense recorded in the second quarter of 2019.
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The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) became law on December 22, 2017. The Act includes significant changes to the U.S. corporate income tax
system, including a federal corporate rate reduction from 35 percent to 21 percent beginning in 2018, changes to capital depreciation, limitations on the
deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation, and the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a
territorial tax system. As a result of the Act, the Company remeasured its U.S. deferred tax liability based upon the new statutory federal rate of
21 percent.
The amount shown on the balance sheet as deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent the net differences between the tax basis and book
carrying values on the Company’s balance sheet at enacted tax rates.
On an annual basis the Company and its subsidiaries file tax returns in Canada and various foreign jurisdictions. In Canada the Company’s federal and
provincial tax returns for the years 2016 to 2018 remain subject to examination by taxation authorities. In the United States, both the federal and state
tax returns filed for the years 2015 to 2018 remain subject to examination by the taxation authorities.
Tax loss carryforwards and other tax pools
The significant components of the Company’s net future income tax deductions in these consolidated financial statements are summarized as follows:

2019
C$

Non-capital loss carry-forwards
Undepreciated capital costs
Share issuance costs
Scientific research and experimental development tax incentives
Total future tax deductions

38,084
23,274
—
1,971
63,329

For the year ended December 31,
2018
2019
C$
$

43,616
25,211
519
1,971
71,317

—
11,992
—
—
11,992

2018
$

—
12,748
—
—
12,748

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-based compensation expense
For the year ended
December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Stock options
PSUs
DSUs
Charge on stock option modification
Stock option fair value adjustment

1,729
58
306
—
1,783
3,876

2,076
44
120
1,181
240
3,661

2,738
—
—
—
—
2,738

Stock Options
The Company has a stock option plan which was approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and by its shareholders at the annual and special
meeting of shareholders held on May 5, 2016, whereby the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance shall not exceed 10% of the issued and
outstanding common shares as at the time of grant of any stock options. Except as noted below, stock options granted under the plan generally have a
term of five years and vest one third every year over a three-year period from the date of grant.
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In 2018, the Company allowed certain vested share options to be surrendered for cash. On the date of modification, the fair value of the liability of
options eligible for cash surrender of $1.2 million was reclassified on the balance sheet from shareholders’ equity to other liabilities and a $0.2 million
was expensed to adjust the liability to the fair value at year-end, and an additional $0.5 million was charged back to additional paid-in capital as, for
certain stock options, the cumulative expense calculated was lower than the grant date fair value of the original equity awards. During 2018,
$1.8 million of stock options were surrendered for cash and at year end the Company had a liability of $1.8 million in other liabilities for the remaining
stock options.
In 2019, $1.8 million was expensed to adjust the liability to fair value, and an additional $0.4 million was charged back to paid-in capital as, for certain
stock options, the cumulative expense calculated was lower that the grant date fair value of the original equity awards. During the year, $3.6 million of
share options were surrendered for cash. On October 9, 2019, following its listing on The Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Company ceased cashsettlement of stock options and the associated liability accounting for stock options.
The following summarizes options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired during the periods:
Number of
options

Weighted average
exercise price C$

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Surrendered for cash
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Surrendered for cash
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2019

5,553,393
3,327,525
(435,792)
(1,365,348)
(203,516)
(17,886)
6,858,376
1,382,311
(21,045)
(1,544,151)
(298,508)
(220,331)
6,156,652

5.31
6.40
4.78
5.17
5.26
6.02
5.88
7.45
4.81
5.02
5.02
6.01
6.49

Exercisable at December 31, 2019

2,454,910

6.05

Included in the 2018 stock option grant above, 1,725,000 stock options were granted to an executive with performance conditions for vesting. For
825,000 share options, vesting is upon an increase in the Company’s share price to C$13.26, and for 900,000 share options, vesting is upon an increase
in the Company’s share price to C$19.89. These options were valued using the Monte Carlo valuation method and determined to have a weighted
average grant fair value of C$2.14 on original grant. These awards were accounted for at the fair value attributable to the vesting period until October 9,
2019 when these were reclassified to equity accounted and were re-valued at a weighted average fair value of C$0.83.
Range of exercise prices outstanding at December 31, 2019:

Range of exercise prices

Options outstanding
Weighted
average
Number
remaining
outstanding
life

C$4.01 – C$5.00
C$5.01 – C$6.00
C$6.01 – C$7.00
C$7.01 – C$8.00
Total

22,537
783,889
4,339,187
1,011,039
6,156,652
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4.89
1.80
3.04
3.86

Weighted
average
exercise
price C$

4.12
5.76
6.32
7.84

Options exercisable
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
Number
remaining
exercise
exercisable
life
price C$

—
783,889
1,671,021
—
2,454,910

1.80
2.00

5.76
6.19

Range of exercise prices outstanding at December 31, 2018:

Range of exercise prices

Options outstanding
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
Number
remaining
exercise
outstanding
life
price C$

Options exercisable
Weighted
average
Number
remaining
exercisable
life

C$2.01 – C$3.00
C$3.01 – C$4.00
C$5.01 – C$6.00
C$6.01 – C$6.47
Total

31,600
804,883
1,162,669
4,859,224
6,858,376

31,600
804,883
746,028
1,540,858
3,123,369

0.4
0.5
2.9
3.7

2.93
3.59
5.76
6.31

Weighted
average
exercise
price C$

0.4
0.5
2.9
1.6

2.93
3.59
5.76
6.10

The stock options granted had a weighted average grant date fair value of C$2.40 (2018 – C$2.13, 2017 – C$2.11) estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions for December 31, 2019 and 2018: a 3.5 year expected life for all periods, 1.6% risk-free interest
rate (2018 – 2.2% and 2017 – 0.8%); a 4.2% expected forfeitures rate (2018- 3.8% and 2017 – 5%); and 39.2% expected volatility (2018 – 42%, 2017 –
45%). These awards were accounted for using the fair value approach as they were accounted for as liabilities until October 9, 2019 when the Company
ceased allowing cash surrenders of stock options. On October 9, 2019, the stock options had a weighted average fair value of C$1.32 estimated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: a 2.9 year expected life, 1.4% risk-free interest rate; and 39.2% expected volatility.
Performance share units
The Company has a PSU Plan for certain employees of the Company. Under the terms of the PSU Plan, PSUs granted vest at the end of a three-year
term. At the end of a three-year term, employees will be awarded cash at the discretion of the Board, calculated based on certain Adjusted EBITDA,
total shareholder return, or revenue growth related performance conditions.
The fair value of the liability and the expense attributable to the vesting period is charged to profit or loss at the grant date. Subsequently, at each
reporting date between grant date and settlement date, the fair value of the liability is remeasured with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss. As at December 31, 2019, there were 223,052 PSUs outstanding (2018 – 85,728) with a fair value of $0.2 million which is included in other long
term liabilities on the balance sheet (2018 – $0.1 million).
Deferred share units
During 2018, the Company initiated a DSU plan for its non-employee directors. Under the terms of the DSU plan, DSUs awarded will vest immediately
and will be settled with cash in the amount equal to the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the date the director resigns from the Board.
The fair value of the liability and the corresponding expense is charged to profit or loss at the grant date. Subsequently, at each reporting date between
grant date and settlement date, the fair value of the liability is remeasured with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the year. There
were 132,597 DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2019 (2018 – 25,861) with a fair value of $0.4 million which is included in other liabilities on the
balance sheet (2018 – $0.1 million).
Dilutive instruments
For the year-ended December 31, 2019, 0.5 million options (2018 – 6.3 million, 2017 – 5.6 million), respectively, were excluded from the diluted
weighted average number of common shares calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive to the net income (loss) per share.
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15. REVENUE
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by performance obligation and timing of revenue recognition. All revenue comes from contracts with
customers. See Note 17 for the disaggregation of revenue by geographic region.
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Product
Transportation
Licenses
Total product revenue
Installation and other services

215,109
23,903
1,647
240,659
7,076
247,735

240,482
24,552
1,400
266,434
8,247
274,681

195,676
19,519
1,021
216,216
10,323
226,539

DIRTT sells its products and services pursuant to fixed-price contracts which generally have a term of one year or less. The transaction price used in
determining the amount of revenue to recognize is based upon agreed contractual terms with the customer and is not subject to variability.
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

At a point in time
Over time

239,012
8,723
247,735

265,034
9,647
274,681

215,195
11,344
226,539

Revenue recognized at a point in time represents the majority of the Company’s sales and revenue is recognized when a customer obtains legal title to
the product, which is when ownership of products is transferred to, or services are delivered to the contract counterparty. Revenue recognized over time
is limited to installation and ongoing maintenance contracts with customers and is recorded as performance obligations are satisfied over the term of the
contract.
Contract Liabilities
For the year ended
December 31,
2019
2018

Customer deposits
Deferred revenue
Contract liabilities

2,436
1,131
3,567

6,746
955
7,701

Contract liabilities primarily relate to deposits received from customers and maintenance revenue from license subscriptions. The balance of contract
liabilities was lower as at December 31, 2019 compared to the prior year period mainly due to lower 2018 fourth quarter orders and revenues. Contract
liabilities as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, totaling $7.4 million and $5.9 million were recognized as revenue during 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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Sales by Industry
The Company periodically reviews the growth or product and transportation revenue by industry vertical market to evaluate the success of industry
specific sales initiatives. The nature of products sold to the various industries is consistent and therefore review is focused on sales performance.
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Commercial
Healthcare
Government
Education
Licenses
Total product and transportation revenue
Installation and other services

158,256
44,197
14,879
21,680
1,647
240,659
7,076
247,735

163,199
60,748
21,477
19,610
1,400
266,434
8,247
274,681

142,494
38,455
18,927
15,319
1,021
216,216
10,323
226,539

16. OPERATING EXPENSES
The Company changed its presentation of 2018 and 2017 operating expenses to separate stock-based compensation from each function to provide
financial statement readers with a better understanding of DIRTT’s operations. The following table provides a reconciliation from last year’s financial
statement presentation to current year presentation:
Previously
stated

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Operations support
Technology and development
Stock-based compensation
Reorganization
Impairments

40,731
30,861
8,960
4,703
—
7,380
8,680
101,315
Previously
stated

For the year ended December 31, 2017

Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Operations support
Technology and development
Stock-based compensation
Reorganization
Impairments

46,355
29,383
8,234
6,875
—
1,143
—
91,990

Adjustment

(104)
(2,139)
(891)
(527)
3,661
—
—
—

Adjustment

(163)
(1,013)
(1,022)
(540)
2,738
—
—
—

Currently
stated

40,627
28,722
8,069
4,176
3,661
7,380
8,680
101,315
Currently
stated

46,192
28,370
7,212
6,335
2,738
1,143
—
91,990

17. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company has one reportable and operating segment and operates in three principal geographic locations, Canada, the United States and
International. Currently, the majority of revenue from international projects are included in the U.S. revenue amount as these projects are sold by
U.S.-based distribution partners and are delivered to international locations. The Company’s revenue from operations from external customers, based on
location of operations, and information about its non-current assets, are detailed below.
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Revenue from external customers
For the year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Canada
U.S.
International

34,085
213,650
—
247,735

41,153
232,035
1,493
274,681

35,035
190,245
1,259
226,539

Non-current assets, excluding deferred tax assets
As at
December 31,
20181
20191

Canada
U.S.
(1)

47,892
29,286
77,178

36,323
15,353
51,676

Amounts include property, plant and equipment, capitalized software, operating lease right-of-use assets, goodwill and other assets.

18. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company reported revenues of $0.9 million from a former director of the Company (2018 and 2019 –
nil). The Company had no accounts receivable balance from this former director for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 as the balance was
fully repaid during 2018. The sales to the former director during 2017 were based on price lists in force and terms that would be available to all
employees. Effective September 10, 2018, this individual ceased to be a director of the Company.
One of the Company’s distribution partners is owned by a former director of the Company. Effective June 26, 2018, this individual ceased to be a
director of the Company. Up until June 26, 2018, the Company reported revenue of $2.9 million and rebates paid of $0.1 million from and to the
distribution partner. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company reported revenue of $5.8 million and rebates of $0.1 million from and to the
distribution partner, respectively.
A director of the Company provided advisory and consulting services to the Company of $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2018.
19. COMMITMENTS
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had outstanding purchase obligations of approximately $6.8 million related to inventory and property, plant and
equipment purchases (December 31, 2018 – $2.7 million). Refer to Note 5 for lease commitments.
20. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On May 9, 2019, the Company commenced an action in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta against two former executives, their company, Falkbuilt
Ltd. (“Falkbuilt”), and other individuals, on the basis of, among other things, a breach of non-compete and non-solicit obligations. Falkbuilt filed a
response and counterclaim alleging, among other things, breach of contractual obligations and defamation, and is seeking damages of approximately
C$2.0 million.
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On November 5, 2019, Falkbuilt commenced an action against the Company in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta alleging that the Company has
misappropriated and misused their alleged proprietary information in furtherance of the Company’s product development. Falkbuilt seeks monetary
relief, including, among other things, damages of approximately C$30.0 million, disgorgement of profits, punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees, and an
interim, interlocutory and permanent injunction of the Company’s use of the alleged proprietary information. The Company believes the Claim is
without merit. The Company intends to defend itself vigorously and to continue to pursue its legal remedies against the former executives.
On December 11, 2019, the Company commenced an action in U.S. District Court of Utah against Falkbuilt, Falk Mountain States, LLC, and two other
individuals. This action seeks to restrain the defendants from misappropriating the Company’s confidential information, trade secrets, business
intelligence and customer information, and using that information to advance Falkbuilt’s U.S. businesses to the detriment of the Company. Falkbuilt
filed a response and counterclaim alleging, among other things, defamation and interference with economic relations, and is seeking damages of
approximately $3.0 million. The Company believes the counterclaim is without merit. The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against these
counterclaims.
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UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Summary of Quarterly Results

Revenue
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin
Adjusted Gross Profit Margin(3)
Net income (loss)(1)(2)
Net income (loss) per share – basic and diluted(1)(2)
Adjusted EBITDA as previously presented(3)(4)
Other Foreign Exchange (Gains) Losses
Adjusted EBITDA(3)
Adjusted EBITDA Margin(3)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Q4 2019

Q3 2019

Q2 2019

Q1 2019
Q4 2018
($ in thousands)

Q3 2018

Q2 2018

Q1 2018

53,198
13,465
25.3%
33.4%
(7,544)
(0.09)
(3,971)
562
(3,409)
(6.4%)

65,385
24,934
38.1%
41.8%
5,802
0.07
8,072
(198)
7,874
12.0%

64,091
24,421
38.1%
42.1%
2,611
0.03
5,605
441
6,046
9.4%

65,061
23,604
36.3%
39.6%
(5,265)
(0.06)
6,986
730
7,716
11.9%

73,913
30,085
40.7%
43.4%
(1,433)
(0.02)
13,062
501
13,563
18.3%

62,480
23,331
37.3%
40.6%
770
0.01
6,612
(629)
5,983
9.6%

63,848
25,974
40.7%
43.7%
3,070
0.04
10,391
(989)
9,402
14.7%

74,440
27,619
37.1%
40.2%
3,143
0.04
12,809
(2,643)
10,166
13.7%

Q1 2019 net income includes impact of $6.4 million stock-based compensation charge and Q2 2019 includes a $1.7 million stock-based
compensation recovery relating primarily to the impact of fair valuing cash settled stock options.
Impairment expenses included in Q3 2018 and Q4 2018 are $6.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively.
See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
Recalculated from prior periods to exclude the impact of foreign currency gains and losses; previously, only foreign currency impacts on debt
revaluation were included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA.
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer carried out an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. Based upon their evaluation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act) were effective.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting; Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
This Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation
report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the quarter ended December 31, 2019, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information.

None.
84

PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our information circular and
proxy statement (“proxy statement”) related to the 2020 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120
days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related
to the 2020 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related
to the 2020 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related
to the 2020 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related
to the 2020 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
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PART IV
Item 15.
(a)

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

The following documents are filed as part of the report:
(1)

Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheet, as at December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)

Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omitted as they are either not required or not applicable or the required information is included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(3)

See Item 15(b)

(b) Exhibits:
Exhibit No.

Exhibit or Financial Statement Schedule

3.1

Restated Articles of Amalgamation of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaw No. 1 of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

4.1

Amended and Restated Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated April 20, 2017, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

4.2*

Description of Registrant’s Securities.

10.1+#

Credit Agreement, dated July 19, 2019, by and among the Royal Bank of Canada, DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., as borrower,
and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc., as guarantor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.2+

Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.3+

Performance Share Unit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File
No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.4+

Deferred Share Unit Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit or Financial Statement Schedule

10.5+

2019 Variable Pay Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File
No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.6+

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Amended and Restated Employee Share Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-234143, filed on October 9, 2019).

10.7+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 8, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Kevin
O’Meara (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed
on September 20, 2019).

10.8+

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 4, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
and Geoffrey Krause (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File
No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.9+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 27, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Jeffrey A.
Calkins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed
on September 20, 2019).

10.10+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 21, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Krista Pell
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.11+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 15, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Joseph
Zirkman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed
on September 20, 2019).

10.12+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated October 21, 2013, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Geoff Gosling
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.13+

Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 15, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Mark Greffen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.14+

Employment Agreement, dated August 31, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. And Jennifer Warawa
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.15+

Retention Bonus Agreement, dated January 17, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Geoff Gosling
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.16*

Settlement Agreement and Release, dated November 5, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Geoff
Gosling.

10.17*

Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement, dated May 30, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Geoff
Gosling.
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10.18+

Indemnity Agreement, dated November 7, 2019, between the Company and Kevin O’Meara, together with a schedule identifying
other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of the other persons identified on the schedule (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on November 14, 2019).

10.19#

Settlement Agreement, dated April 14, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Iron Compass LLC and Iron
Compass GP, LLC, on behalf of and for the account of Iron Compass Partners LP and Iron Compass North Partners LP (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20,
2019).

10.20#

Industrial Lease, dated September 15, 2012, by and between Piret (7303-30th Street SE) Holdings Inc. and DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061,
filed on September 20, 2019).

10.21#

Agreement of Lease, dated November 5, 2013, by and between Dundee Industrial Twofer (GP) Inc. and DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd., as amended by the Lease Amending Agreement, dated October 21, 2016, by and between Dream Industrial Twofer
(GP) Inc. (formerly known as Dundee Industrial Twofer (GP) Inc.) and DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.22#

Lease of Industrial Space, dated February 12, 2015, by and between Hoopp Realty Inc./Les Immeubles Hoopp Inc., by its duly
authorized agent, Triovest Realty Advisors Inc., and DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., as amended by the Amendment of Lease,
dated April 16, 2015, the Lease Modification Agreement, dated October 27, 2015, the Third Amendment of Lease, dated
November 12, 2015, and the Fourth Amendment of Lease, dated January 8, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

10.23#

Lease Agreement, dated March 29, 2011, by and between EastGroup Properties, L.P. and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.24#

Lease, dated July 1, 2015, by and between Majik Ventures, L.L.C. and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc., as amended by the First
Amendment to Lease, dated May 11, 2017, by and between CAM Investment 352 LLC and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.25#

Industrial Lease Agreement, dated October 2, 2008, by and between 141 Knowlton Way, LLC and DIRTT Environmental Solutions,
Inc., as amended by the First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement, dated March 11, 2009, and the Second Amendment to
Industrial Lease Agreement, dated August 23, 2018, by and between SH7-Savannah, LLC and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on
September 20, 2019).

10.26

Lease Agreement, dated October 7, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. and SP Rock Hill Legacy East #1,
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on November 7, 2019).

21.1*

Subsidiaries of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.

23.1*

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers, L.L.P., independent registered public accounting firm.
88

Exhibit No.

Exhibit or Financial Statement Schedule

31.1*

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

32.2**

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
**
+
#

Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Compensatory plan or agreement.
Specific terms in this exhibit (indicated therein by asterisks) have been omitted because such terms are both not material and would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company it publicly disclosed.

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD.
Date: February 25, 2020

By:

/s/ Kevin O’Meara
Name: Kevin O’Meara
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Kevin O’Meara
Kevin O’Meara

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 25, 2020

/s/ Geoffrey D. Krause
Geoffrey D. Krause

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

February 25, 2020

/s/ Steven Parry
Steven Parry

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ Wayne Boulais
Wayne Boulais

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ John (Jack) Elliott
John (Jack) Elliott

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ Ronald Kaplan
Ronald Kaplan

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ Denise Karkkainen
Denise Karkkainen

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ Todd W. Lillibridge
Todd W. Lillibridge

Director

February 25, 2020

/s/ Christine McGinley
Christine McGinley

Director

February 25, 2020
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Exhibit 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES
General
DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (“DIRTT,” the “Company,” “we” or “our”) is incorporated in Alberta, Canada, under the Business
Corporations Act (Alberta) (as amended, the “ABCA”). The rights of DIRTT’s common shares are generally governed by the ABCA and DIRTT’s
articles of amalgamation (our “articles of amalgamation”) and amended and restated by-laws (our “by-laws”).
The following is a description of DIRTT’s common shares, without par value, which are the only securities of DIRTT registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This brief description is based upon our articles of amalgamation, our by-laws, and provisions of
applicable law. The following description does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the full text of our articles of
amalgamation and our by-laws, which are incorporated by reference or filed as exhibits to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and are
incorporated by reference herein, and amendments or restatements of each will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in
future periodic or current reports in accordance with SEC rules.
For more detailed information about the rights of DIRTT’s common shares, you should refer to our articles of amalgamation, our by-laws, and
provisions of applicable law.
Authorized Shares and Capital Structure
Under our articles of amalgamation, we have the authority to issue: (i) an unlimited number of common shares, and (ii) preferred shares issuable
in one or more series having the designation, rights, privileges and conditions attaching to each series of such shares as the directors may fix by
resolutions from time to time before the issuance thereof, and each series to consist of such number of shares as may, before the issuance thereof, be
determined by resolution of the directors, except that the directors may not issue any preferred shares if by doing so the aggregate number of preferred
shares that would then be issued and outstanding would exceed 20% of the aggregate number of common shares then issued and outstanding. Under
Alberta law, there is no franchise tax on our authorized share capital.
Common Shares. The holders of common shares are entitled to notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders (except meetings at which only
holders of a specified class of shares are entitled to vote) and are entitled to one vote per common share. Holders of common shares are not entitled to
cumulative voting rights in respect of the election of directors or otherwise. There are no restrictions on foreign holders voting our common shares.
Holders of common shares are entitled to receive, if, as and when declared by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), such dividends as
may be declared thereon by the Board from time to time; provided that the Company may declare dividends on any class of shares to the exclusion of
any other class without being obliged to declare any dividends on the common shares. In the event of dissolution, subject to the rights, privileges,
restrictions and conditions attaching to any other class of shares of the Company, our holders of common shares are entitled to share equally on a pro
rata basis in the remaining property of the Company.
Our outstanding common shares are fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Shares. We do not have any preferred shares currently outstanding. Pursuant to our articles of amalgamation, our Board has the
authority, without further action by our shareholders, to issue from time to time preferred shares in one or more series. Our Board may by resolution fix
from time to time before the issue thereof the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series of the preferred shares,
including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption rights, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms, and the number of shares
constituting any series or the designation of any series. The issuance of preferred shares could have the effect of restricting dividends on our common
shares, diluting the voting power of our common shares, impairing the liquidation rights of our common shares, or delaying, deterring or preventing a
change in control. Such issuance could have the effect of decreasing the market price of our common shares. Any preferred shares so issued may rank
senior to our common shares with respect to the payment of dividends or amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or both. Pursuant to our
articles of amalgamation, the Board may not issue any preferred shares if by doing so the aggregate number of preferred shares that would then be
issued and outstanding would exceed by 20% of the aggregate number of common shares then issued and outstanding. We currently have no plans to
issue any preferred shares.
Shareholder Approval; Vote on Extraordinary Corporate Transactions. Under the ABCA, certain extraordinary corporate actions, such as a name
change, amalgamations (other than with certain affiliated corporations), continuances to another jurisdiction and sales, leases or exchanges of all, or
substantially all, of the property of a corporation (other than in the ordinary course of business), and other extraordinary corporate actions such as
liquidations, dissolutions and arrangements (if ordered by a court), are required to be approved by a “special resolution” of shareholders.
A “special resolution” is a resolution (i) passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect
of the resolution, or (ii) signed by all shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution. In specified cases, a special resolution to approve an extraordinary
corporate action is required to be approved separately by the holders of a class or series of shares, including in certain cases a class or series of shares
not otherwise carrying voting rights.
Amendments to the Governing Documents. Under the ABCA, amendments to the articles of a corporation generally require approval by special
resolution of shareholders. If the proposed amendment would affect a particular class of shares in certain specified ways, the holders of shares of that
class are entitled to vote separately as a class on the proposed amendment, whether or not the shares otherwise carry the right to vote.
The ABCA allows the directors, by resolution, to make, amend or repeal any by-laws that regulate the business or affairs of the corporation. When
directors make, amend or repeal a by-law, they are required, under the ABCA, to submit the change to shareholders at the next meeting of shareholders.
Shareholders may confirm, reject or amend the by-law, the amendment or the repeal with the approval of a majority of the votes cast by shareholders
who voted on the resolution. If a by-law, or an amendment or a repeal of a by-law, is rejected by the shareholders, or if the directors do not submit a
by-law, or an amendment or a repeal of a by-law, to the shareholders, the by-law, amendment or repeal ceases to be effective and no subsequent
resolution of the directors to make, amend or repeal a by-law having substantially the same purpose or effect is effective until it is confirmed or
confirmed as amended by the shareholders.
Quorum of Shareholders. The ABCA provides that, unless the by-laws provide otherwise, a quorum of shareholders is present at a meeting of
shareholders (irrespective of the number of persons actually present at the meeting) if holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting
are present in person or represented by proxy. The by-laws provide that a quorum is present if there are at least two persons present in person
representing, in the aggregate, not less than 25% of the outstanding shares carrying voting rights at the meeting. In connection with our listing on the
Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”), we have undertaken to present, and will present, at our next annual and special meeting of shareholders to be
held on May 22, 2020, an amendment to our by-laws that would set the quorum threshold at 33-1/3% of our outstanding common shares (represented
either in person or by proxy) for future meetings of shareholders. We have also undertaken to postpone or adjourn the meeting unless at least 33-1/3% of
our outstanding common shares are represented, either in person or by proxy, at the meeting. Should our shareholders not approve the by-law quorum
amendment at this meeting, we will postpone or adjourn any future meetings of shareholders unless at least 33-1/3% of our outstanding common shares
are represented at such meetings and will continue to present the by-law quorum amendment at future meetings of shareholders until passed.

Calling Meetings. The ABCA provides that the directors shall call an annual meeting of shareholders not later than 15 months after the last
preceding annual meeting, and may at any time call a special meeting of shareholders. Pursuant to our articles of amalgamation and our by-laws,
meetings of shareholders may be held inside or outside Alberta at such place as may be determined by the Board from time to time. The registered
holders or beneficial owners (as defined in the ABCA) of not less than 5% of the issued shares of a corporation that carry the right to vote at a meeting
sought to be held may requisition the directors to call a meeting of shareholders for the purposes stated in the requisition, but the beneficial owners of
shares do not thereby acquire the direct right to vote at the meeting that is the subject of the requisition.
Shareholder Consent in Lieu of Meeting. Under the ABCA, a resolution in writing signed by all of the shareholders entitled to vote on that
resolution is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of shareholders.
Director Election, Qualification and Number. The ABCA provides for the election of directors by a plurality vote (i.e., shareholders may either
vote “for” or “withhold” from voting for a director) at an annual meeting of shareholders. The ABCA states that a corporation shall have one or more
directors but a distributing corporation whose shares are held by more than one person shall have not fewer than three directors, at least two of whom
are not officers or employees of the corporation or its affiliates. Additionally, at least one-fourth of the directors must be resident Canadians.
Pursuant to the majority voting policy of the Company (the “Majority Voting Policy”), if any director nominee receives a number of votes
“withheld” from his or her election equal to or greater than votes “for” such election, such nominee should submit his or her offer of resignation to the
lead director or Chair of the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee will review such resignation offer and make a recommendation to the
Board of whether or not to accept it. The Nominating and Governance Committee is expected to recommend acceptance of the resignation offer to the
Board, and the Board is expected to accept such recommendation and resignation offer, except where exceptional circumstances would warrant the
director nominee continuing to serve on the Board. The director nominee will not participate in any deliberations of the Nominating and Governance
Committee or the Board with respect to his or her resignation offer. Within 90 days of receiving the resignation offer, the Board will make a decision
and issue a press release announcing whether it has accepted or rejected the director nominee’s resignation. The resignation will be effective only when
accepted by the Board. The Majority Voting Policy of the Company does not apply to contested elections in which the number of director nominees for
election is greater than the number of director positions on the Board.
Vacancies on Board of Directors. Under the ABCA, a vacancy among the directors created by the removal of a director may be filled at the
meeting of shareholders at which the director is removed. The ABCA also allows a vacancy on the board to be filled by a quorum of directors, except
when the vacancy is a result of an increase in the number or minimum number of directors or a failure to elect the number or minimum number of
directors required by the articles of a corporation. In addition, the ABCA and our articles of amalgamation provide that the directors may, between
annual general meetings, appoint one or more additional directors of the corporation to serve until the next annual general meeting, so long as the
number of additional directors shall not at any time exceed one-third of the number of directors who held office at the expiration of the last annual
meeting of the corporation.
Removal of Directors; Terms of Directors. Under the ABCA, provided that the articles of a corporation do not provide for cumulative voting,
shareholders of the corporation may, by ordinary resolution passed at a special meeting, remove any director or directors from office. If holders of a
class or series of shares have the exclusive right to elect one or more directors, a director elected by them may only be removed by an “ordinary
resolution” at a meeting of the shareholders of that class or series.
An “ordinary resolution” means a resolution (i) passed by a majority of the votes cast by the shareholders who voted in respect of that resolution,
or (ii) signed by all the shareholders entitled to vote on that resolution.
Fiduciary Duty of Directors. Directors of a corporation existing under the ABCA have fiduciary obligations to the corporation. The ABCA
requires directors and officers of an Alberta corporation, in exercising their powers and discharging their duties, to act honestly and in good faith with
a view to the best interests of the corporation and exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable
circumstances.

Indemnification of Officers and Directors. Under the ABCA and pursuant to our by-laws, we will indemnify present and former directors and
officers against all costs, charges and expenses, including any amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment that is reasonably incurred by the
person in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which the person is made a party because he or she acted as a director
or officer of the corporation. In order to qualify for indemnification such directors or officers must:
•

have acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the corporation; and

•

in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding enforced by a monetary penalty, have had reasonable grounds for believing
that his or her conduct was lawful.

We carry liability insurance for our and our subsidiaries’ officers and directors, as permitted by our by-laws and the ABCA.
The ABCA also provides that such persons are entitled to indemnity from the corporation in respect of all costs, charges and expenses reasonably
incurred in connection with the defense of any such proceeding if the person: (i) was substantially successful on the merits in the person’s defense of the
action or proceeding; (ii) otherwise meets the qualifications for indemnity described above; and (iii) is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity.
Dissent or Dissenters’ Appraisal Rights. The ABCA provides that shareholders of a corporation are entitled to exercise dissent rights and be paid
by the corporation the fair value of their shares in connection with specified matters, including, among others:
•

an amendment to the corporation’s articles to add, change or remove any provisions restricting or constraining the issue or transfer of
shares;

•

an amendment to the corporation’s articles to add, change or remove any restrictions on the business or businesses that the corporation
may carry on;

•

an amalgamation with another corporation (other than with certain affiliated corporations);

•

a continuance under the laws of another jurisdiction; and

•

a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all the property of the corporation other than in the ordinary course of business.

However, a shareholder is not entitled to dissent if an amendment to the articles of the corporation is effected by a court order approving a
reorganization or by a court order made in connection with an action for an oppression remedy.
Oppression Remedy. The ABCA provides an oppression remedy that enables a court to make any order, whether interim or final, to rectify matters
that are oppressive or unfairly prejudicial to or that unfairly disregard the interests of any security holder, creditor, director or officer of the corporation
if an application is made to a court by a “complainant.”
A “complainant” with respect to a corporation means any of the following:
•

a present or former registered holder or beneficial owner of a security of the corporation or any of its affiliates;

•

a present or former director or officer of the corporation or of any of its affiliates;

•

a creditor in respect of an application under a derivative action; or

•

any other person who, in the discretion of the court, is a proper person to make the application.

The oppression remedy provides the court with very broad and flexible powers to intervene in corporate affairs to protect shareholders and other
complainants. While conduct that is in breach of fiduciary duties of directors or that is contrary to the legal right of a complainant will normally trigger
the court’s discretion under the oppression remedy, the exercise of that discretion does not depend on a finding of a breach of legal rights.

Derivative Actions. Under the ABCA, a complainant may also apply to the court for permission to bring an action in the name of, and on behalf
of, the corporation or any of its subsidiaries, or to intervene in an existing action to which the corporation or its subsidiary is a party, for the purpose of
prosecuting, defending or discontinuing the action on the corporation’s behalf or on behalf of its subsidiary. Under the ABCA, no action may be brought
and no intervention in an action may be made unless a court is satisfied that:
•

the complainant has given reasonable notice to the directors of the corporation or its subsidiary of the complainant’s intention to apply to
the court if the directors of the corporation or its subsidiary do not bring, diligently prosecute, defend or discontinue the action;

•

the complainant is acting in good faith; and

•

it appears to be in the interests of the corporation or its subsidiary that the action be brought, prosecuted, defended or discontinued.

Under the ABCA, the court in a derivative action may make any order it sees fit, including an order: (i) authorizing the complainant to control the
conduct of the lawsuit, (ii) directing payments to former and present security holders, and (iii) requiring the corporation to pay reasonable legal fees
incurred by the complainant.
Examination of Corporate Records. Under the ABCA, upon payment of a prescribed fee, a person is entitled, during usual business hours, to
examine certain corporate records, such as the securities register and a list of shareholders, and to make copies of or extracts from such documents.
Advance Notice for Shareholder Proposals and Director Nominations. The ABCA permits certain eligible shareholders and beneficial owners of
shares to submit shareholder proposals to the Company, which proposals may be included in the Company’s management information circular and
proxy statement. To be considered for inclusion in the management information circular and proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders of
the Company, any such shareholder proposal under the ABCA must be submitted to the Company at least 90 days before the anniversary date of the last
annual meeting of shareholders.
Additionally, our current by-laws include advance notice provisions. These provisions set deadlines for a certain number of days before a
shareholders’ meeting for a shareholder to notify the Company of his, her or its intention to nominate one or more directors, and explains the
information that must be included with the notice for it to be valid. Such shareholder nominations generally must be provided to the Company (i) in the
case of an annual meeting of shareholders, not less than 30 days before the date of such annual meeting and (ii) in the case of a special meeting of
shareholders, no later than the close of business on the 15th day after the date on which the first public filing or announcement of the date of such special
meeting was made; except that, in either instance, if notice-and-access is used for delivery of proxy related materials and the date on which the first
public filing or announcement of the date of such meeting was made in respect of such meeting is not less than 50 days prior to the date of the applicable
meeting, the notice must be received not less than 40 days before the date of the applicable meeting. The notice must set forth specific information, as
further described in our by-laws. This requirement is in addition to those set forth in the regulations adopted by the SEC under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 or any applicable laws or regulations of Canada, including the ABCA.
Potential Anti-Takeover Effect. Certain of the foregoing provisions of DIRTT’s articles of amalgamation and by-laws, together with the provisions
of the ABCA and the Rights Plan (as defined herein) as summarized below, could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control or the removal of existing management, of deterring potential acquirors from making an offer to DIRTT’s shareholders and of limiting any
opportunity to realize premiums over prevailing market prices for DIRTT’s common shares in connection therewith. This could be the case
notwithstanding that a majority of DIRTT’s shareholders might benefit from such a change in control or offer.
Shareholder Rights Plan
On April 3, 2014, our Board adopted a shareholder rights plan agreement, as amended from time to time (the “Rights Plan”), which was ratified
by our shareholders on May 13, 2014 and May 3, 2017. The Rights Plan is designed to ensure that our shareholders are treated equally and fairly in
connection with any initiative to acquire control of the Company. The Rights Plan is intended to: (i) prevent, to the extent possible, a creeping takeover
of the Company; (ii) provide us with additional time to pursue alternatives to maximize shareholder value in the event an unsolicited takeover bid is
made for all or a portion of our outstanding common shares; and (iii) discourage certain discriminatory and coercive aspects of takeovers. The Rights
Plan is set to expire at the close of our annual meeting of shareholders in 2020, unless ratified by our shareholders at or prior to such meeting.

The Rights Plan provides that one right will be issued by us in respect of each common share. The rights initially attach to and trade with the
common shares and no separate certificates will be issued unless an event triggering the rights occurs. The rights will become exercisable and begin
trading separately from the common shares if a person acquires “beneficial ownership” (as defined in the Rights Plan) of 20% of more of our common
shares without complying with the “Permitted Bid” provisions of the Rights Plan. Should such an acquisition occur or be announced, each right would
then entitle the shareholder to acquire an additional common share at an initial exercise price equal to three times the market price at the applicable time.
Under the Rights Plan, a Permitted Bid is a takeover bid made to all holders of the common shares and which is open for acceptance for not less
than 60 days. If at the end of 60 days at least 50% of the outstanding common shares, other than those owned by the offeror and certain related parties
have been tendered, the offeror may take up and pay for the common shares but must extend the bid for a further 10 days to allow other shareholders to
tender.
The issuance of common shares upon the exercise of the rights is subject to receipt of certain regulatory approvals.
Other Important Ownership and Exchange Controls
There is no limitation imposed by applicable Alberta law or by our articles of amalgamation on the right of a non-resident to hold or vote our
common shares, other than as discussed herein.
Competition Act. Limitations on the ability to acquire and hold our common shares may be imposed by the Competition Act (Canada). This
legislation permits the Commissioner of Competition (the “Commissioner”) to review any acquisition or establishment, directly or indirectly, including
through the acquisition of shares, of control over or of a significant interest in us. This legislation grants the Commissioner jurisdiction, for up to one
year after the acquisition has been substantially completed, to seek a remedial order, including an order to prohibit the acquisition or require divestitures,
from the Canadian Competition Tribunal, which order may be granted where the Competition Tribunal finds that the acquisition substantially prevents
or lessens, or is likely to substantially prevent or lessen, competition.
This legislation also requires any person or persons who intend to acquire more than 20% of our voting shares or, if such person or persons
already own more than 20% of our voting shares prior to the acquisition, more than 50% of voting our shares, to file a notification with the Canadian
Competition Bureau if certain financial thresholds are exceeded. Where a notification is required, unless an exemption is available, the legislation
prohibits completion of the acquisition until the expiration of the applicable statutory waiting period, unless the Commissioner either waives or
terminates such waiting period.
Investment Canada Act. The Investment Canada Act requires each “non-Canadian” (as defined in the Investment Canada Act) that acquires
“control” of a “Canadian business,” where the acquisition of control is not a reviewable transaction, to file a notification in prescribed form with the
Canadian Government (Department of Innovation, Science and Economic Development) not later than 30 days after closing. Subject to certain
exemptions, a transaction that is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act may not be implemented until an application for review has been filed and
the responsible Minister of the federal cabinet has determined that the investment is likely to be of “net benefit to Canada” taking into account certain
factors set out in the Investment Canada Act.
Under the Investment Canada Act, an investment in our common shares by a non-Canadian that is a private sector “trade agreement investor,”
including a United States investor, would be reviewable only if it were an investment to acquire control of our business pursuant to the Investment
Canada Act and the enterprise value of our business (as determined pursuant to the Investment Canada Act) were to be equal to or greater than
C$1.568 billion. An investment in our common shares by a non-Canadian that is a private sector World Trade Organization member country investor
would be reviewable only if the enterprise value of our business (as determined pursuant to the Investment Canada Act) were to be equal to or greater
than C$1.045 billion. Different rules apply if the non-Canadian investor is a “state owned enterprise” (as determined pursuant to the Investment Canada
Act). The Investment Canada Act contains various rules to determine whether an investment is an acquisition of control of a Canadian business. For
example, for purposes of determining whether an investor acquires control of a corporation by acquiring shares, the following general rules apply,
subject to certain exceptions: (i) the acquisition of a majority of the voting shares of a corporation is deemed to be acquisition of control of that
corporation, (ii) the acquisition of less than a majority, but one-third or more, of the voting shares of a corporation is presumed to be acquisition of
control of that corporation unless it can be established that, on the acquisition, the corporation is not controlled in fact by the acquirer through the
ownership of voting shares, and (iii) the acquisition of less than one-third of the voting shares of a corporation is deemed not to be acquisition of control
of that corporation.

Under the Investment Canada Act, the Canadian Government may review on a discretionary basis a much broader range of investments by a
non-Canadian to “acquire, in whole or part, or to establish an entity carrying on all or any part of its operations in Canada” to assess whether such
investment may be injurious to national security. No financial threshold applies to a national security review. The federal government has broad
discretion to determine whether an investor is a non-Canadian and therefore subject to national security review.
There are limited exemptions to a review of an acquisition of our common shares under the Investment Canada Act, subject to the Canadian
Government’s discretion to conduct a national security review, including, generally: the acquisition of our common shares by a person in the ordinary
course of that person’s business as a trader or dealer in securities; and the acquisition of control of our business in connection with the realization of
security granted for a loan or other financial assistance and not for any purpose related to the provisions of the Investment Canada Act.
Other. There is no law, governmental decree or regulation in Alberta that restricts the export or import of capital or that would affect the
remittance of dividends (if any) or other payments by us to non-resident holders of our common shares, other than withholding and other tax
requirements
Canadian Federal Income Tax Matters Applicable to Ownership of Our Common Shares
Holders Resident in the United States
The following is a summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable under the Income Tax Act (Canada)
(together with the regulations thereto, the “Tax Act”) to a beneficial holder of our common shares who, for the purposes of the Tax Act and the CanadaUnited States Income Tax Convention (1980) (the “Treaty”), and at all relevant times, (i) is not and is not deemed to be a resident in Canada, (ii) is a
resident of the United States for the purposes of the Treaty and is entitled to the full benefits thereunder, and (iii) does not use or hold and is not deemed
to use or hold our common shares in connection with a business carried on in Canada (each such holder, a “U.S. Resident Holder”). This summary is not
generally applicable to a U.S. Resident Holder that is: (i) an insurer carrying on an insurance business in Canada and elsewhere, (ii) a “financial
institution,” or (iii) an “authorized foreign bank,” each as defined in the Tax Act. Such U.S. Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors.
This summary is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations applicable to a U.S.
Resident Holder. The income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of our common shares will vary depending on a holder’s
particular status and circumstances, including the country, province or territory in which the holder resides or carries on business. This summary is not
intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any particular holder. No representations are made with respect to the income or
other tax consequences to any particular holder. Holders should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the income and other tax
consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our common shares in their particular circumstances, including the application and effect of the
income and other tax laws of any applicable country, province, state or local tax authority.
This summary does not discuss any non-Canadian income or other tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of common shares.
Holders resident or subject to taxation in a jurisdiction other than Canada should be aware that there may be tax consequences both in Canada and in
such other jurisdiction. Such consequences are not described herein. Holders should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to their particular
circumstances and the tax considerations applicable to them.

Taxation of Dividends
Dividends paid or credited, or deemed to be paid or credited, on our common shares to a U.S. Resident Holder will be subject to Canadian
withholding tax at the rate of 25% of the gross amount of the dividend, subject to reduction under the provisions of the Treaty. Under the Treaty, the rate
of Canadian withholding tax applicable to a U.S. Resident Holder that is the beneficial owner of dividends is generally reduced to 15% of the gross
amount of the dividend, and, if such U.S. Resident Holder is a company that owns at least 10% of our voting shares at the time of the dividend, the rate
of Canadian withholding tax is reduced to 5% of the gross amount of the dividend. The Company will be required to deduct and withhold the required
amount of Canadian withholding tax from any dividends and to remit such amount to the Canada Revenue Agency for the account of the U.S. Resident
Holder. U.S. Resident Holders who may be eligible for a reduced rate of withholding tax on dividends pursuant to the Treaty should consult
with their own tax advisors with respect to taking all appropriate steps in this regard.
Disposition of Common Shares
A U.S. Resident Holder who disposes or is deemed to dispose of a common share will not be subject to tax under the Tax Act on any capital gain
realized on such disposition, unless the common shares constitute “taxable Canadian property,” within the meaning of the Tax Act, of the U.S. Resident
Holder at the time of the disposition and the U.S. Resident Holder is not entitled to relief under the Treaty.
Generally, a common share of a particular U.S. Resident Holder will not be “taxable Canadian property” of such U.S. Resident Holder at any time
at which such common share is listed on a “designated stock exchange,” within the meaning of the Tax Act (which includes the Toronto Stock
Exchange (“TSX”) and Nasdaq), unless, at any time during the 60-month period immediately preceding that time:
•

one or any combination of (i) the U.S. Resident Holder, (ii) persons with whom the U.S. Resident Holder does not deal at arm’s length for
purposes of the Tax Act, and (iii) partnerships in which the U.S. Resident Holder or a person described in (ii) holds a membership interest
directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships, owned 25% or more of the issued shares of any class or series of the share capital
of the Company; and

•

more than 50% of the fair market value of the common shares was derived (directly or indirectly) from one or any combination of: (i) real
or immovable properties situated in Canada, (ii) “Canadian resource properties,” (iii) “timber resource properties,” and (iv) options in
respect of, or interests in, or for civil law rights in, any of the foregoing property whether or not the property exists, all as defined for the
purposes of the Tax Act.

Common shares may also be deemed to be “taxable Canadian property” in certain circumstances as set out in the Tax Act.
In the event that a common share is “taxable Canadian property,” within the meaning of the Tax Act, to a U.S. Resident Holder at the time of
disposition, such U.S. Resident Holder should consult its own tax advisor as to the Canadian federal income tax consequences of the disposition,
including any Canadian tax compliance obligations.
Transfer Agent
The transfer agent and registrar for our common shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, located at 8th Floor, 100 University Ave.,
Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1.
Stock Exchange Listing
Our common shares are listed on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “DRTT” and on the TSX under the ticker symbol “DRT.”
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE
THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made as of November 05, 2019 (“Effective Date”), among:
GEOFF GOSLING, an individual residing in Alberta (“Gosling”)
- and DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD., a corporation subsisting under the laws of Alberta (“DIRTT”)
WHEREAS Gosling is employed by DIRTT;
AND WHEREAS Gosling wishes to resign from his employment effective November 15, 2019 (the “Final Date”);
AND WHEREAS while Gosling and DIRTT do not agree on the compensation that Gosling is entitled to pursuant to the Employment Agreement
(as defined below) or common law, DIRTT has agreed to provide Gosling significant consideration as described herein;
AND WHEREAS a significant portion of the Consideration (as defined below) being paid to Gosling 1s in connection with him entering into the
non-competition, non-solicitation, no-hire and new invention provisions set out in this Agreement;
AND WHEREAS the parties wish to resolve all matters arising out of his resignation of the relationship;
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH THAT in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants and releases made
herein, DIRTT and Gosling hereby agree as follows:
1.

RELEASE
In consideration of the payments made by DIRTT to Gosling in the manner and the amount described in Section 2 of this Agreement, receipt of
which is hereby acknowledged, Gosling does for himself and his heirs, executors, administrators and assigns (collectively, referred to as the
“Executive”), forever release, remise and discharge DIRTT, its respective successors, assigns, subsidiaries, affiliates, trustees, beneficiaries and
all of its officers, directors, executives and agents (together, the “Company”), jointly and severally from any and all actions, causes of actions,
contracts (whether express or implied), claims and demands for damage, loss or injury, suits, debts, sums of money, indemnity, expenses, interest,
costs and claims of any and every kind and nature whatsoever, at law, in equity, pursuant to statute, which against the Company, the Executive
ever had, now has, or can hereafter have by reasons of or existing out of any causes whatsoever existing up to and inclusive of the date of this
Agreement, including but without limiting the generality of the foregoing:
(a)

the Executive Employment Agreement between the Executive and the Company, effective October 21, 2013 (the “Employment
Agreement”);

(b)

the Executive’s employment with the Company;

(c)

the termination thereof;

(d)

any and all claims for damages, salary, wages, termination pay, severance pay, vacation or holiday pay, commissions, bonuses, pension,
stock options, shares, grants, units, expenses, relocation expenses, allowances, short and long-term disability, health, life and dental
benefits, long-term incentive payments, or any other benefits arising out of the Executive’s employment with the Company;

(e)

any and all claims arising under the Company’s Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan dated August 2, 2017 (the “Stock
Option Plan”);

(f)

any and all claims arising under the Company’s Performance Share Unit Plan, effective January 1, 2017 (the “PSU Plan”);

(g)

any and all claims arising under the Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement dated May 10, 2019 as between the Company and the
Executive (the “RSU Agreement”);

(h)

loss of position, status, future opportunity or reputation; and

(i)

any and all claims arising out of or by virtue of the Alberta Human Rights Act, the Workers’ Compensation Act (Alberta) and the
Occupational Health and Safety Act (Alberta).

The Company acknowledges and agrees that this Release does not operate to release it from fulfilling its obligations to the Executive contained in
Section 2 of this Agreement.
2.

CONSIDERATION
Subject to the Executive’s agreement to the terms and conditions in this Agreement, the Company agrees to the following:
(a)

The Company shall pay the Executive all unpaid salary accrued to the Final Date;

(b)

The Executive shall submit all expenses to the Company, within 10 days of the Final Date. Provided the expenses are appropriate, the
expenses will be paid within 14 days of submission;

(c)

The Company shall pay the Executive a lump sum severance payment of $497,500.00 on the Final Date;

(d)

The Company shall provide the Executive 12 consecutive monthly payments in the amount of $26,250.00 per month, totaling
$315,000.00, commencing December 1, 2019 and on the first of each month thereafter (“Salary Continuance”). The Salary Continuance
payments will be made via regular payroll deposits. The Salary Continuance is subject to the Executive’s ongoing compliance with the
terms and conditions set out in this Agreement. If, at any time, the Executive is in breach of this Agreement, the Salary Continuance
payments will immediately cease;

(e)

If a bonus is paid by the Company to senior executives at the Company for 2019, the Executive will receive a pro-rata share of the 2019
bonus payment the Executive would have otherwise been entitled to, but for the termination, based on the number of months of the year
the Executive was employed by the Company in 2019, up to the Final Date. The calculation of the bonus will be determined in the regular
course, and will be paid within 10 days of its determination;
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3.

(f)

The Executive will continue to be eligible to participate in the Company’s health and dental benefits plan, subject to the terms of the
applicable plans for 24 months from the Final Date. Alternatively, at the Company’s sole discretion, the Company may withdraw the
Executive from the health and dental benefits plans and provide a monthly payment made via regular payroll deposits of an amount equal
to the Executive’s monthly replacement cost for such health and dental benefits until the end of the 24 month period;

(g)

The Company will provide the Executivea lump sum payment in the amount of $110,167.50, which is calculated based on the averages of
the bonus provided for the fiscal 2017 year (paid 2018) and the fiscal 2018 year (paid 2019), payable within 10 days of the Final Date;

(h)

The Executive will receive cash payout of his Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) in accordance with the RSU Agreement, with the payment
value to be determined by multiplying 25,000 units by the volume weighted average price of a share of the Company common stock
(“Share”) for the 5 trading days of the Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the Final Date (the “Share Price”), payable within
10 days of the Final Date;

(i)

The Executive will receive accelerated vesting and payout of his Performance Share Units (“PSU”) for 2018 and 2019, payable within 10
days of the Final Date, and in accordance with the PSU Plan. For 2018 and 2019 respectively, 9,773.5 units and 11,162.22 units (in the
aggregate, the “Vested PSU Units”) wou ld be paid out to the Executive, in the amount calculated by multiplying the Vested PSU Units
by the Share Price;

(j)

The Executive may retain his cellphone, two offsite computers and iPads (the “DIRTT Devices”). The Executive shall remove any
confidential or proprietary information of the Company from the DIRTT Devices. The Executive shall work with the Company IT to
ensure that all Company confidential or proprietary information is properly removed;

(k)

The Executive will retain his cell phone number. The Company will provide authorization for the Executive to port the number to his own
private plan;

(l)

The Executive’s options will be treated in accordance with Section 4.4(b) of the Stock Option Plan; and

(m)

All shares that the Executive owns under the Employee Share Purchase Plan effective April 16, 2014 (the “ESS Plan”) shall be dealt with
by the parties in accordance with the ESS Plan (together, the “Consideration”).

NO ADMISSION
The Executive acknowledges that the Consideration paid pursuant to Section 2 above does not constitute any admission of liability by the
Company.
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4.

5.

THE EXECUTIVE’S COVENANTS
(a)

The Executive shall cooperate with the Company in connection with the internal and external messaging regarding his departure;

(b)

The Executive shall provide written resignation from all offices of the Company, effective the Final Date; and

(c)

The Executive will cooperate in any litigation matters involving the Company, as required, including acting, as needed, in an advisory
role, or preparing for or acting as a witness at any application, hearing or trial involving the Company.

INDEMNITY FOR TAXES, ETC.
The Executive agrees that, for the Consideration set out in this Agreement, the Executive will save harmless and indemnify the Company from
and against all claims, charges, taxes or interest, penalties and demands which may be made by the Minister of National Revenue requiring the
Company to pay income tax under the Income Tax Act (Canada), in respect of income tax payable by the Executive in excess of the income tax
withheld pursuant to this Agreement; and in respect of any and all claims, charges, taxes, or penalties and demands which may be made on behalf
of or related to the Employment Insurance Commission or the Canada Pension Commission under the applicable statutes and regulations, with
respect to any amount which may, in the future, be found to be payable by the Company in respect of the payments to the Executive pursuant to
this Agreement. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he is solely responsible for any Employment Insurance overpayments.

6.

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS CODE
The Executive acknowledges receipt of all wages, overtime pay, vacation pay, general holiday pay, and pay in lieu of notice of termination of
employment that the Executive is entitled to by virtue of the Employment Standards Code (Alberta), and the Executive further confirms that there
are no entitlements, overtime pay or wages due and owing to the Executive by the Company.

7.

BENEFITS RELEASE
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Consideration paid, and to be paid pursuant to Section 2 above includes full compensation and
consideration for loss of employment benefits. Other than as provided by Section 2(f) of this Agreement, all of the Executive’s benefits ceased
effective the Final Date. The Executive acknowledges that he has no further claim against the Company for benefits. The Executive fully accepts
sole responsibility to replace those benefits that he wishes to continue and to exercise conversion privileges applicable with respect to benefits. In
the event that the Executive becomes disabled following the expiry of employment benefit coverage, the Executive agrees not to sue the Company
for insurance or other benefits, or for loss of benefits. The Executive hereby releases the Company from any further obligations or liabilities
arising from the Executive’s employment benefits.

8.

NON-DISCLOSURE
The Executive agrees that he will not divulge or disclose directly or indirectly the contents of this Agreement or the terms of settlement relating to
the resignation of the Executive’s employment with the Company to any person, including but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to
employees or former employees of the Company, except his legal and financial advisors, and his spouse, on the condition that they maintain the
confidentiality thereof, or as required by law.
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9.

CONFIDENTIALITY
The Executive recognizes and acknowledges that during his employment with the Company he had access to certain confidential and proprietary
information, the disclosure of which could be harmful to the interests of the Company. The Executive acknowledges that he has taken and will in
future take appropriate precautions to safeguard the confidential information of the Company.
The Executive recognizes and agrees that all written and electronic drawings, manuals, letters, notebooks, reports, records and similar collections
of confidential and proprietary information of the Company (hereinafter collectively called “Documents”), are the property of the Company and
the Executive expressly acknowledges and it is a condition of the payment of the Consideration, that the Executive has delivered all such
Documents and other Company property (excepting only the DIRTT Devices) to the Company. The Executive will provide a statutory declaration,
if requested by the Company, confirming that he has returned all Documents, confidential and proprietary information and Company property to
the Company.
For greater certainty, the obligations in this section are in addition to the fiduciary obligations that the Executive owes to the Company.

10.

NON-COMPETITION
The Executive covenants and agrees that for a period of 24 months following the Final Date, the Executive shall not, anywhere in North America
(the “Territory”), directly or indirectly, in any manner whatsoever in the Territory including, either individually, through an affiliate or
subsidiary or in partnership, jointly or in conjunction with any other person, or as employee, principal, agent, consultant, contractor, director,
shareholder, interest holder, partner, limited partner, lender or in any other manner:
(a)

be engaged in, participate in, operate, be retained by, consult for, or be employed by any undertaking, endeavour, activity or business;

(b)

have any financial or other interest, including an interest by way of royalty or other compensation arrangements, in or in respect of an
undertaking, endeavour, activity or business; or

(c)

advise, manage, lend money to or guarantee the debts or obligations of, or permit the use of the Executive’s name or any part thereof in, an
undertaking which carries on a business,

which is the same as, or substantially similar to, or that competes, or could be expected to compete, with the Business, or any material part thereof.
For greater certainty, Falkbuilt Ltd., or any affiliate or subsidiary of Falkbuilt Ltd., is competitive with the Business.
For the purposes of this Agreement, “Business” means: (i) manufacturing and or sale of custom prefabricated interior wall partitions including the
following which can integrate with the walls solutions: plug’n’play pre-fabricated modular network data cable distribution, plug’n’play
prefabricated electrical power cable distribution, custom prefabricated modular case goods, prefabricated low profile flooring, wall mounted
writing surfaces and writeable wall surfaces; and (ii) the sale of 3D computer aided design configuration software to third parties for design,
ordering and manufacturing.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prevent the Executive from owning not more than 5% of the issued securities of an entity, the
securities of which are listed on a recognized stock exchange or traded in the over-the-counter market in Canada, which is the same as, or
substantially similar to, or that competes, or could be expected to compete, with the Business, or any material part thereof, in the Territory.
For greater certainty, the obligations in this section are in addition to the fiduciary obligations that the Executive owes to the Company.
11.

NON-SOLICITATION
The Executive covenants and agrees that for a period of 24 months after the Final Date, the Executive shall not directly or indirectly, in any
manner whatsoever including, either individually, through an affiliate or subsidiary or in partnership, jointly or in conjunction with any other
person, or as employee, principal, agent, consultant, contractor, director, shareholder, interest holder, partner, limited partner, lender or in any
other manner:
(a)

contact, solicit or interfere with any person reasonably known to be a prospective, current or former client or customer of the Company
(“Customer”) for the purpose of selling to such Customer any products or services which are the same as or substantially similar to, or
competitive with, the products or services sold by the Company at such date or to persuade or attempt to persuade any Customer to change
its relationship or potential relationship with the Company or to restrict, limit, discontinue or cease considering purchasing any products or
services provided by any member of the Company or to reduce the amount of business or potential business which any such Customer has
customarily done with any member of the Company;

(b)

contact, solicit or interfere with any person reasonably known to be a prospective, current or former supplier, distributor, distribution
partner, or joint venture partner of the Company (a “Supplier”) for the purpose of persuading or attempting to persuade any Supplier to
change its relationship with any member of the Company or to restrict, limit or discontinue or to reduce the amount of business which any
such Supplier has customarily done with any member of the Company (or its predecessors);

(c)

solicit or attempt to solicit, or assist or encourage any person to solicit any employee of the Company or any consultant or contractor who
regularly provides services to the Company, or assist or encourage any such employee, consultant or contractor to accept employment or
engagement elsewhere; or

(d)

in any manner, directly or indirectly, knowingly do or cause or permit to be done any acts that would reasonably be expected to impair the
relationship between the Company and its suppliers, customers, employees, regulatory authorities or any other person.

For greater certainty, the obligations in this section are in addition to the fiduciary obligations that the Executive owes to the Company.
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12.

NO HIRE
The Executive covenants and agrees that for a period of 24 months after the Final Date, the Executive shall not directly or indirectly, in any
manner whatsoever including, either individually, through an affiliate or subsidiary or in partnership, jointly or in conjunction with any other
person, or as employee, principal, agent, consultant, contractor, director, shareholder, interest holder, partner, limited partner, lender or in any
other manner, contract with, employ or hire any Company employee, consultant, contractor or distribution partner who currently provides services
to the Company or has provided services to the Company at any time in the 24 month period prior to the Final Date.
For greater certainty, the obligations in this section are in addition to the fiduciary obligations that the Executive owes to the Company.

13.

NEW INVENTIONS
In addition, and not in substitution, to the Executive’s obligations under Section 15 of the Employment Agreement, which obligations shall
survive following the Final Date, the Executive agrees that following the Final Date he shall not, without the express written permission of the
Company:
(a)

personally, or assist a third party to, create, conceive of, or develop, any new Materials (as defined in the Employment Agreement at
Section 15(a)) or any new inventions, technology or other intellectual property in any form derived, directly or indirectly, from the
Materials; and

(b)

personally, or assist a third party to, use, modify, improve, innovate or further develop the Materials or the Company’s intellectual
property in any manner.

Subject to the express exclusion set out below, the Executive further agrees that for a period of 24 months after the Final Date (the “Post
Departure IP Period”) any intellectual property of whatever nature and kind created, conceived or developed by the Executive in any form
during the Post Departure IP Period and all rights, moral rights, title, interest, ownership or claims arising at any time therefrom, including
following the Post Departure IP Period (collectively “New Inventions”), are irrevocably and perpetually assigned throughout the World
exclusively to the Company. New Inventions includes, but is not limited to: (i) all technology, inventions, discoveries, creations, trade secrets,
designs, data, documentation, publications, research, findings, reports, methods, models, diagrams, practices, techniques, programs, concepts,
ideas, plans, strategies, know-how, analyses, works, devices, algorithms, formulae, processes, procedures, specifications, technical information,
interfaces, interactive elements, functionality, treatments, outlines, drawings, engineering, systems, industrial property, databases, developments,
enhancements, modifications, derivative works and improvements (all in all forms and of whatever nature or kind, whether or not patentable or
otherwise protectable in law); (ii) all patents, patent applications, patentable subject matter, and patent disclosures and utility models, together
with all divisions, re-issuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, renewals, improvements, substitutions, reversions, extensions and
re-examinations thereof or thereto of any of the foregoing; (iii) registered trademarks, applied for trademarks, common law trademarks, service
marks, famous names, trade names. Internet domain names, brand names, symbols, logos and slogans and all applications and registrations
thereof; (iv) copyrightable works and copyrights and all applications and registrations thereof; (v) industrial designs, integrated circuits,
topographies, circuits and other similar technologies and all applications and registrations thereof; (vi) software and software tools (including
source code, data and related documentation).
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The Executive agrees to fully cooperate with the Company in order to protect New Inventions and intellectual property rights arising therefrom,
including executing all documents and doing all other acts necessary in order to enable the Company to protect its rights in New Inventions and
the intellectual property rights relating to New Inventions or arising therefrom.
For the purpose of this Agreement and for greater clarity with respect to the scope of the within clause, New Inventions shall not include any
intellectual property of whatever nature and kind created, conceived or developed by the Executive that is unrelated to the Business. The
Company has no rights, title, interest, ownership or claims arising from or in any way related to any intellectual property of whatever nature and
kind created, conceived or developed by the Executive that is unrelated to the Business.
For greater certainty, the obligations in this section are in addition to the fiduciary obligations that the Executive owes to the Company.
14.

NON-DISPARAGING
The Executive understands and agrees that he will not, at any time, denigrate, through adverse or disparaging communication, written or oral,
whether true or not, the operations or business of the Company or its current or former employees, officers or directors.

15.

REASONABLENESS
The Executive agrees that all restrictions in Sections 8 to 14 of this Agreement are necessary and fundamental to the protection of the Company
and are reasonable and valid.

16.

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
The Executive acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach by the Executive of any of his obligations in Sections 8 to 14 will result in the
Company suffering irreparable harm, which cannot be calculated or fully or adequately compensated by recovery of damages alone. Accordingly,
the Executive agrees that, in addition to any other relief to which the Company may become entitled, the Company shall be entitled to interim and
permanent injunctive relief, specific performance and other equitable remedies.

17.

PAYMENTS CEASE
In addition to all other remedies the Company may have, if the Executive breaches any of Sections 4 or 8 to 14 of this Agreement or Sections 14
to 16 of the Employment Agreement in any material respect, all payments and benefits to the Executive under Section 2 of this Agreement
immediately cease and all incentive and security based compensation is forfeited.

18.

FURTHER CLAIMS
The Executive agrees not to make claim or take proceedings against any other person or corporation that might claim contribution or indemnity
under the provisions of any statute or otherwise against the Company.
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19.

COMPLETE AGREEMENT
It is understood by the Company and the Executive that this Agreement and Sections 14 to 17 of the Employment Agreement contain the entire
agreement between the parties hereto and that the terms of this Agreement are contractual and not a mere recital.

20.

UNDERSTANDING
The Executive hereby declares that the Executive has had independent legal advice from Robert Rakochey of Field Law LLP with respect to the
matters addressed in this Agreement and the terms of settlement which have been agreed to by the Executive and the Company and the Executive
fully understands them. The Executive hereby voluntarily accepts the said terms for the purpose of making full and final compromise, adjustment
and settlement of all claims as aforesaid.

21.

SEVERABILITY
In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision.

22.

GOVERNING LAW
The Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta.

23.

PAYMENT & CURRENCY
All payments described in this Agreement are in Canadian dollars and will be less withholdings.

24.

EXECUTION
This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement, and a
facsimile signature or a digitally scanned signature shall be deemed an original signature for purposes of execution.
[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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DATED at Calgary, Alberta as of the Effective Date.
DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD.
/s/ Kevin O’Meara
Name: Kevin O’Meara
Title: Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Darcie Gosling
Witness (Signature)

/s/ Geoff Gosling
GEOFF GOSLING

Darcie Gosling
Witness (Print)
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
TO:

GEOFF GOSLING, a resident of Calgary in the Province of Alberta (the “Participant”), in his capacity as an employee of the Corporation

FROM:

DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD., a body corporate amalgamated under the laws of the Province of Alberta (the
“Corporation”)

DATE:

May 30, 2019

1.

2.

Purpose. The purpose of this Award Agreement is:
(a)

to provide a financial incentive for the Participant to devote his best efforts to the long-term success of the Corporation, and to align such
incentive with the interests of the shareholders of the Corporation; and

(b)

to encourage retention of employees of the Corporation by ensuring that the Participant’s total compensation, including salary, bonus and
other compensation is at competitive levels.

Definitions. In this Award Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
(a)

“Beneficiary” means, subject to applicable law, an individual who has been designated by the Participant, in such form and manner as the
Board (as defined below) or Committee (as defined below), as the case may be, may determine, to receive benefits payable under this
Award Agreement upon the death of the Participant, or, where no such designation is validly in effect at the time of death, or where the
designated individual does not survive the Participant, the Participant’s legal representative;

(b)

“Board” means the board of directors of the Corporation as constituted from time to time;

(c)

“Just Cause” has the meaning set out in section 1(m) of the Employment Agreement;

(d)

“Cessation Date” means the last day of active employment of the Participant with the Corporation or an affiliate, as the case may be,
regardless of the reason for the termination of employment or whether it was lawful, and does not include any period of statutory,
contractual or reasonable notice of termination of employment or any period of salary continuance or deemed employment. A transfer of
employment or services between the Corporation and an affiliate or between affiliates of the Corporation shall not be considered an
interruption or termination of the employment of the Participant for any purpose of this Award Agreement;

(e)

“Committee” means the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board, or such other persons as are designated by the
Board; provided, however, that if no Human Resources and Compensation Committee is in existence at any particular time and the Board
has not appointed another committee of the Board to administer this Award Agreement, all references in this Award Agreement to
“Committee” shall at such time be in reference to the Board;

(f)

“Employment Agreement” means the Executive Employment Agreement between the Participant and the Corporation, dated October 21,
2013.

(g)

“Fair Market Value” means (i) the volume weighted average price of Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the five (5) trading days
on which the Shares were trading occurring immediately prior to the applicable date; or (ii) if the Shares are listed on more than one
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stock exchange, the volume weighted average price of a Share for the five trading days on which the Shares were trading on the stock
exchange with the higher average trading volume over the twenty (20) trading days immediately prior to the applicable date; or (iii) if the
Shares are not then traded on any stock exchange, means the fair market value per Share as determined by the Committee of the Board in
its discretion;

3.

(h)

“Non-Competition Provision” has the meaning set out in Section 8(a);

(i)

“Payout” means with respect to each RSU which becomes vested, a lump sum cash payment equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share
determined at the Vesting Date or such other date specified in this Award Agreement (less any applicable withholding taxes);

(j)

“RSU” means a restricted share unit credited by means of a bookkeeping entry on the books of the Corporation in favor of the Participant
which represents a future conditional right of the Participant to receive a Payout for each RSU which vests pursuant to the terms of this
Award Agreement at the time, in the manner and subject to the terms set forth in this Award Agreement;

(k)

“Settlement Date” has the meaning set out in Section 6;

(l)

“Shares” means common shares in the Corporation and any other shares that may be added thereto or substituted therefore as a result of
amendments to the articles of the Corporation, reorganization or otherwise, including any rights that form a part of the common shares or
substituted shares; and

(m)

“Vesting Date” means January 15, 2020.

Construction and Interpretation.
(a)

In this Award Agreement, all references to the masculine include the feminine; references to the singular shall include the plural and vice
versa, as the context shall require.

(b)

The headings of all articles, sections and paragraphs in this Award Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not
affect the construction or interpretation of this Award Agreement. References to “Section” or “Paragraph” means a section or paragraph
contained in this Award Agreement unless expressly stated otherwise.

(c)

In this Award Agreement, “including” and “includes” mean including or includes, as the case may be, without limitation. The words
“hereto”, “herein”, “hereby”, “hereunder”, “hereof” and similar expressions mean or refer to this Award Agreement as a whole and not to
any particular article, section, paragraph or other part of this Award Agreement.

(d)

Whenever the Board or, where applicable, the Committee or any sub-delegate of the Committee is to exercise discretion in the
administration of the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, the term “discretion” means the sole and absolute discretion of the
Board, the Committee or sub-delegate of the Committee, as the case may be.
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4.

Grant of RSUs and Vesting Conditions. The Corporation hereby grants to the Participant, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Award Agreement, the following number of RSUs:
RSUs
Grant Date

May 30, 2019

Number of RSUs Granted

25,000

Vesting Date

100% of RSUs: January 15, 2020.

The RSUs granted hereunder are granted as a bonus for the services of the Participant rendered in 2019 and are in addition to, and not in substitution for
or in lieu of, ordinary employment income of the Participant.
5.

Dividend-Equivalent RSUs. On any payment date for dividends (other than stock dividends) paid on Shares, the Participant shall be credited with
dividend-equivalents in respect of RSUs credited to the Participant’s account as of the record date for payment of dividends. Such dividend
equivalents shall be expressed as additional RSUs (including fractional RSUs) based on the Fair Market Value as of the date on which the
dividends on the Shares are paid, and shall be subject to the same vesting and payout conditions as the underlying RSUs in respect of which they
were credited.

6.

Payout and Settlement. Subject to Section 7, the Participant shall have the right to receive a Payout in respect of the RSUs on the Vesting Date.
Upon the Vesting Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the RSUs will be redeemed (such day being the “Settlement Date”). On the
Settlement Date, the Corporation shall pay to the Participant (or, if deceased, his Beneficiary) the amount of the Payout for such RSUs (less
applicable withholdings).
For greater certainty, all amounts in respect of the RSUs shall be paid no later than December 15, 2022.

7.

8.

Termination of Relationship as Employee. Unless otherwise determined by the Board or unless otherwise expressly set forth in this Award
Agreement, the following provisions shall apply in the event that the Participant ceases to be an employee of the Corporation:
(a)

Termination of Employment. In the event the Participant’s employment terminates for any reason other than a termination with Just Cause,
the Participant’s unvested RSUs shall vest immediately prior to the Participant’s Cessation Date

(b)

Termination with Just Cause. In the event the Participant’s employment is terminated by the Corporation with Just Cause, all RSUs shall
be immediately forfeited and cancelled effective on the Cessation Date.

Non-Competition.
(a)

The Participant acknowledges and agrees that as a condition to receiving the treatment set forth in Section 7(a), the Participant shall adhere
to the non-competition provision as set out in section 12 of the Employment Agreement (the “Non-Competition Provision”).

(b)

If the Participant breaches the Non-Competition Provision, the Participant shall immediately forfeit all unvested RSUs or repay to the
Corporation any Payout in respect of RSUs. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Corporation may set-off amounts otherwise
payable by the Corporation to the Participant against the amount of any Payout if the Participant breaches the Non-Competition Provision.
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9.

No Shareholder Rights. Under no circumstances shall RSUs be considered Shares of the Corporation, nor shall they entitle the Participant to
exercise voting rights or any other rights attaching to the ownership of Shares or other securities of the Corporation, including, without limitation,
voting rights, dividend rights or rights on liquidation, nor shall the Participant be considered the owner of Shares by virtue of the award of RSUs.

10.

Effect of Certain Changes.
In the event:
(a)

of any change in the Shares through subdivision, split, consolidation, reclassification, amalgamation, merger or otherwise; or

(b)

that, as a result of any recapitalization, merger, consolidation or other transaction, the Shares are converted into or exchangeable for any
other securities,

or any other similar changes affecting the Shares, then, in any such case, the Board may make such adjustments to this Award Agreement as may
be appropriate in the circumstances to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights granted to the Participant hereunder.
11.

General Conditions of Payout. Upon receipt of a Payout pursuant to this Award Agreement, the entitlement of the Participant to receive any and
all amounts in respect of the vested RSUs to which such Payout relates shall be fully discharged and satisfied and all such vested RSUs shall
thereupon be cancelled. No interest shall accrue to, or be credited to, the Participant on any amount payable under this Award Agreement.

12.

Withholding Taxes. It is the responsibility of the Participant to complete and file any tax returns which may be required under Canadian, U.S. or
other applicable jurisdiction’s tax laws within the periods specified in those laws as a result of the Participant’s award under this Award
Agreement. Neither the Corporation or any of its affiliates shall be held responsible for any tax consequences to the Participant as a result of the
Eligible Participant’s award under this Award Agreement. The Corporation or the affiliate of the Corporation, as applicable, shall have the right to
withhold from the Payout such amount as is necessary to ensure that the Corporation or an affiliate will be able to comply with the applicable
provisions of any federal, state, provincial or other law relating to the withholding of tax or other required deductions.

13.

No Right of Continued Employment. Nothing in this Award Agreement shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the employ of
the Corporation or any of its affiliates or affect in any way the right of the Corporation or any of its affiliates to terminate his employment at any
time; nor shall anything in this Award Agreement be deemed or construed to constitute an agreement, or any expression of intent, on the part of
the Corporation or any of its affiliates to extend the employment of the Participant beyond the time that he would normally retire pursuant to the
provisions of any present or future retirement plan of the Corporation or any of its affiliates, or beyond the time at which he would otherwise retire
pursuant to the provisions of any employment agreement with the Corporation or any of its affiliates.

14.

No Right of Transfer. Except as otherwise provided in this Award Agreement, no assignment, sale, transfer, pledge, or charge of a RSU, whether
voluntary, involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, vests any interest or right in such RSU whatsoever in any assignee or transferee and,
immediately upon any assignment, sale, transfer, pledge or charge or attempt to assign, sell, transfer, pledge or charge, such RSU shall terminate
and be of no further force or effect.
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15.

Compliance with Legal Requirements. The Corporation shall not be obliged to settle any RSUs if such settlement would violate any law or
regulation or any rule of any government authority or stock exchange.

16.

Other Employee Benefits. The amount of any compensation deemed to be received by the Participant as a result of the redemption of any vested
RSU will not constitute compensation with respect to which any other employee benefits of the Participant are determined, including, without
limitation, benefits under any bonus, pension, profit-sharing, insurance or salary continuation plan, except as otherwise specifically determined by
the Board.

17.

Currency. All payments and benefits under this Award Agreement shall be determined and be payable in the lawful currency of Canada.

18.

Expenses. All expenses in connection with this Award Agreement shall be borne by the Corporation.

19.

Governing Law. This Award Agreement shall be governed by, construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta.

20.

Severability. If any provision of this Award Agreement or part hereof is determined to be void or unenforceable in whole or in part, such
determination shall not affect the validity or enforcement of any other provision of this Award Agreement.

21.

Entire Agreement. This Award Agreement and the Employment Agreement constitute the whole and entire agreement between the parties in
connection with the subject matter hereof, and cancels and supersedes any prior agreements, undertakings, declarations, commitments or
representations, whether written or oral, in respect thereof, and there are no express or implied terms, conditions, agreements, undertakings,
declarations, commitments, representations or warranties or other duties whatsoever between the parties not expressly provided for in this Award
Agreement. To the extent there is an inconsistency between this Award Agreement and the Employment Agreement in connection with the subject
matter hereof, this Award Agreement shall govern.
[Signature Page to the Award Agreement Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Award Agreement as of the date first above written.
DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD.
By: /s/ Joseph Zirkman
Name: Joseph Zirkman
Title: V.P. – General Counsel
I agree to the terms and conditions set out herein and confirm and acknowledge that I have not been induced to enter into this Award Agreement or
acquire any RSUs by expectation of employment or continued employment with the Corporation or any of its affiliates.
SIGNED AND DELIVERED
In the presence of:

/s/ Nandini Somayaji
Witness

)
)
)
)
)
)

/s/ Geoff Gosling
GEOFF GOSLING
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Exhibit 21.1

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
List of Subsidiaries
Name

Jurisdiction of Organization

DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc.

Colorado

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-234143) of DIRTT Environmental Solutions
Ltd. (the Registrant) of our report dated February 25, 2020 relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Alberta, Canada
February 25, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(a) OR RULE 15D-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Kevin O’Meara, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (the “registrant”) for the period ended December 31,
2019;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 25, 2020

By:

/s/ Kevin O’Meara
Kevin O’Meara
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(a) OR RULE 15D-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Geoffrey D. Krause, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (the “registrant”) for the period ended December 31,
2019;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 25, 2020

By:

/s/ Geoffrey D. Krause
Geoffrey D. Krause
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin O’Meara, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: February 25, 2020

By:

/s/ Kevin O’Meara
Kevin O’Meara
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Geoffrey D. Krause, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: February 25, 2020

By:

/s/ Geoffrey D. Krause
Geoffrey D. Krause
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

